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Remembering Mark Sebba
1948-2018

Just days after this report and the audited accounts 
contained within it were signed off by our Group Board, 
we were saddened to hear of the untimely death of our 
Chair, Mark Sebba.

Mark joined Hyde as Chair in 2014 and in that time was 
a passionate advocate for Hyde and social housing in 
general. He brought with him a wealth of experience 
from the private sector, including 11 years as Chief 
Executive of Net-a-Porter, as well as being a trustee of 
the Victoria and Albert Museum and was Chair of the 
V&A Enterprise Board.

His thoughtful insight and customer-focused approach 
has played a key role in helping to transform Hyde over 
the past three and a half years into a modern housing 
association, which is set in good stead to become a 
sector leading association. 

The following report and accounts are a record of 
Mark’s last full financial year as Chair of Hyde.

Our thoughts are with his family. He will be greatly 
missed.

Alan Collett (Chair from 9 August 2018) 
and Elaine Bailey
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Highlights 2017/18
Who we are

Fast facts

Customer 
satisfaction 
with repairs

We house 

11 new households  
every day

Operating surplus of

£161m  
(pre-derivatives) 

Staff engagement

Net operating margin of 

31.4%  
(excluding fire safety costs)

Average of four days training 
per staff member

Customer satisfaction 
with our in-house 
maintenance provider, 
Hyde Property Services

1,285 homes completed and 

4,643 more being built

�+ �+
�

83% 81%

86%+

The Hyde Group (the Group) is one of the UK’s leading 
and award-winning providers of affordable housing in 
London, the south east of England and neighbouring 
areas. It is primarily a group of ‘not-for-profit’ 
organisations (headed by Hyde Housing Association 
Limited (HHA)), whose main business is the provision 
and management of good quality and secure 
accommodation, at prices people can afford to buy  
or rent on long tenancies.

HHA was established in 1967, to provide homes for 
those left behind by the housing market. The Group  
now puts nearly 50,000 roofs over the heads of more 
than 105,000 people who might not otherwise have  
one, as well as providing them with easy to use  
landlord services.

The housing crisis in the south east of England is a 
huge and longstanding problem that we cannot solve 
on our own. That is why we are committed to working 
in partnership with others, to ensure we build more than 
our share of homes.

We generate surplus from our core rental business, 
active asset management and by building homes to 
sell on the open market. This allows us to deliver a key 
social purpose: to provide more homes for sub-market 
rent or shared ownership. Combined with our focus 
on customer services and engagement, we seek to 
continue to improve the life chances of residents and 
create tangible social value.

Deliver easy to use  
landlord services

Maximise financial 
capacity

Have a culture of 
achievement

Increase homes in 
management

A Hyde home in north London
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Doing more than our fair share
One of our key objectives is to build more than our fair 
share of affordable homes in the south east, including 
London. We must ensure the homes we build are truly 
affordable, giving local people the chance to take their 
first step on the property ladder in a number of ways. 
We aspire to offer homes with rents linked to incomes, 
not market rents.

Sticking to the way we have always done things is not 
going to be enough. We need to think more creatively 
about the ways we finance, build and manage homes 
and how we ensure we provide good landlord services.

Fortunately, we are possibly in the best financial 
position in our 50 year history, having completed 
our strategy of creating a modern, flexible financial 
framework, following our treasury refinancing in 
November 2017. This provides us with greater resilience 
against any future economic or property market 
downturn.

Our development programme, with a target of building 
1,500 homes a year for the next five years, is fully-
funded and we are confident we can withstand tough 
economic conditions in the future. 

Initial findings of our social value research indicate the 
positive impact on society of building new homes can 
be significant, which is why our build programme is a 
key element of both our short and long term strategy.

However, a lack of available development land means 
it is becoming increasingly difficult to build homes 
where they are most needed. As brownfield sites dry 
up, we may have to accept that, in some cases, building 
on parts of the Green Belt is a necessity. We may also 
have to re-assess housing density and whether smaller 
affordable homes are suitable for those taking their first 
step on the housing ladder.

 
 
 
 

Working collaboratively
Government must work with housebuilders and local 
authorities to accelerate the planning process, to help 
deliver more affordable homes. We recognise there 
has been a political shift in both central and local 
government to deliver more affordable homes and we 
are adapting to accommodate this change. 

What is clear, is that now is the time for greater 
collaboration between housing associations and the 
public and private sectors to tackle the barriers to 
making land (such as that owned by Homes England, 
Transport for London, Network Rail and the NHS) 
available for affordable homes.

Over the past twelve months, we have finalised a 
number of innovative partnerships with Brighton and 
Hove City Council, with a listed housebuilder in Harrow 
and with a private housebuilder in Kent and Homes 
England. Between them, the projects will deliver many 
thousands of homes over the next ten years.

Now is the time for housing associations to work 
together, not to compete, to help local authorities 
develop their available land for much-needed homes. 
That is why we have joined forces with three other 
housing associations to create Evera Homes, to help the 
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Combined Authority 
to deliver thousands of homes over the coming years.

Achieving our aims will not be easy and we cannot do 
it alone. But by continuing to work in partnership with 
others we will move closer to achieving our vision:  
a great home for everyone.

It has been a little over a year since the Grenfell fire and the public inquiry is now examining 
every aspect of the cause, spread and response to the fire. There are many lessons to be 
learned; our residents need to feel safe and to be safe.

Our response to this is our highest priority. We are undertaking an extensive fire safety 
programme which covers all aspects of fire safety and includes removing the flammable 
cladding to six of our tower blocks and working with freeholders where we have a leasehold 
interest in ACM-covered blocks. 

Supporting residents, improving life chances
Hyde’s social purpose is to provide a home for those 
left behind by the market and we want to do that for 
as many people as possible. We aim to provide easy 
to use services and want to do this as efficiently and 
effectively as we can, with the money saved used to 
build more homes so that we can help more people. 
Last year we completed 1,285 new homes for those  
who might not otherwise have one. 

We are ambitious for our resident engagement and have 
high aspirations for the services we deliver to them. 
Easy to use services enable our residents to get on with 
their life, without having to worry too much about the 
way they deal with their landlord. We want to provide 
services that are fit for our residents now and for those 
we house in the future, allowing them to do business 
with us, at a time and in a way that suits them.

The last year has laid the foundations for such resident 
engagement. We have increased and improved our 
digital channels to enable customers to transact with 
us in new ways. The year to come will see us build on 
this work, further increasing the opportunities for our 
customers to contact us digitally. We are also planning 
a significant financial investment in technology and 
operational business streamlining, to improve our 
internal ways of working. In short, we seek to deliver 
more contact channels for residents, provided at a lower 
cost but with ever-improving service levels.

A positive relationship with a landlord provides people 
with a strong basis to improve life chances and a 
social tenancy helps residents thrive in a number of 
ways, extending beyond just a decent affordable home. 
By building safe and sustainable communities, we 

contribute to increased employment levels, reduced 
mental and physical health conditions, improved family 
relationships and increased engagement with social 
services. Together, these improve life chances for 
everyone. Society as a whole benefits, as the burden on 
resources (emergency services, healthcare and local 
authorities) is reduced, and the economy grows through 
higher educational attainment and employment. We 
recently commissioned research into quantifying the 
social value of a tenancy, so that we can better measure 
our social, economical and environmental contribution. 
We hope to complete this research in 2018. 

Smarter asset management
We are taking a more strategic approach to managing 
our assets. As a responsible landlord, we review our 
property portfolio regularly, to ensure that it continues 
to best meet residents’ needs. So, when a property 
becomes empty, we will ensure it is of the standard 
we and our residents expect from a modern home. For 
example, we will check that it is economical to heat; that 
it meets modern energy efficiency expectations and that 
it is cost-effective to repair and keep in good condition. 
We look to sell homes not meeting these criteria, using 
the money to re-invest in building affordable homes that 
are more suitable, more efficient and easier to maintain 
– for both us and our residents.

Introduction from  
the Chair and Chief Executive

Mark Sebba 
Hyde Group Board Chair

Elaine Bailey 
Group Chief Executive 
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Strategic report

New Hyde homes, Darent Place, Dartford
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Our vision

A great home for everyone

Our values

We’re Do-ers
We back up our intention with action. 

We’re proactive, take responsibility and 
make it easy for others to do so too.

We’re Professional
We aspire to be a brilliantly run social 

business, so we are not afraid to take tough 
decisions, we always do what needs to be 
done, and we think carefully about every 

penny we spend.

We’re Open 
To dealing with the real issue, to new 

ways of solving problems, to other 
points of view, and to best practice 

from others.

We’re Ambitious
For what our organisation and 

individuals can achieve, and for what 
others can do for themselves. 

Our mission

To provide more people with a  
roof over their head so that they 

can make a home

We will

 • Build and maintain more than our share of the financially-accessible homes that 
London and the south east need

 • Provide simple, easy to use landlord services for all our customers

 • Proudly generate profit to reinvest in tackling the housing crisis (no money; no mission)

 • Work together with passionate individuals and organisations who share our vision

 • Inspire each other across the organisation with our successes

 • Address financial constraints with creative thinking and imagination.

1 2 3

456

7

Firstly, we need to 
define our mission 

and values to set an 
appropriate decision 

framework

See opposite page for 
our mission and values.

See page 22 for details 
of our objectives for 

2017-20.

See page 16 for the challenges 
we face to 2030 and our 

response to these challenges 
on page 18.

Read about how we 
manage our capitals 
through our business 

model on pages 22-27.

See our organisational 
structure on page 60.

Read more about how 
we have performed 

against our corporate 
strategy this year 

from page 28.

Read more from page 56.

To deliver strategic 
objectives

With a robust  
business model

We measure our 
progress against  

our KPIs

All underpinned by 
strong governance

To help us achieve our 
vision, we consider the 

issues central to our 
business and the challenges 

we face to 2030

This vision is delivered 
through a well 

organised business

 We seek to explain fully how our vision is developed, implemented, delivered and measured.

We value diversity and make sure our services are accessible to all.
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Customer ambitions
 Customer experience
We aspire to provide our customers with clear landlord 
services, that we get right first time.

 Compliance
We want to create an environment where our customers 
are kept safe and free from harm at all times.

 Customer contact
We aim to reduce unnecessary customer contact and 
develop more digital solutions.

 Income management
We will maximise our income and support our 
customers to enjoy successful tenancies.

 Financial performance
We will continue to drive financial performance and 
operational efficiency.

Our expertise
We will build more homes through a variety of partnerships, business efficiency and financial innovation.

 • Overall customer satisfaction of 75%
 • Right first time customer contact of 80%
 • 100% adherance to compliance programme

 • Reduce complaints by 20%
 • Bring in £216.2m income.

 • Increase digital transactions to 25%
 • Build digital skills with 100 older residents 

 • Increase staff confidence and knowledge of 
digital, by taking part in a website workshop.

 • Inspire each other with our successes, 
maintaining staff engagement of 81%

 • Deliver two innovative pilots

 • Finalise energy strategy 2018/19. 

 • Establish a customer services centre  
of excellence

 • Deliver priority data projects

 • Complete roll out of capping repair and 
maintenance costs per property

 • Proactively manage income from tenants and 
leaseholders

 • Ensure we meet budget of £100.5m for our 
housing directorate.

Get it right,  
first time

Champion digital  
services

Build a service for our 
future customers

Enhance our  
operating model

D I G I TA L

A Hyde resident, Hampshire

 





In order to meet these ambitions, some of the things we will focus on in the current year:
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The social housing sector  
to 2030 and beyond
Long term challenges and strategy development

The housing crisis deepens
England is deep in a housing crisis, with too few 
homes being built. According to the National Housing 
Federation’s 2017/18 Home Truths report, between 
2012 and 2016 there was a shortfall of nearly 482,905 
homes across the country and the average cost of 
a home rose to about 10 times the average salary. 
According to the National Audit Office, the number of 
households expected to form each year between 2011 
and 2021 (227,000), far outstrips the average 166,000 
additional homes that have been delivered annually in 
the past ten years.

Private rents are equally unaffordable for most people: 
£994 a month in the south east of England and £1,748 
in London, with people spending 40% of their incomes 
on rent. And, while those in social rented housing have 
some protection from rent increases, social housing 
rents continue to rise faster than salaries for the  
lowest earners. 

A new world for housing associations 
Over the past 15 years, housing associations, Hyde 
included, have moved from an environment of generous 
grant funding and stable rent uplifts to one where rent 
increases have fallen away and new homes are largely 
funded through surpluses from building homes for 
sale. But, with Brexit less than 12 months away, it is no 
longer prudent to rely on a stable housing market as the 
only way of funding more affordable homes in London 
and the south east. The challenge is on for housing 
associations to adapt once again, to ensure they deliver 
the supply of new homes the country needs. We believe 
there are many opportunities as well as challenges; here 
are some of our initial thoughts:

 
 
 
 
 

Our customers

We want to continue to house tenants with lower 
quartile incomes or those receiving benefits. They may 
have low to moderate support needs and we would like 
to see an even split between those who are nominated 
by local authorities and those to whom we let direct. We 
will also continue to sell to those who are starting out 
on the property ladder. Our aim is to give them a decent, 
affordable home, giving a platform to improve their life 
chances and creating social value. We want to give 
good quality services, with extra support for those who 
need it.

Regulation

Increasing freedom from unnecessary constraints on 
how we use our assets is starting to allow us to be 
more creative with funding new homes. What needs 
additional policy consideration is how society fully 
meets the needs of different demographic groups, 
by offering a range of different rented products, at 
different prices. We ourselves want to explore tenancy 
agreements that suit younger, smaller and more mobile 
households and those whose needs change as they 
progress through the typical stages of life.

Nominations are another area due for a shake-up. For 
example, we want the freedom to reward good, existing 
tenants by offering them new homes in different places 
or allowing cross-borough nominations. This would 
enable us to be more flexible in meeting different 
lifecycles and lifestyles, while continuing to fulfil our 
obligations to house those most in need.

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Rent setting

The social housing sector, local authorities and central 
government should embrace the idea of providers 
having a mixed rental portfolio, with different price 
points, tailored to particular demographics and 
geographies. While there will always be a need for 
traditional social rent, there are many other groups that 
need a good quality rented home. Offering homes at 
rents linked to salaries, rather than the market, is just 
one way of achieving this. Our partnership with Brighton 
and Hove City Council is taking this approach.

Funding for new homes

Grants, traditional borrowing and cross-funding 
remain important but further innovation, such as a 
combination of better strategic asset management, 
investment management and effective cross-subsidy, 
alongside debt from third parties and innovative support 
structures from government and local authorities, is 
needed, if we are to build at the scale required.

Ownership

Considering alternative models of ownership could 
allow us to leverage more funding for building homes. 
New institutional interest in affordable housing offers 
the sector additional capital to build more affordable 
homes. Housing associations can seize the initiative 
to act as property and tenancy managers for these 
investors but also build on their behalf, or co-own  
with them, to stretch the sector’s own charitable 
resources further.

 
 
 

Partnerships

Partnership working is key to innovation and efficiency, 
as well as being a route to building more homes. 
We want to work with other housing associations, 
local authorities and housebuilders to form strategic 
alliances and have made some progress in the past 
twelve months. For example, Harrow View East, our joint 
venture with Barratt London, will create 1,150 homes, as 
part of a major mixed-use scheme, in Harrow’s 20-year 
regeneration strategy.

Staying true to our vision and mission

The government’s current target is to deliver one million 
new homes between 2015 and 2020. Our long term 
strategy will help ensure that we do more than our 
fair share to meet this target over the next five years 
and beyond. While there is uncertainty, what we are 
very clear about is that we want to continue to provide 
homes at prices people can afford to buy or rent on long 
tenancies, and to improve their life chances, regardless 
of their financial standing. However, it is more important 
than ever-before to plan for the future and to take 
account of changing demographics, needs and culture 
in that planning.
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Hyde’s response 

Hyde 2030 vision

Our offer

Where we work

How we work

Our homes and 
customers

Growth

 • Continue to offer decent affordable homes for rent and sale, 
which gives people a platform to improve their lives 

 • Be a sector leader in partnership working with local authorities, 
central government, peers, housebuilders and investors to 
deliver as many new homes as possible

 • Ensure our social purpose will remain at the core of what we do.

 • Be working, and investing resource, in London, the south east 
and the south coast, where housing issues are most acute

 • Seek to work in new areas where we believe there is need and 
opportunity for housing.

 • Ensure our assets will be managed strategically, to reduce their 
average age to c.25 years and free-up capital which can be re-
invested in new homes

 • Deliver services that are multi-channel, with consistently high 
customer focus and minimal wasted effort

 • Have a mature, mixed financing model incorporating operating 
surplus, capital grant, debt and third party finance 

 • Have flexible arrangements on rent, tenancy length and 
nominations, to facilitate tenants’ changing needs as they move 
through life

 • Create partnerships to support residents with vulnerabilities 
beyond our expertise.

 • Continue to invest in new homes for rent, affordable to those on 
the lower quartile of incomes and those on average incomes

 • Invest in low cost home ownership, such as shared ownership, 
for those priced out of owning a home

 • Build and manage homes for sale on the open market.

 • Have grown to about 90,000 homes by merging with, or 
acquiring, like-minded organisations, purchasing stock and 
entering into mangement contracts

 • Grow in a way that supports us to build more new homes 

 • Consistently deliver about 1,500 new homes per year, working 
in partnership to boost delivery. 

We believe there is much we can do to establish a strong and clear long term 
strategy that is not only responsive but genuinely productive and progressive.  

 
By 2030, we will:
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Our organisation – where, what and how 
we provide for our residents

Tenure

Geography

The life stages we accommodate

We aspire to provide homes that span residents’ lifecycles, via a range of tenures,  
primarily in the south east of England.

We provide homes for a range of residents at different life stages

General needs, 
affordable rent 
and intermediate 
market rent.

28,154 
(2017: 28,216)
Primarily for 
individuals and 
families who are 
unable to rent or buy 
at a market value

Market rent

934  
(2017: 961)
Available for 
individuals who can 
afford to rent at 
market levels

Shared ownership

3,851  
(2017: 3,514)
Residents purchase 
a share in the equity 
of their homes and 
pay rent to us on the 
remaining share

Leasehold 
management 

5,797  
(2017: 5,640)
units owned by 
individuals on our 
developments and 
to whom we provide 
services

Outright sale
For the private 
market to generate 
profits to build more 
social homes. This 
is undertaken by a 
set of commercial 
subsidiaries and 
joint ventures. 
83 completed 
for 2017/18, 313 
committed for 
2018/19

Supported housing 
and older people 
schemes

2,098 
(2017: 2,200)
Primarily for those 
who have additional 
needs

Contract 
management

7,036  
(2017: 6,677)
Accommodation 
we manage on 
behalf of other 
organisations

Agency

1,275  
(2017: 1,252)
We own and agents 
manage for us - 
mainly supported 
housing

Health 
accommodation 
3  
(2017: 311)
Primarily for 
healthcare 
professionals

Temporary social 
housing

25  
(2017: 389)
Leasehold and 
management 
schemes providing 
temporary 
accommodation

Private sale small 
family homes

Private sale flats

Shared ownership 
small family homes

Shared  
ownership flats 

Affordable 
rented small 
family homes

Affordable 
rented flats

Sheltered/
Supported rented 
accommodation

We had 49,173 (2017: 49,160) homes in ownership and management as at 31 March 2018. Last year we had an 
average of 730 homes per borough across 67 boroughs, covering the following different tenures:
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Strategic objectives 2017-20
Last year saw the successful delivery of the first year 
of our current strategic plan. We want to be seen 
as a leader in the housing sector by 2020 and are 
transforming and modernising our organisation: to 
be more innovative in the way we provide services 
to residents; to generate more revenue and a bigger 
surplus that can pay for building homes and to attract 
the best staff, by being a great place to work.

We must ensure we maximise the impact of everything 
we do: our financial decisions; the way we deliver our 
services; what we expect from our people and the 
investments we make in systems and technology. We 
will make continual and sustained change: increasing 
the speed at which we deliver the benefits of our 
initiatives. To meet our ambitions, we will focus on the 
following objectives and measures for success.

Deliver easy to use  
landlord services

Increase homes  
in management

Have a culture  
of achievement

Maximise financial  
capacity

Have expert teams to resolve issues first 
time, through efficient digital and other 
services that help the most vulnerable 
sustain tenancies.

Improved more of our homes, ran a 
successful capped repair cost pilot 
(Price per Property) and successfully 
restructured our resident services team to 
improve customer service. 

We also embarked on a major fire safety 
programme, ensuring the safety of our 
residents in high rise buildings.

Overall satisfaction with responsive 
repairs: 83% (2017: 77%; Target: 86%), 
putting us in the top three of the G15.

Overall satisfaction with Hyde as a 
landlord: 70% (2017: 70%; Target: 75%).

Improve customer satisfaction with 
Hyde as a landlord; ensure we solve our 
residents’ issues first time, 80% of the 
time; establish a customer services centre 
of excellence; increase digital transactions 
to 25%; deliver two innovation pilots.

Identify opportunities to partner with 
the public and private sector to build 
and manage more homes for rent, 
shared ownership and sale.

Refinanced, which included removal 
of many derivatives, made progress 
towards our target of building 6,000 
homes in the next four years and 
finalised a joint venture with Brighton 
and Hove City Council.

1,285 homes completed (2017: 467; 
Target: 1,215).

1,002 homes started (Target: 584), 
due to early starts on three schemes 
in Q4 of 2017/18, rather than in Q1 of 
2018/19.

Deliver more than 1,000 new homes, 
develop further strategic partnerships 
with local authorities, housebuilders, 
registered providers and institutional 
capital.

Be a thought leader and employer of 
choice, with expert and passionate 
people that lead and shape the future  
of housing.

Introduced new values and achievement 
culture, launched a new induction 
process and apprenticeship scheme 
and completed management to staff 
rationalisation.

Delivery against targets: 92% (Target: 
90%).

Voluntary turnover: 15.6% (Target 17%).

Absenteeism: 7.4% (2017: 7.4%;  
Target: 6.7%).

Reduce absenteeism and focus on 
property safety and compliance; 
introduce coaching programme for 
senior staff to coach future talent.

We will:

This year, we:

How we 
performed 
against our 
KPIs

Focus for 
2018/19

Generate and collect income to pay for 
services and generate surplus through 
innovative funding models, maximising 
occupancy and strategic asset 
management.

Transformed service charges, improving 
transparency and collection rates, 
progressed our initiatives to mitigate 
the Government’s 2016-2020 1% p.a. 
rent reduction and introduced a tenant 
incentive scheme to maximise income 
collection.

Operating cost per unit: £4,230 (2017: 
£4,473; Target: £4,490).

Overheads as percentage of non-sale 
turnover: 11.3% (2017: 12%; Target 
11.6%).

Maintained three year minimum £300m 
liquidity buffer.

Continuous improvement in value 
for money in our costs per home and 
overheads.
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Resource allocation
We draw upon, and have an impact on, a range of resources and relationships, or ‘capitals’. Understanding our 
capitals, and how we rely on them, enables us to manage and preserve our ability to meet our objectives and serve 
our stakeholders.

The properties (homes) we 
own and build to let and sell, 
and the infrastructure in our 
communities.

The land we own and the 
natural resources we use 
to build and maintain our 
properties.

The skills, experience, 
motivation, health and 
wellbeing of individual 
employees.

Our collective expertise  
of the housing and 
development sector.

Financial capacity to help us 
build more homes. Bond and 
bank financing as well as  
cash generated from 
operations and sales.

Our relationships with 
stakeholders, residents, 
partners, lenders and local 
and national government.

Investment in our properties 
ensures our homes are of a good 
standard and enhances customer 
satisfaction. Building more 
homes to sell and let meets our 
objective to increase homes in 
management.

Enhancing our land portfolio 
enables us to maximise the 
opportunity to build more homes. 
We carefully consider how 
suppliers deal with sustainable  
use of materials and  
construction techniques.

Annual appraisals, inductions, 
training, professional exam 
support, institute membership 
and staff consultative 
committees provide support to 
ensure staff work effectively.

Investment in staff and  
retaining Investors in People 
status, maintains the expertise 
and know-how of employees.

Active management of our  
income and expenditure allows  
us to invest carefully in our  
current properties and, alongside 
funding opportunities, allows us  
to build more homes.

Stakeholder management and 
active engagement ensures we 
meet expectations and are able  
to take opportunities as they 
arise.

 • £67m invested on repairs  
and maintenance to  
maintain high quality homes

 • £184m invested in new  
homes

 • Future includes planning 
for longer term needs and 
continuously striving for  
homes fit for purpose.

 • Investment in land to build 
1,896 new homes

 • 1,002 home starts

 • Look to do more through 
enhanced partnership  
working.

 • 1,112 skilled and motivated 
employees

 • 81% staff engagement

 • Launching effective 
achievement culture.

 • 20% of new jobs filled by 
internal candidates

 • £650k invested in training

 • Demonstrate enhanced 
thought leadership in  
sector debates and  
policy setting.

 • £161m operating surplus

 • £1.16bn refinanced in the year

 • Continued and further 
optimisation in progress.

 • Resident engagement strategy 
in place

 • Positive relationships with 
local and national government, 
leveraging off recent Brighton 
success.

PHYSICAL NATURAL PEOPLE KNOW-HOW FINANCIAL OUR NETWORKS

Deliver easy to use 
landlord services

Increase homes  
in management

Have a culture  
of achievement

Have a culture  
of achievement

Maximise financial  
capacity All objectives
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Stakeholders
We are committed to open and transparent relationships with stakeholders, demonstrating clearly how we spend 
our surplus and deliver value for money for our residents.

Residents
Future and existing:
Home owners

Leaseholders

Tenants

Investors
Banks

Institutional investors

Political stakeholders
Central government

Local authorities – officers and elected members

Greater London Authority

Constituency MPs

Rating agencies
Standard & Poor’s

Staff
Employees

Potential recruits

Pensioners

Other
Suppliers

Partners
Housing associations

Development partners

Community organisations

Homes England

Regulator
Regulator for social housing
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Performance
Deliver easy to use landlord services

Our Housing Management team provides telephone-
based services and visits homes and estates to help 
us meet our responsibilities as a landlord. The team 
collects vital revenue, keeps homes in good repair, 
manages tenancies and estates, tackles anti-social 
behaviour and lets new homes. It also helps residents 
to build skills and get into work, offers money guidance 
and debt advice and works with local communities to 
improve neighbourhoods and the opportunities for the 
people who live there.

 • Empty homes and lettings: We helped 5,535 people 
find a new home, with 1,789 homes being let

 • Self-serve: We improved access to online services: 
the use of digital channels rose to 13%,  
up from 9% the year before

 • Intensive housing management: introduced at 21 
sheltered housing schemes, with more focus on 
resident wellbeing

 • Look Again: Our new way of working, making it easier 
and quicker to deliver services to our customers, 
improving effectiveness, efficiency, value for money 
and saving about £1.2m a year from 2018/19. A key 
change was to replace the traditional housing officer 
role with more specialist roles. This means staff will 
be better placed to help our customers and manage 
our homes. Look Again will save the Group about 
£1.2m a year from 2018/19. The new roles are:

 » Property managers, who look after a local patch, 
including estates and street properties. They 
monitor service standards (cleaning, gardening, 
communal repairs, health and safety) on their 
estates and keep records for service charges

 » Tenancy advisors, who handle most tenancy 
management enquiries received by our Customer 
Services team and online forms. This will enable 
us to respond faster on simple matters, such as 
mutual exchange, tenancy changes or succession

 » Tenancy officers handle complex tenancy 
situations and home visits. They do not have  
a ‘patch’ but are allocated cases as required. 
 
 
 

 • Service charges: changes introduced in 2018 will 
make service charges clearer, easier to understand 
and service costs more transparent for customers

 • Property management: Our in-house maintenance 
provider Hyde Property Services achieved customer 
satisfaction in excess of our 86% target

 • Price per property: The success of a six month price 
per property pilot across 7,000 homes in London will 
see us roll-out this innovative approach to repairs, 
with the emphasis and responsibility on contractors 
to complete repairs faster, first time, to more of our 
homes

 • Energy efficiency and fuel poverty: We have set a 
new minimum energy performance standard for our 
homes to help to reduce residents’ energy bills, in 
line with the government’s fuel poverty legislation 
to achieve an EPC band C by 2030 for all fuel-poor 
homes. By reducing energy bills, we will improve 
resident comfort and reduce the risk of condensation 
and mould, which often leads to expensive repair 
costs. This will also help reduce the risk of rent 
arrears. We have more than 10,000 homes that do 
not currently meet this target and we are working 
to secure grant investment to help us achieve it. In 
total, we will receive £2.45m from external sources, 
including £800,000 from the Warm Homes Fund, 
£1,145,000 from Southern Gas Networks and a 
further £505,000 of renewable energy subsidy. 
Additional grant-sourced funding, annual expenditure 
and targeted asset disposal will all be ways to 
mitigate this challenge 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 • Repairs: We continued to build robust and 
productive contractor relationships, introduced 
better monitoring and improved key aspects of 
the customer experience, resulting in customer 
satisfaction of 85.4%

 • Stock investment: Our common sense investment 
approach saved £4.1m to help offset the impact 
of the 1% rent reduction. We invested £38m in 
improving 800 kitchens, 600 bathrooms and 1,000 
heating and hot water systems

 • Crackdown on criminal gangs: Our Anti-Social 
Behaviour team is working with the London 
Metropolitan Police to break up drug dealing 
gangs in Stockwell, making our communities safer 
places to live. Six of our tenants from the Stockwell 
Gardens and Studley Estates were recently served 
with notices seeking possession of their homes. 
This is the first step in bringing legal action against 
individuals who have been making the local 
community unsafe through serious criminal activity. 
This operation follows on from one targeting drug 
dealing and anti-social behaviour in both estates in 
Summer 2017. The initiative was led by the Lambeth 
Borough and Larkhall Safer Neighbourhood teams 
and involved the Met Police and Hyde staff. Our 
team helped drugs worth about £80,000 to be 
recovered and nine men were convicted of multiple 
counts of supplying Class A drugs.

“The criminal group involved 
in supplying drugs has been 
linked to serious offences 
involving knife and gun crime. 
Our partnership with Hyde is 
providing a long term solution to 
benefit Stockwell communities 
for many years to come.” 

 PC Antony Knapman, London Metropolitan Police.

2017/18 2016/17 2015/16

Revenue Capital
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Capital and revenue spend on repairs and 
maintenance £66.5m

Hyde’s ASB team is working with the London Metropolitan 
Police to break up drug dealing gangs in Stockwell, making 
our communities safer places to live.
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“I never had a garden before, so 
now I can be creative – I’ve even 
got a vegetable patch where 
I grow things like potatoes, 
pumpkin, tomatoes, cucumbers 
and, this year, for the first time, 
peas.”
St Mauritius House resident Doxie.

“Everyone at Hyde has been really 
helpful. I have the confidence and 
peace of mind that even if my MS 
gets worse, I will be able to safely 
and independently live here, 
close to my friends and carers.”
Portslade resident Shana Pezaro.

The Hyde Foundation
The Hyde Foundation works with community partners 
and local authorities to create places where people 
want to live by pre-empting and addressing community 
issues. It provides advice and support to residents who 
are experiencing financial crisis or ill-health and are in 
breach of their tenancy obligations. In 2017/18,  
Hyde Foundation:

 • Provided advice to more than 1,716 residents, 
helping households to avoid eviction

 • Through the Love London Working project, helped 
900 people, with 223 getting back into work and 228 
completing training

 • Delivered youth-related anti-social behaviour 
projects, benefiting 2,592 young people

 • Involved 358 older people in activities promoting 
health and wellbeing and reducing isolation

 • Brought in £1.2m of financial gains to the Group and 
delivered £600,000 of financial gains to residents

 • Made 148 grant awards to residents and community 
organisations through the Hyde Charitable Trust.
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Fire safety

Our Fire Safety Review Taskforce was set up following 
the tragic events of Grenfell in June 2017, to ensure 
the high rise blocks we provide for our residents are 
safe. The taskforce is monitored and guided by a 
Programme Board, led by the Programme Director 
and the Group’s Chief Executive, Elaine Bailey. The 
taskforce has focused on our 105 buildings more than 
six storeys high.

Alongside our statutory responsibilities to undertake 
fire risk assessments on all our buildings, the work has 
involved:

 • Identifying the type of cladding used on these 
buildings, where fitted

 • Carrying out targeted inspection and testing on  
all cladding, not just aluminium composite  
material (ACM)

 • Replacing cladding systems that are deemed unsafe 
by our fire safety expert

 • Undertaking Type Four fire risk assessments, 
involving targeted intrusive inspection of communal 
areas, and a sample of individual homes, to check 
and rectify fire stopping (compartmentation)  
as appropriate

 • Carrying out tenancy audits to establish who is living 
in our homes and if anyone in the household  
is vulnerable

 • Visiting residents to ensure we are aware of any 
issues which might prevent them from safely 
evacuating their home. During these visits we also 
check all fire safety equipment

 • Setting up waking watch fire safety patrols to ensure 
residents are safe in buildings considered to be  
high risk

 • Monitoring buildings where we have a leasehold 
interest but are not the freeholder. 

Communicating with residents
A key aspect of the fire safety taskforce’s work is open 
communication with residents, to reassure them and to 
keep them updated with planned and on-going works. 
We wrote to the residents in blocks where we have 
committed to replacing the cladding following Grenfell, 
to explain our plans and to reassure them that we would 

be paying for waking watch patrols. Since then we 
have provided regular updates and continue to work to 
resolve issues, such as passing costs for major works 
onto leaseholders and securing government funding for 
remedial works. 

Cladding inspections
To ensure the safety of all residents, we took the 
decision to check the cladding of all our buildings 
more than six storeys high, regardless of the cladding 
system installed. This has involved working with 
construction consultant Martin Arnold and specialist 
installers to carry out targeted, intrusive inspections of 
rendered external wall insulation (EWI) and other types 
of cladding (not just ACM) in a number of buildings 
(including Eyot House, Prospect House and Hicks 
House in Bermondsey) to assess workmanship and fire 
safety performance issues. 

Replacing cladding at the Bolanachi Building, 
Bermondsey Spa
Inspections revealed that the Bolanachi Building 
in Bermondsey Spa was fitted with the same ACM 
cladding used at Grenfell. Rather than waiting for 
the outcome of the review of the current regulations, 
we took the decision to remove the entire cladding 
system and replace it with new cladding that exceeds 
current standards and thus ensure the future safety 
of our residents. We are also replacing cladding in 
the communal stairwells and work is due to finish in 
November 2018. A waking watch, which acts as an 
early warning system, will remain in place until work is 
complete; we continue to work closely with the London 
Fire Brigade to ensure resident safety. 

Replacing cladding at Gosport Towers
At the end of March 2018, we began replacing cladding 
on five blocks in Gosport, which although not ACM, are 
cladded with flammable material. Our inspections also 
identified serious issues with the compartmentation 
between the walls and the floors and we are now 
working to rectify these. We have also carried out 
tenancy audits and set up a waking watch in all five 
towers. We met with a local councillor, residents and 

the Tenants’ and Residents’ Association in Gosport 
as part of our review and are continuing to work with 
Hampshire Fire and Rescue, and independent fire 
experts, to ensure our plans have the best interests of 
residents at heart. 

New Capital Quay, Greenwich
We are also working with the owner of New Capital 
Quay in Greenwich, where we lease a number of homes 
in buildings with ACM cladding, to ensure everything is 
being done to keep our leaseholders safe. The National 
House Building Council have recently admitted liability 
and we shall continue to push for the freeholder to 
swiftly implement cladding removal and replacement. 

Building defects
Following Type Four fire risk assessments, we have 
identified a number of compartmentation issues in 
some of our buildings (including the Porter Building 
and the Pitman Building in Bermondsey) and are now 
working to rectify these as a matter of urgency, to keep 
residents safe when they are advised to ‘stay put’ in 
their homes by the fire brigade in the event of a fire. As 
a result, we are pursuing a number of claims against the 
original building contractors for latent defects. Where 
the original developer is no longer in business, we are 
pursuing insurance claims.

In 2017/18, the costs incurred for the Fire Safety 
Taskforce were predominately for additional resources, 
undertaking various tests on cladding, inspections and 
remedial works. Work and inspections are expected 
to continue into 2019/20 and we anticipate having to 
take additional measures following the outcome of the 
Hackitt review and Grenfell Tower inquiry.

We are committed to spending £6.5m during 2018/19 
and we are prudently budgeting for an estimated total 
cost of up to £50m.

Hammond Tower, Gosport
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Increase homes in management

We build, sell and let new homes, ensuring they are designed and built to a high standard. This ensures we 
maximise sales returns and reduce the lifetime costs of those homes we manage and maintain. As government 
grants fall, our development activities are providing a platform for growth.

Regenerating Harrow: Two joint ventures with Barratt 
London: College Road, which will create 318 new 
homes, including some for affordable rent and shared 
ownership, due to be complete in summer 2019; and the 
redevelopment of the Kodak factory which will deliver 
460 more. We are working with Harrow Council and 
Barratt to ensure Harrow residents get priority access 
to the new homes and the College Road project is also 
employing 100 local people.

Kent Homebuilding Partnership: The Kent 
Homebuilding Partnership, with delivery partners such 
as the Chartway Group, aims to deliver hundreds of new 
homes across Kent. We are also looking to partner with 
other providers and developers and extend coverage of 
this innovative approach across all counties in the  
south east.

Partnering with Brighton & Hove City Council: Our 
£120m deal will pave the way for 1,000 genuinely 
affordable homes for local residents. Half the homes 
will be made available to local working people, including 
young people and families on living rents – a rent that 
reflects local wages, rather than market rents.

Regenerating Rochester Riverside: We received 
planning approval for our £400m regeneration scheme 
at Rochester Riverside at the end of 2017. The scheme, 
in partnership with Countryside Properties, will see 
21ha of brownfield land next to the River Medway 
transformed over the next 12 years. Along with 1,200 
homes, the project includes a hotel, shops, a primary 
school and public open space.

London Living Rent: County House is our London Living 
Rent scheme of 76 homes in Beckenham, helping 
tenants save for a deposit by offering below-market 
rents based on a third of average local wages. Rents are 
up to 30% cheaper than local market rents in Bromley, 
saving tenants between £300 and £400 a month.

Charlton Riverside: In May 2018, we purchased 4ha 
of brownfield land with the potential to provide 1,128 
homes, 65% affordable. Construction is due to start in 
2021 and be completed in 2027.

GROWTH
Number of 

homes 
acquired 

New 
homes 
starts

Homes  
completions

2017/18 
actual 1,896 1,002 1,285

2016/17 
actual 2,681 1,949 465

Practical  
completions

Affordable rent tenure/
social rent Shared ownership Open market sale Other Totals

Kent 199 131 78 0 408

London 216 219 5 41 481

South 216 167 0 1 384

Other 0 12 0 0 12

Totals 631 529 83 42 1,285
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Partnership working
We signed joint venture contracts to deliver 3,350 
homes:

with Brighton 
and Hove City 
Council

with Barratt 
London and 
Harrow Council

with Countryside 
Properties and 
Medway Council 
in Rochester
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On-site at a new development in Hove
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Strategic asset management

Strategic asset management is essentially optimising the use of our assets, while delivering on our social purpose. 
It will play an increasingly important role at Hyde, as we seek to increase our capacity to invest in new homes. 
We engaged independent valuation specialist Jones Lang Lasalle in 2018 to value our housing properties. This 
valuation process clearly highlights the tremendous amount of hidden or charitable capital deployed in fulfilling our 
vision. It is incumbent on us to ensure we use such charitable capital to the best of our ability, a consideration that 
will be formally addressed in 2018/19, when we intend to articulate a formal strategic asset management plan.

Stock rationalisation: In 2017-18 we had an average 
of 370 general needs homes per borough across 67 
boroughs. We wanted to increase this to an average of 
600 homes per borough within three years. We started 
our programme of exiting 24 local authority areas, 
which will transfer 1,502 homes (ranging from general 
needs and shared ownership to supported housing), 
and by summer 2018 we plan to have an average of 
650 homes per borough. As part of this ongoing stock 
rationalisation, we divested 492 properties in 2017-18 at 
a value of £28.6m, making a surplus of £18.2m (2016-
17: 725 properties at a value of £55.2m and surplus of 
£24.3m). The cash proceeds of these sales will support 
our focus on post-Grenfell fire safety initiatives, as well 
as building new homes.

Rehousing Southwark families in need: The Sylvan 
Grove development will be sold to Southwark Council to 
enable it to re-house families from the nearby Ledbury 
Estate, which includes tower blocks with serious health 
and safety and structural compliance issues.

Our 2018-19 initiatives

During 2018-19, we will formalise a strategic asset 
management plan as well as engaging in more related 
activities. These will include:

 • Working with one of our major local authority 
partners to ensure we can help it meet its long term 
revised housing strategy, through us jointly better 
understanding the long term demographic needs, our 
mapping of what a lifecycle approach to provision 
requires, what asset base we collectively have today 
and what this should look like by 2030

 • Examining the ownership and inherent opportunities 
of our 2,000+ garages and other ancillary assets. 
Many of our garages do not meet modern 
requirements and car sizes, while providing 
redevelopment opportunities for ourselves or other 
social housing providers we might involve

 • Disposing of non-core commercial properties that do 
not directly add to our social purpose

 • Exiting energy-poor/CAPEX-heavy social housing 
that will enable replacement with more new fit-for-
purpose equivalents.

*Valuation of the shared ownership properties is based on the equity share retained by the Group, which on average represents 58% of the whole 
property, with the balance owned by the leaseholder.

We also have market rent properties with a value of £27.7m, commercial properties with a value of £20.1m, as well 
as a significant portfolio of leasehold properties and garage sites.

Portfolio Existing Use Value - 
Social Housing £m

Market Value - Subject  
to Tenancies £m

Market Value - Vacant  
Possession £m

General needs 1,916.3 5,132.6 8,267.2

Affordable rental tenure 294.1 427.4 642.4

Shared ownership * 292.2 292.2 631.8

Intermediate rent 234.7 252.1 357.1

Sheltered/Supported Housing 120.3 120.3 583.2

Total value of social housing lettings 2,857.6 6,224.6 10,481.7

Hyde shared owners at home in Brighton. 

Valuation of our property portfolio for lender security
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Have a culture of achievement

Inspirational leadership and culture: We ran 
programmes for leaders and managers to support  
them shifting employee culture to meet our 
strategic objectives. 

Performance management: Performance  
management and bonuses were aligned to new  
values and behaviours.

Achieving organisational strength through our people: 
We are rationalising and streamlining our management 
hierarchy and last year introduced a more robust 
approach to managing poor performance. We also 
introduced a new approach to identifying talent to help 
strengthen succession planning.

Flexible benefits: In the last ‘benefit window’ of 2017, 
79% of staff logged in to check, review or select  
benefits and 2,058 benefit selections were made.

Equal opportunities

Gender pay gap
Under the UK Government’s new Gender Pay Gap 
Regulations, employers in Great Britain with more 
than 250 employees need to report their gender pay 
gap. Hyde employs over 1,200 people across London, 
the south east and Peterborough. Our staff are at the 
heart of what we do and we remain committed to the 
promotion of equality and we value the diversity in our 
staff. The data provided is accurate as of April 2017.

Mean

The mean shows the difference in average hourly pay 
between men and women.

Median

The median shows the difference between the 
middle paid woman and middle paid man. 

Our mean gender pay gap is:

Our median gender pay gap is:

(lower for women) 

(lower for women) 

12.9% 

4.1% 

This is where all the salaries – both men’s and women’s 
– are sorted by size and divided into equal quarters. 
The pie charts below show how men and women are 
spread throughout the organisation by salary brackets, 
from highest to lowest.

Understanding our gender pay gap
While our gender pay gap is lower than the UK average, 
we recognise that there is a gender pay gap at Hyde, 
with men being paid more than women. Our salary 
ranges are built around paying the market median. 
Our analysis has shown that there are proportionally 
fewer females in higher paid senior roles. When we 
looked at the proportion of males and females in each 
quartile pay band, the figures showed that the quartile 
representing the lowest paid employees contained the 
largest proportion of females. In the upper quartile, 
the reverse is true, with males making up 54% of staff 
receiving the highest pay.

This means that Hyde’s gender pay gap does not stem 
from paying men and women differently for the same 
or equivalent work, but rather it is due to women being 
under-represented at the more senior levels at the time 
of reporting. This is something we are working on.

We have a female CEO, and the proportion of females 
in Director roles and the Executive Management Team 
has already increased from when we gathered this 
data. The proportion of females in Director roles has 
increased by 11% to 47% and the proportion in the 
Executive Management Team by 10% to 50%. It should 
also be noted that the gender pay gaps for the Executive 
Management Team and the Board show women were 
paid slightly more than men in April 2017 when we 
gathered this report’s data. 

How we are closing our gender pay gap
We are dedicated to reducing the gender pay gap. We 
will be utilising Hyde’s succession planning practices to 
reduce the gender pay gap by:

 • Ensuring development opportunities are identified 
and available for women and all under-represented 
groups through the Hyde Academy

 • Monitoring talent programmes to ensure women are 
represented accordingly

 • Promoting talent programmes and our career builder 
tool specifically through Hyde’s Women’s network

 • Monitoring recruitment at senior levels. 

Beyond gender, we are committed to ensuring we 
are a diverse and inclusive employer. We aim for our 
workforce to be reflective of the communities we 
work in and to maintain and benefit from the different 
perspectives our employees offer.

The ratio of the Chief Executive pay to the average full 
time equivalent is 6.68.

Upper middle  
quartile

Lower  
quartile

Top quartile

Lower middle 
quartile

54%

47% 36%

39%46%

53% 64%

61%

£650k
Invested in training 
and development per staff member

Average of Retained 
Investors in 
People (IiP)  
Gold Accreditation

4 training days

91% of 
employees 
are members 
of one of 
our pension 
schemes

25 staff  
were offered sponsorship 
to undertake a professional 
or accredited qualification

10 apprentices were 
recruited this year, 
one of whom has already 
secured a permanent role. 
Eight continue with their 
programme

200 roles 
recruited,  
20% filled 
internally

4.5% of 
our staff were 
either promoted 
or undertook a 
secondment

Voluntary 
turnover of  

15.6%

Absenteeism 
of  

7.6%

Gender split % Hyde workforce Executive 
team

Senior  
leaders

Female 64.96 50 50

Male 45.04 50 50

Ethnicity  
split % Hyde workforce Executive 

team
Senior  

leaders

White 64.48 100 82

BME 26.38 0 10

Not known  9.14 0 8



Financial Statements and Annual Report | 31 March 2018   |   41 40   |   Financial Statements and Annual Report | 31 March 2018

Maximise financial capacity

Statement of Comprehensive Income

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

£m £m £m £m £m

Turnover 281.7 338.3 350.5 315.7 339.6

Operating surplus 79.0 104.8 158.0 156.0 161.0

Net financing costs (58.2) (61.0) (66.0) (68.4) (70.1)

Other income/(cost)* 20.8 37.0 3.7 10.8 (0.1)

Underlying surplus for the year before taxation 41.6 80.8 95.7 98.4 90.8

Break costs - - - - (88.9)

Derivative instrument adjustments 27.3 (109.6) (73.3) (36.8) 26.2

Surplus/(deficit) for the year before taxation 68.9 (28.8) 22.4 61.6 28.1

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

Overall operating margin excluding 
housing asset sales and fire costs 28.0% 31.0% 32.4% 29.1% 31.4%

*For financial year end 2014 and 2015 other income/cost includes surplus on disposal of other housing properties. This is then included in 
operating surplus going forward.

Overall, turnover increased by 8%, due primarily to an 
increase in shared ownership and outright sales income 
from £54.7m to £75.3m.

Despite the continued roll out of universal credit, 
income from rents remained steady. Turnover from 
rents has increased slowly, due to an increase in rent 
from new units being mitigated by the rent reduction. 
While we continue to maximise income collection, 
we have measures in place to reduce arrears with 
the further roll-out of Universal Credit. Within rental 
income, we have provided for £3.6m of doubtful debts 
and written off £1.2m of bad debts. The provision has 
reduced by £0.4m, representing proactive interaction 
with residents.

Asset disposal income varies year-on-year and is 
dependent on that year’s asset management strategy. 
During 2018, we sold 931 (2017: 1,015) properties 
generating turnover of £146.3m (2017: £141.6m) 
and surplus of £66.2m (2017: £64.0m). This includes 
491 (2017: 725) properties as part of our stock 
rationalisation programme that generated turnover of 
£41.3m (2017: £81.7m) and a surplus of £18.2m (2017: 
£24.3m). This surplus will be used to fund anticipated 
additional fire safety costs and future developments.

 

Operating surplus, including housing asset sales, has 
increased by £5.0m to £161.0m. The operating surplus 
margin, excluding sales, has increased by 2.3% to 
31.4%. Operating costs increased, largely due to an 
increase in outright and first tranche sales and fire 
safety costs in the year. Service charge costs reduced 
because of a reduction in deficits absorbed by the 
Group, which was enabled by the new system for 
calculating these costs.

Total financing costs increased as a result of the debt 
restructure and one-off payments of finance/derivative 
breakage costs of £88.9m (2017: nil).

Surplus from derivative adjustments was £26.2m 
(2017 loss £36.8m), due to interest rates rising and 
the fair value of the derivative liabilities reducing. In 
the future, we expect less movement in derivatives, as 
we have refinanced our debt and terminated many of 
our derivative arrangements as part of our refinancing 
programme.
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We have a total investment of £3.2bn (at cost) in 
property, of which 62% has been financed from  
reserves and loans.

Given the changes to sector funding (in particular 
the reduction in grant funding), we use our surplus to 
support our development programme. Over the past 
five years we have invested more than double (2017: 
double) our surplus in the acquisition and construction 
of housing, as the following table shows:

The multiple of surplus has decreased due to a lag 
effect of a surplus increase over the past five years, 
due to making efficiencies and maximising our income 
through sales, which allows us to further reinvest in 
more homes. We expect this trend to continue in  
the future.

Statement of financial position Reserves

Use of reserves

Cash flow

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

£m £m £m £m £m

Housing properties net of depreciation 2,825.4 2,726.5 2,764.3 2,895.4 2,954.5

Long term assets 16.1 111.7 131.2 136.4 159.5

Fixed assets net of depreciation and grants 2,841.5 2,838.2 2,895.5 3,031.8 3,114.0

Current assets less current liabilities 224.8 210.0 147.8 129.3 219.1

Total assets less current liabilities 3,066.3 3,048.2 3,043.3 3,161.1 3,333.1

Long term liabilities (2,782.8) (2,772.9) (2,739.4) (2,809.3) (2,937.5)

Net assets 283.5 275.3 303.9 351.8 395.6

Reserves 283.5 275.3 303.9 351.8 395.6

2018 2018 2017 2017

£m £m £m £m

Property (fixed and current) – cost less depreciation and 
impairment 3,204.5 3,078.1

Financed by:

Loans (net of cash) 1,581.8 49% 1,310.9 43%

Grant 1,083.1 34% 1,085.8 35%

Reserves 417.7 13% 377.9 12%

Other 121.9 4% 303.5 10%

100% 100%

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

£m £m £m £m £m

Net cash from operating activities 108.4 101.7 65.1 104.6 44.8

Cash flow from investing activities (25.3) (27.7) (49.4) (116.1) (20.5)

Cash flow from financing activities 14.3 (74.3) (75.0) (31.4) 11.6

Net change in cash 105.4 (7.7) (59.3) (42.8) 35.9

There has been a steady increase in fixed assets as we continue to develop units for sale and additionally increase 
the stock we are holding for development. Long term liabilities have increased in the way of loan and bond funding 
and, through our recent refinancing, have given us a healthy headroom for managing future development.

The overall Group surplus of £32.6m (after taking into account the fair value financial instruments surplus of 
£26.2m) has resulted in our accumulated reserves increasing to £417.7m. We will continue to use these reserves 
to support reinvestment into our business, with the aim of providing good quality services and delivering more  
new homes.

Although it would appear that cash flow from investing activities has reduced year-on-year, we continued to invest 
£186.5m in new stock during the year. This was offset by larger levels of sales. Cash flow from financing activities 
resulted in a new inflow of drawn loans totalling £305.4m. The net figure is £11.6m due to repayment of old loans 
and the settling of financing costs.

Total average underlying surplus over 
the past five years

£64.8m

Total average cash spent on 
acquisition and construction of 
housing over the past five years  
(net of grant)

£121.2m

Cash spent on housing as a multiple  
of surplus

2
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Capital structure 

Borrowing facility profile

We are financed by a combination of committed bank facilities (long-dated term, and shorter-dated revolving credit 
facilities), senior secured sterling bonds issued in the capital markets, private placement funding, Social Housing 
Grant funding from the UK Government and retained reserves.

During the year, we made two significant changes to our capital structure. In May 2017, we successfully completed 
the issue of the Martlet Bond – a £400m, 35-year bond issued with a coupon of 3%. This was followed in November 
2017 by a £760m corporate refinancing exercise. This has resulted in:

We monitor our maturity and duration of our borrowings to ensure an orderly repayment profile, thereby reducing 
refinancing and liquidity risk. The maturity profile of total facilities is shown below:

Financial resilience and stress tests
As well as ensuring that we remain within our debt 
covenants in the short-term, we have undertaken 
scenario planning to assess our future financial 
resilience. This is based on the application of the Bank 
of England’s stress testing guidance for the UK banking 
sector, along with the Standard & Poor’s medium stress 
test, in relation to the potential risks faced by the UK 
social housing sector. These have been further modified 
for additional risks specific to us – for example, the 
failure of a joint venture partner.

The Bank of England stress test scenario is the more 
severe. It includes a fall in house price inflation of 30%, 
no sales for 12 months and an increase of nearly 5% 
in CPI and RPI. We also assumed there are no profits 
from joint ventures and that one of our JV projects 
is 100% funded by ourselves. Given the nature of our 
organisation, this analysis focuses mainly on our 
parent entity, Hyde Housing Association (“HHA”). The 
overall change to our business planning, the refinancing 
and restructuring completed in the financial year 
has resulted in Hyde passing these stresses, with an 
improved position to the prior year plan.

£725m - the total of bond and bank finance we have raised 
this year.

Further expansion of our Common Terms Arrangements 
across the vast majority of our banking relationships, 
putting each on an equal footing.

66% of the credit facilities were provided by the UK bank 
and private placement debt markets and 34% by the bond 
capital markets.

£171.9m closing out or restructuring of a material 
proportion of our derivative positions at an attractive 
discount of £12.1m. The estimated net impact of break 
costs and mark-to-market movements this financial year is 
approximately £27m.

This ensures our five-year development programme is 
entirely funded with a healthy buffer held in reserves 
and gives us even greater resilience against any future 
economic or property market downturn.

Some term loans became revolving, creating £325m of 
overall additional revolving facilities, an average overall 
weighted life of 16.6 years and only £103m of maturing 
loans in the next three years.

Implementation of a new standardised covenant package 
that reflects our appropriate and strong asset value and 
income generating capacity, rather than the previously 
more historical focus on grants.

Interest cover, gearing, tangible net worth and asset cover 
covenant ratios are the main financial tests required by 
lenders. There were no breaches in the year and a full 
covenant compliance report is maintained as part of 
management reporting procedures. 

Drawn debt 79%

Undrawn 
facilities £435m

Fixed rate 88%

£203m

£1,446m

Undrawn debt 21%

Cash £80m

Variable rate 12%

Total 
Facilities 
£2,100m

Liquidity 
£515m

WACC 
4.65%

-0.87%

+£412m

+£167m

2018 2017

£m £m

0-1 years 59.3 62.3

1-2 years 24.3 170.8

2-3 years 18.7 129.8

3-5 years 639.2 183.5

More than five years 1,355.8 1,138.5

Total 2,097.3 1,684.9

0 to 3 years 5.0%

3 to 5 years 30.4%

> 5 years 64.6%
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Value for money 
Ensuring value for money (VFM) for residents and 
ourselves is central to our plans and the way we work. 
The responsibility for delivering VFM starts with the 
Group Board, which ensures our approach is strategic, 
comprehensive and embedded into the delivery of our 
corporate objectives. We put in place plans and actions 
to achieve and monitor VFM, including through:

 • Our strategic plan. Our corporate objectives are 
supported by detailed budgets and VFM targets. 
These are reviewed annually and targets are 
cascaded to every area of the business. We seek to 
balance our obligation to maintain decent homes with 
our ambition to invest in building new ones.

 • A strategic approach to service enhancement. 
Supported by a business case approach to 
change delivery and investment proposals, with 
clear cost-benefit measures reflected in budgets 
and service KPIs. We use well-established tools, 
including benchmarking with the G15 peer group 
and comparison with service models outside of the 
sector. We aim to optimise the use of resources 
to deliver our objectives and work with residents 
(through Hydewide Residents’ Voice) to ensure we 
consider what matters to them. 

 • Our asset management strategy. We have developed 
tools to assess how best to optimise future returns 
in both social and financial terms, considering 
investment, redevelopment, changing tenure or 
disposal.

 • Our performance monitoring framework:
 » Monthly monitoring – Our balanced scorecard 

approach, including VFM metrics, ensures our 
objectives are monitored

 » The Group Housing Services Board oversees 
housing service delivery

 » The Group Investment Committee oversees 
investment activities, including new 
developments

 » The Group Treasury Committee oversees 
treasury management 

 » The Group Audit Committee oversees risk and 
internal control

 » Hydewide Residents’ Eye monitors customers’ 
experience of our services 
 
 

 » Annual assessment against Regulated Social 
Housing (RSH) National Standards and Sector 
Scorecard, to ensure we are compliant and to 
provide updates on our plans for continuous 
improvement. 

Measuring value for money 
We track our VFM performance through a range of 
financial, operational and strategic metrics, as well 
as specific VFM metrics. We regularly compare our 
performance against both internal targets and against 
our peers and non-housing organisations. We are 
part of a group of housing associations trialling the 
HouseMark-led ‘Sector scorecard’, with 2018-19 being 
our second full year of monitoring.

During 2017-18, we improved our social housing 
operating margin and cost per unit, through both 
strategic changes and a programme of planned 
efficiencies. At the same time, we have increased the 
number of new homes built and increased investment 
in community services. We undertook a programme of 
refinancing in 2017-18, which will reduce our borrowing 
costs long term and provide a greater liquidity buffer. 
While our gearing level has increased in line with our 
development programme, our improved EBITDA shows 
our capacity to cover the cost of that borrowing has 
also increased.

2018-19 will be the second year of our current strategic 
plan, during which we will focus on improving our 
overall customer satisfaction, delivering a further £6m 
of planned efficiency gains, and improving our overall 
operating efficiency to bring us closer to the national 
upper quartile.

The sector scorecard calculations have been revised 
between March 2017 and March 2018. As such, the 
figures for both years presented below are calculated 
using the updated definitions. The G15 comparison for 
2016-17 is based on prior year definitions and therefore 
can only be taken as indicative. Hyde’s performance 
against peers varied, with Hyde performing well on 
financial measures, such as Cost Per Unit and Social 
Housing Operating Margin, as well as the delivery of 
new homes. However, there are areas, such as overall 
operating margin and resident satisfaction, where our 
performance could be better, and improvement in these 
areas are reflected in our plans for 2018/19.

Metric required by: Metric Calculation  
(where required)

2017/18  
Performance

2016/17  
Performance

Peer group 
comparison 

2016/17 
(G15  

median)

HCA VFM Standard 
(regulatory requirement) Operating margin

Operating surplus excluding 
surplus from sale of housing 
properties/turnover

27.93% 29.12% 33.00%

Operating margin (excluding fire 
safety costs)

Operating surplus excluding 
fire safety costs and surplus 
from sale of housing 
properties/turnover

31.40% N/A N/A

Headline social housing cost per unit Total of costs per unit 
identified below £4,013 £4,390 £4,473

Gearing Net debt/carrying value of 
housing properties 53.11% 45.77% 44.87%

Return on capital employed (ROCE)

Operating surplus, including 
the sale of housing properties 
and joint venture income/total 
assets less current liabilities

4.83% 5.10% 3.75%

EBITDA MRI (as a % of interest) 123.56% 129.00% 209.50%

Reinvestment
Housing properties acquired 
per cash flow/housing 
properties at cost

6.37% 6.12% N/A

New supply delivered % (social 
housing units) 93.50% 68% N/A

New supply delivered % (non-social 
housing units) 6.50% 32% N/A

Sector scorecard
(voluntary monitoring)

Operating margin (social housing 
lettings) 37.72% 34.14% 34.54%

New supply delivered (absolute) 1,285 465 466.5

Percentage satisfied with overall 
service provided 70% 70% 77.5%

Investments in communities (£000s) £2,990 £3,537 N/A

Management cost per unit £1,378 £1,314 £1,196

Service charge cost per unit £596 £781 £670

Maintenance cost per unit £1,067 £1,241 £1,114

Major repairs cost per unit £756 £752 £810

Other social housing costs per unit £216 £302 £534

Overheads as a percentage of 
adjusted turnover 10.65% 10.48% 12.00%

Ratio of responsive repairs to planned 
maintenance 0.52 0.56 0.45

Occupancy 99.50% 99.00% 99.71%

Rent collected from current and 
former tenants as a percentage of 
rent due (including arrears)

100.39% 99.60% 99.68%
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 • We are open to expanding beyond our traditional 
products and geography, provided that we are 
confident we can manage the risks.

 • We will consider M&A or partnership working as 
appropriate provided that we have confidence in 
our partners.

 • We will do more than our fair share of development 
and deliver a sizeable number of new homes.

 • We are open to taking market sales risk as part of 
a balanced development portfolio.

 • We are open to options to realise latent potential 
value through active asset management as long as 
the business case makes sense.

Risk management
Managing risk in everything we do is essential. The 
Group Board owns and sets the level of risk appetite 
for the business and this guides our decision making 
and strategy development. Sound risk management 
principles underpin our approach to corporate 
governance in all aspects of our operations: strategic, 
economic, social and environmental. Reviews of our 
control environment and management of emerging 
risks ensures that we capture and address issues that 
could affect our ability to fulfil statutory obligations 
and corporate plan objectives. 

Risk appetite
During the year, we enhanced our approach to risk 
appetite by introducing risk appetite statements across 
eight key business activities (right). These statements 
and the supporting definitions below for each business 
activity seek to establish our capacity for taking 
and absorbing risk and, in doing so, provide guiding 
principles for management and Group Board decision 
making.

We recognise that our internal control framework can 
only provide for reasonable and not absolute assurance. 
We therefore recognise there is a risk that control 
weaknesses can still arise and that non-compliance 
issues can still occur. Our internal control framework 
is designed to limit and manage the risk of these 
risks materialising. To further strengthen our control 
environment, we are developing a combined assurance 
reporting tool, supported by a suite of business 
assurance key performance indicators. The new 
approach will focus on key business areas, providing an 
integrated assurance mapping tool designed to identify 
and assess the type, performance and relationship of 
the sources of assurance across all lines of defence.

INVESTMENT AND ASSET MANAGEMENT (OPEN) LEGAL AND H&S COMPLIANCE (AVERSE) REGULATORY COMPLIANCE (MINIMALIST)

HOUSING SERVICES (OPEN)

REPUTATION (OPEN)

RESOURCING (OPEN)

TECHNOLOGY (CAUTIOUS)

TREASURY & LIQUIDITY (CAUTIOUS)

 • Compliance with the law and H&S regulations is a 
key organisational objective.

 • We have no appetite for being challenged.

 • We play ultra-safe and take all possible measures 
to ensure we are compliant.

 • We prefer to play safe on regulatory compliance 
matters as much as possible.

 • We only consider actions that have a low degree of 
inherent risk and where we are very confident that 
we can defend our position successfully.

 • We actively pursue innovation to challenge and 
improve on current working practices.

 • We have appetite for transformation provided that 
it is well controlled.

 • We want to deliver change at pace provided that 
we manage the risks well.

 • While we will not be careless about Hyde’s 
reputation, we are prepared say and do things 
that will promote and raise the profile of the 
organisation.

 • We will also take steps to defend Hyde where we 
feel this to be appropriate.

 • We will consider in-house resources and 
contractors or third parties and select the option 
that is most likely to result in successful delivery.

 • We are open to hiring people without sector 
experience into key roles, provided that they are 
robustly assessed.

 • We will routinely deal decisively with 
underperforming staff.

 • We are open to considering relocation of staff if  
it makes good business sense and the risks can  
be managed.

 • Maintaining the security and resilience of our 
system is important to us.

 • It is important that we ensure we get the 
basics right. We prefer incremental change to 
transformational change but will consider both 
approaches.

 • We prefer to use market-leading technology but 
will consider other options as appropriate and 
where the degree of inherent risk is low.

 • We set appropriate buffer limits for liquidity 
and covenant headroom and will operate within 
these limits by default, seeking Board approval 
in advance if we intend to exceed the limits 
temporarily.

 • We make sure more of our debts is fixed rate  
than variable.

 • We take steps to limit our short-term refinancing 
requirements.

 • We seek appropriate financing arrangements for 
our business and prefer to keep things simple.

 • We take steps to protect our credit rating and only 
take decisions that we are confident will not lead 
to a downgrade.

Hungry

Open

Cautious

Minimalist

Averse

Optimum risk appetite
Agreed by Group Board on 4 December 2017
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Group Housing 
Services Board

Group Audit 
Committee

Group Investment 
Committee

Group Treasury 
Committee

Risk areas 
covered

Operational risks: 
Regulatory, statutory 
(legal, health and 
safety), service and 
property standards, 
organisational change 
programme

Effectiveness of risk 
management systems

Development and 
growth risk for new 
build schemes, 
regeneration 
programme, land bank 
and joint ventures

Financial risks: 
Financial plan, treasury 
strategy and policy 
Loan portfolio 
restructuring, hedging, 
financing and 
headroom

How Formal review of 
operational risk each 
quarter, six month 
project review and 
horizon scan, monitor 
risk management each 
quarter

Review adequacy of 
the risk management 
methodology and the 
structures, processes 
and responsibility 
for identifying and 
managing key risks

Review risk profile and 
mitigation for every 
proposal, monitor 
whole portfolio risk, 
review delegation 
limits annually

Review of financial 
plan including 
assumptions, stress 
testing, review 
treasury/hedging 
strategy, assess 
viability, structure 
and terms for raising 
finance and use of 
financial instruments

Risks, uncertainties and governances
The Group Audit Committee reviews the arrangements for risk identification and management annually. Strategic 
risks, that might impact the delivery of the strategic plan, are monitored by the Group Board. Operational risks – 
those which may impact the provision of day-to-day services – are monitored by the Group Housing Services Board 
and the Group Investment Committee. These are refreshed annually, along with our strategic objectives. The table 
below provides an overview of our governance structure and how risks are considered and reviewed at each level.

To ensure risk management is part of everyday activities, the Executive Management Team reviews emerging 
issues monthly and reports impact, mitigation and a wider PESTLE analysis to each business meeting of the 
Committees and Group Board.

The top four risks from our Group Strategic Risk Register are as follows:

KEY RISK MITIGATION/ACTION

Operational environment 
impacts make the strategic 
plan unachievable 

Changes in availability of loan 
funding, government policy, 
future reduction in rents and 
capital grants and Welfare 
Reform (including changes to 
housing benefit rules), have 
been identified as key risks. 
Such changes could impact 
on our ability to deliver our 
development programme and 
also affect core activities, 
for example if rental arrears 
increase as a result of 
reductions in housing benefit.

 • We have a three year strategic plan supported by a ten year financial plan, 
annual business plan and an asset management strategy

 • Our Group Board undertakes a strategic review of our financial plan, 
including future funding options, sensitivity testing and contingency plans 
to ensure we have adequate resource to deliver committed activities and 
development

 • We monitor the impact of government policy interventions, including welfare 
reform, have established a welfare reform working group and have invested 
in prevention methods through Hyde Foundation

 • We take part in central government briefings, lobbying and working parties 
to inform the debate and influence decisions

 • We continue to enhance our financial stress testing and our asset and 
liabilities register in line with regulatory requirements

 • Our loan portfolio is largely fixed with long term staggered maturity profile 
resulting in low risk.

Fluctuations in the housing 
market adversely affect open 
market sales and shared 
ownership and adversely 
impacts housing programme 
delivery

Macroeconomic factors, such 
as a change in interest rates or 
a downturn in the overall health 
of the economy, could result in 
a fall in house prices, affecting 
our income and our ability to 
build more homes.

 • Where appropriate, we work with external partners through joint ventures to 
share development risk

 • We continuously review market conditions and values, and have a balanced 
geographical development programme

 • We have mitigation strategies in place in the event of a market downturn

 • We have reduced our development financing risks, by hedging or fixing our 
loans, to safeguard against interest rate increases

 • We have stress tested our financial plan to determine our ability to deal with 
fluctuations in the housing market and the potential impact of fluctuations 
described in the Bank of England guidance for stress testing the UK banking 
system.

Group Board
Strategic risks: Strategic plan milestones, treasury strategy, oversight of resource allocation. 

Formal review of strategic risk quarterly, six monthly strategic plan review and horizon, review of PESTLE  
and emerging risk issues monthly

Executive Management Team
Monitors emerging issues and risk management monthly, reviews risk categories quarterly, strategic plan 
review of milestones and six monthly review, change programme and horizon scan, delivers effective risk 

identification, monitoring, mitigation and management, KPI risk triggers effective, performance management 
embedded, reviews risk assessments for new business opportunities including mergers and acquisitions

PESTLE 

• Monthly
•  Review

EMERGING 
ISSUES

• Operational
• Audit
• Health and 

safety
• Governance

EMERGING 
ISSUES

• Sector
• Regulatory
• Statutory
• Accounting
• Policy
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We produce risk registers through identification of key risks, an initial assessment of causation and the likelihood 
and potential impact of the risk events occurring, to determine the inherent level of risk. This is then evaluated 
against any mitigation measures we have in place to provide a residual risk score. Our aim in the future is to 
produce a target risk score for both strategic and operational risks, using the risk appetite statements set by the 
Group Board as guiding principles.

KEY RISK MITIGATION/ACTION

Insufficient liquidity 

Inability to fund our asset 
investment or meet our 
obligations as they become 
due, leading to the need to 
dispose of social assets.

 • The Group Board approves the treasury strategy, treasury management 
policy and the financial plan annually

 • Our financial governance is reviewed by the regulator, credit rating agency 
and funders

 • The Scheme Appraisal Panel and Group Investment Committee review and 
monitor housing market conditions and major development programmes

 • Our revised financial plan has been approved by the regulator, following 
government policy announcements, and proactive steps have been taken 
ahead of receiving the policy details on Right to Buy and Pay to Stay

 • A plan is in place to provide our Group Board with assurance that we are 
monitoring and mitigating the risks associated with protecting our social 
assets which includes external validation

 • We have increased our financial capacity to £2,097.3m and have revised 
our minimum liquidity policy from £100m to £300m. This is sufficient in the 
Bank of England guidance for stress testing.

We fail to create the capacity to 
deliver our growth ambitions

 • We carry out monthly financial monitoring and testing of covenants based 
on actuals, budgets, quarterly reforecasts and financial plans over the next 
five years

 • We provide quarterly financial capacity monitoring to Group  
Investment Committee

 • Our development financing risks are reduced by hedging or fixing our loans 
to safeguard against increases in interest rates.

Hyde Group strategic risk map – Top four risks

Almost 
certain 5

Likely 4

Possible 3

Unlikely 2

Rare 1

1 2 3 4 5

Insignificant Minor Moderate Significant Major

Li
ke

lih
oo

d

Impact

1 2

3 4

Strategic Risk – after mitigation

1. Operational environment impacts make the 
strategic plan unachievable

2. Fluctuations in the housing market adversely 
affect open market sales and shared  
ownership and adversely impacts housing 
programme delivery

3. Insufficient liquidity

4. We fail to create the capacity to deliver our 
growth ambitions
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Health and safety
We are committed to providing a safe and healthy 
workplace for our employees and contractors, and a 
safe environment in which our customers can live. 
We regard the successful management of health and 
safety as essential to the delivery of our business.

We are committed to continual improvement in health 
and safety management within our housing stock and 
we achieve this through delivery of a comprehensive 
property health and safety compliance programme.

To further strengthen our property safety arrangements, 
we have an ongoing Primary Authority Partnership 
with London Fire Brigade (LFB). We value the benefits 
that our relationship with LFB provides, particularly 
the independent review of our fire safety procedures 
and verification of our on-site fire safety arrangements 
as part of a planned inspection programme. Our fire 
safety arrangements are further strengthened by a 
memorandum of understanding with LFB. The purpose 
of the memorandum is to build on the common interest 
that we and LFB have in identifying and protecting those 
vulnerable residents that are most at risk from fire.  
This is achieved through sharing of information  
and best practice.

We track a number of key health and safety 
performance indicators relating to our core housing 
operations, those undertaken by our direct labour 
organisation and construction site activity undertaken 
by our development partners. We continue to perform 
well in respect of accident frequency, lost day and 
reportable injury rates. Our health and safety training 
programme is targeted by role and includes mandatory 
elements for all staff.

 

Our health and safety arrangements are reviewed 
annually as part of the Contractors Health and Safety 
Assessment Scheme accreditation process. We also 
produce an annual health and safety plan, which is 
reviewed on a quarterly basis by our Health and  
Safety Committee.

Our employees are surveyed annually to measure 
perception and attitudes relating to health and safety. 
In seven of the eight factors measured, we better the 
‘all industry’ average scores provided by the Health and 
Safety Laboratory (a division of the Health and  
Safety Executive).

New Hyde homes in Maidstone, Kent
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Governance

Staff at Hyde’s head 
office at Park Street
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Group governance
The Group Board has adopted the NHF Code of 
Governance “Excellence in governance” as the 
governance code for the Group. In May 2018, the 
Group conducted a Group-wide self-assessment 
of compliance with the code. The results of the 
assessment were reported to the Group Board in May 
2018. The Group Board concluded that the Group 
complied with the code during the year. The overall 
governance of the Group and its subsidiaries is 
summarised as follows:  

The Group Board
The Group Board is the ultimate governing body of the 
Group. It has places for ten non-executive directors and 
two executive directors and meets regularly throughout 
the year. Four of these meetings are formal business 
meetings, the remainder are set aside for the Board 
to consider wider strategic issues. The Group places 
significant importance in attracting the right mix of 
skills and members receive remuneration to support 
this aim and compensate them for their time and effort. 
Members are drawn from a range of professional and 
business backgrounds such that there is an optimum 
mix of skills and expertise to fulfil the function of the 
Group Board. 

Delegation
The Group Board delegates some of its responsibilities 
to functional committees. Each of these committees 
has clear terms of reference and delegated authority. 
They report back to the Group Board after each meeting, 
where their recommendations are fully considered and 
approved where appropriate. 

Functional Committees
There are five main functional committees within the 
Group: the Group Audit Committee, the Group Housing 
Services Board, the Group Investment Committee, the 
Group Treasury Committee and the Group Remuneration 
and Appointments Committee. Each of these 
committees is chaired by a non-executive member of 
the Group Board. The functional committees have a 
Group-wide remit.

The Group Audit Committee
The role of this committee is to oversee the work of 
both the internal and external audit function and to 
oversee the risk management framework and internal 
control framework for the Group. The Committee 
reviews the audited financial statements for all parts of 
the Group and recommends them to the relevant Boards 
for approval. It is also responsible for recommending 
to the Group and subsidiary Boards the appointment 
of internal and external auditors and investigating any 
activity it thinks fit, or as may be referred to it. It submits 
an annual report on internal controls to the Group Board. 
Through the reports it receives, the Audit Committee 
gains comfort that the Group has appropriate systems 
of internal control and is able to comply with the 
Regulator of Social Housing expectations in  
this area. 

The Group Housing Services Board
The Group Housing Services Board (the “GHSB”) 
scrutinises executive performance in respect of the 
Group’s core business operations. It provides the 
Group Board with the reassurance that operational 
performance is subject to effective non-executive 
oversight.

In particular, GHSB scrutinises delivery of the Group’s 
service promise and its progress against ongoing 
operational work programmes and oversees the 
development of appropriate benchmarking criteria for 
internal and external validation of service performance, 
the identification and mitigation of statutory and 
regulatory risk (including health and safety) and the 
people issues, as they affect operational delivery.

The GHSB is also the hub for the Group’s common 
board model of governance for the registered provider 
subsidiaries in the Group. Its members are also the 
members of the boards of Martlet Homes Limited, Hyde 
Southbank Homes Limited and Hillside Housing Trust 
Limited (being Group subsidiaries). This enables the 
GHSB to oversee the operations of these subsidiaries 
and to meet simultaneously as the relevant Boards, 
where a particular Board approval is required.

The Group Investment Committee
The Group Investment Committee oversees and 
approves the Group’s property investment strategies, 
covering acquisition, capital expenditure, development, 
asset management and disposal. In particular, it 
scrutinises and approves the Group’s involvement in 
substantial urban regeneration and renewal projects. 

The Group Treasury Committee
The Group Treasury Committee provides detailed 
specialist oversight of the Group’s corporate finance and 
treasury-related activities and makes recommendations 
to or endorses courses of actions and proposals to  
the Group Board or Subsidiary Board for approval  
or appointment.  

The Group Remuneration and  
Appointments Committee
The Group Remuneration and Appointments Committee 
is responsible for setting the remuneration of board 
members and of the Executive Management Team. In 
addition, the Remuneration Committee oversees the 
process for board member appraisal and reviews the 
process for board member appointment. 

Group Board members and organisation 
executive directors
The present Group Board members and the members 
of the Executive Management Team are set out on page 
62. The Group Board members are drawn from a wide 
background, bringing together professional, commercial 
and housing and social experience. In recognition of 
the challenges facing the Board, and the time and effort 
they put into performing their duties, the Association 
remunerates Group Board members. No member of the 
Executive Management Team holds any interest in the 
Association’s shares and they act as executives within 
the authority delegated by the Group Board.

The Group Board

The Group  
Housing Services  

Board

The Group  
Audit  

Committee

The Group  
Treasury  

Committee

The Group  
Remuneration and 

Appointments 
Committee

The Group  
Investment 
Committee



60   |   Financial Statements and Annual Report | 31 March 2018 Financial Statements and Annual Report | 31 March 2018   |   61 

The Group structure
Charitable reserves
The Group adopts a number of methods to protect its 
charitable reserves. This involves ensuring we have 
enough cash to meet requirements.

 • We separate our regulated/publicly-funded/charitable 
activities from our commercial activities through 
the use of distinct legal entities for the latter. The 
use of distinct subsidiaries to carry out commercial 
activity on a non-recourse basis is intended to isolate 
the non-commercial activities of the Group from 
commercial risk

 • We have GHSB looking over regulated activity and 
GIC oversees all commercial and property activities.  
The chairs of both report back to each Group  
Board meeting

 • We manage the exposure and level of risk by 
setting delegations: for GIC, for investment levels 
in our commercial entities, by the hurdle rates for 
development (which vary according to tenure). 
GIC also oversees the Group’s strategic asset 
management policy. Joint ventures are usually 
entered into on a contractual basis, supplemented by 
JV-level formal governance

 • GIC terms of reference provide that new or unusual 
schemes require referral to Group Board

 • Strong governance over Treasury Management and 
Policy – the Board approves both and Board approval 
is required for entering into loans and charging of 
assets, oversight over inter-company lending, visibility 
of liquidity and  future needs development pipeline is 
maintained

 • Stress testing of the financial plan, we revisit this 
every year in setting annual parameters. The stress 
testing covers both Group and subsidiary covenants 
and liquidity need

 • Professional advice - lawyers advise on any joint 
venture deals and liabilities regarding regulatory and 
charity law aspects.

The registered providers themselves only focus on 
our existing affordable assets and tenants and the 
direct funding of affordable development. Residential 
development is kept ringfenced from the registered 
providers in our commercial entities, the surpluses 
of which are typically used to offset the cost of the 
affordable development programme. Such commercial 
activities are typically funded from our own reserves, 
arm’s length pre-approved loans from the registered 
providers and third party non-recourse finance.

Our governance and policies in place help us to protect 
our affordable assets, while also using these to help us 
develop and investment opportunities.

Hyde Housing Association

Registered Providers 
100% control

- Martlet Homes 
 Limited 

- Hyde Southbank  
Homes Limited 

- Hillside Housing  
Trust Limited 

Outright sale 
(Companies Act Entities)

- Hyde Vale Limited

Hyde Charitable 
Trust

Joint Ventures

- New Square Management Limited 

- Packington Square LLP 

- 51 College Road Harrow LLP

- London Home Builders Partnership LLP

- Harrow View LLP

- Homes for the City of Brighton & Hove LLP

- Kent Homebuilding Partnership LLP

- Homes for the City of Brighton and Hove 
Design & Build Company Ltd

Other vehicles 
(Companies Act Entities)

- Brent Co-Efficient 

- Hyde New Build Limited

- Hyde PRS Company 

- PLJ Camberwell

-
Hyde Housing 
Association Homes

Hillside
Housing Trust

Hyde 
Southbank 

Homes

5,000

10,000

15,000

20,000

25,000

30,000

35,000

Unit numbers per legal entity

2018

2017

Martlet
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Board and advisors
The Board

Mark Sebba (Chair) 
Elaine Bailey
David Banks (appointed 9 October 2017)
Alan Collett
Paul Cook  
Peter Denton 
Lynn Gilbert
Paula Hay-Plumb
Alastair Imrie
Duncan Ingram  
Piers White

Company Secretary

John Edwards  (resigned 31 May 2018)
Kerry Tromanhauser  (appointed 1 June 2018)

Registered Office

30 Park Street
London
SE1 9EQ
Tel: 020 3207 2600
Web: www.hyde-housing.co.uk

Bankers

National Westminster Bank Plc
143 High Street
Bromley
BR1 1JH

Solicitors

Devonshires
30 Finsbury Circus
London Wall
London
EC2M 7DT

Trowers and Hamlins
3 Bunhill Row
London
EC1Y 8YZ

Executive Management Team (EMT)

Elaine Bailey  Group Chief Executive
Peter Denton  Group Finance Director  
Tracy Allison  Group Director of Transformation & Business   
   Services
Steve Aleppo  Group Director of Corporate Services  
   (resigned 31 January 2018)
David Gannicott  Group Business Development Director
David Matthewman  Group Chief Information Officer     
   (appointed 1 February 2018)
Susan Stockwell Group Director of Customer Services and   
   Operations 
   (appointed 18 September 2017)
Chyrel Brown  Group Director of Housing     
   (interim appointed 1 April 2017 –    
   30 September 2017)

Independent Auditors

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and 
Statutory Auditors
1 Embankment Place
London
WC2N 6RH

Internal Auditors

Mazars LLP
Tower Bridge House
St Katharine’s Way
London
E1W 1DD

Board and committee operation

HOW WE THINK ABOUT BOARD REFRESHMENT*

Term limits: policy maximum 
term nine years (two at three 
year terms plus three at one year 
terms)

Annual Board Appraisal and 
collective appraisal every three 
years

Policy is to achieve a balance 
of knowledge of Hyde and fresh 
perspectives

In past five years: three new non-
executive Board members and 
five retired non-executive Board 
members

Tenure:  
Average: 4 years 3 months 
Longest: 6 years 2 months 
Shortest: 6 months 
Five Board members have served 
for more than five years

Average age at 
31 March 2018

61.5
Younger than 60
44%

AGE DIVERSITY*

Hyde retirement policy 
Hyde does not have a set 
retirement age

BOARD SIZE

2015 to date: 12 Board members 
including up to three co-options
2006–2015: 12 Board members 
plus up three co-options 
Pre 2006: 15 Board members  
plus up to five co-options
(non-executives)

BOARD ACCOUNTABILITY TO STAKEHOLDERS

Published Annual 
Review

Annual meetings 
between non-
executive directors 
and Resident 
Consultative Body

Regular liaison 
meetings with the 
sector’s regulator

Published Strategic 
Plan 2017-20

Published Hyde 
Foundation Impact 
Report

INDEPENDENT BOARD LEADERSHIP

DIVERSITY OF BACKGROUND

committee meetings 
during the year (all 

committees are 
independent).

18
visit to Hyde 

developments by 
Board members.

1
Annual assessment 

of governance 
effectiveness, review of 
compliance with NHF 
Code of Governance 
and board member 

appraisal. 

Board meetings during 
the year (two of which 

were by conference call), 
these included sessions 

without the executive 
present, as necessary.

10

One former senior 
partner of a 

professional practice 

Five former or current 
senior executive 

directors

Six former CEOs None from BME 
background

(Target: 19%)

Two women 
(Target: 50%)

12+8811.1% 19+810%

All Non-Executive 
Board members 
are independent 
– Group policy 
requirement.

55.5% 67% 22%

* Non-executives only
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Board members and membership

Members 
See page 62 and 67-68

Oversees 
Four quarter end performance based 
meetings plus extra meetings, usually by 
conference call as required
One meeting to consider and sign off 
“year end” related business, including 
audited accounts
Two dates set aside each year for Board 
strategic discussions
Annual governance effectiveness review 
and board appraisal in late spring
Quarterly meeting between the Group 
Chair and the Committee Chairs. 

Recent focus areas
 • Fire safety across the Group’s property 

portfolio
 • Financial capacity and Liquidity 

- £761m financial restructuring 
achieved

 • Five-year financial planning and 
corporate planning – short and 
medium term “Hyde 2030” 

 • Enhanced asset management strategy
 • Refined approach to risk appetite.

Members 
David Banks 
Paul Cook 
Piers White

Oversees 
Internal and external audit, Financial 
reporting, risk management, internal 
control and compliance. 

Recent focus areas
 • Regulatory “serious detriment” 

requirement – controls, risk and 
compliance KPIs

 • Data quality/integrity assurance and 
controls

 • Fire safety controls
 • IT security and GDPR readiness
 • Stakeholder reporting.

Members  
Lynn Gilbert 
Piers White 
Giles Clarke (Independent Co-optee) 
David Gannicott (Executive) 
Peter Denton (Executive)

Oversees 
Investment in new property development, 
investments in joint ventures, 
land banking, sales performance, 
development/market risk. 

Recent focus areas
 • Development capacity, joint ventures 

and levering in third party investment
 • Stock rationalisation – increasing 

stock density in core locations
 • Participation in large scale 

regeneration activities
 • Emerging new development strategy

Group Investment 
Committee (GIC)

Chair:  
Alan Collett 

Group Audit  
Committee (GAC) 
 
Chair:  
Paula Hay-Plumb 

Group Board 
 
Chair:  
Mark Sebba 
Vice Chair: 
Alan Collett

Members 
Alastair Imrie 
Piers White 
Paul Cook 
Mike Wells (Independent Co-optee) 
Jan Durbridge (Customer Representative)  
Jackie Puddifoot (Customer 
Representative) 
Tracy Allison (Executive)  
Susan Stockwell (Executive)

Oversees 
Operational performance including 
corporate services, IT strategy, 
operational risk, major change 
programmes.

Recent focus areas
 • Service Charges project
 • IT security, compliance and system 

resilience
 • New target operating model
 • Contractor performance and costs
 • Universal Credit roll out and 

challenges.

Members  
Paula Hay-Plumb 
Duncan Ingram 
Mark Sebba (ex officio)

Oversees 
Non-Executive and Executive 
remuneration, recruitment and 
appointment and member appraisal, 
senior leaders’ bonus scheme, CEO 
appointment and performance. Board 
and executive succession planning

Recent focus areas

 • Updated scheme rules for the senior 
leaders’ bonus scheme

 • Managing legacy pension risk and 
the closure to future accrual of the 
Group’s defined benefit schemes

 • Recruitment of two Non-Executive 
Directors

 • Non-Executive remuneration levels 
(three year review conducted).

Members  
Lynn Gilbert 
David Banks 
Peter Denton (Executive)

Oversees 
Corporate finance and treasury 
activities

Recent focus areas

 • Group hedging strategy
 • Financial plan stress testing
 • Funding requirements for enhanced 

asset management strategy

Group Housing 
Services Board 
(GHSB)

Chair:  
Duncan Ingram 

Group Remuneration 
& Appointments 
Committee (R&A)

Chair:  
Alastair Imrie

Group Treasury 
Committee 

Chair:  
Piers White

An active and  
engaged Board
We recruited four new board members (including 
a new Chair) and two new board committee 
members over the last five years and have plans 
to recruit one new board member in 2018.

2017:
Agreed principles which will inform Hyde’s 
strategic direction until 2030
Agreed the major restructuring of Hyde’s 
finances – involving £761m of facilities
Following the success of the Treasury Working 
Party, agreed the creation of the Group  
Treasury Committee
Agreed a new and consistent approach to  
Board and Committee reporting – both content 
and presentation.

2016: 
Oversaw ultimately unsuccessful merger talks 
with two other housing associations to form 
the sector’s largest organisation
Agreed new vision and values and new 
corporate strategy 
Agreed Hyde’s first anti-slavery statement as 
per the Modern Slavery Act 2015
Commissioned a third party analysis following 
the termination of merger discussions and 
considered the immediate strategic decisions 
we would need to make.

2015: 
Adopted 2015 NHF Code of Governance 

Agreed updated Board and Committee  
Code of Conduct 

Agreed a new constitution for Hyde 

Agreed improved ways of working with  
fewer board meetings and smaller board  
and committee memberships. 
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After the meeting 
Executive Team debrief – 
and agree responses to 

action points identified in 
the minutes

Day 2
MORNING:  

Group Audit Committee (and in May and 
November – Group Remuneration and 

Appointments Committee)

AFTERNOON: 
Group Board (including reports from 

each committee Chair).

Day 1
MORNING:  

Group Treasury Committee followed by 
Group Investment Committee

AFTERNOON:  
Group Housing Services Board

Before the meeting 
Executive Team meets to 

review final agenda and 
papers

Agendas and papers 
issued seven days 
beforehand

Meetings between 
relevant Board and 
Committee Chairs 
and Lead Executive 
Directors 

Meeting Cycle
A typical Hyde meeting cycle over two days  

– four times a year

BOARD MEMBER SKILLS AND EXPERIENCE (NON EXECUTIVES ONLY)

Strategic and change management 
Commercial

Customer service
Financial management/treasury

Legal
Marketing / PR

Audit and risk
Asset management 

Mergers and acquisitions
HR, learning and development

Political / regulation
Property / development

Community /social renewal

100%
100%
78%
67%
67%
67%
78%
55%
67%
55%
45%
33%
33%

9

9

7

6

6

6

7

5

6

5

4

3

3

GAC
R&A

GTC
GIC

GHSB
BOARD

10 1

6 3

9 5

9 3 6

10 4 1

10 5 5 6 1 2

Mark Sebba 
(Chair)

Age: 69 

Board Member 
Since: 2014

Mark is a Trustee of the Victoria & Albert Museum 
(V&A) and Chair of the V&A Enterprises Board. He is 
also a non-executive director of GP Bullhound Ltd. 
From 2003 to 2014, he was Chief Executive of The 
Net-A-Porter Group. Between 2010 and 2013, he was an 
independent non-executive Director of LMS Capital plc 
and non-executive Chairman of the Adjutant General’s 
Audit Committee from 2003 to 2008. He is a chartered 
accountant and worked as an investment banker in 
London and New York for some 20 years before moving 
into early stage media and new technology businesses. 
Mark has been a Council Member of the JCA Charitable 
Foundation since 1993.

David Banks

Age: 61 

Board Member 
Since: 2017

David is a Trustee of the Koestler Trust and of the 
Cheltenham Symphony Orchestra. He is a Chartered 
Accountant by profession and, until 2011, was Group 
Managing Director of the Care and Justice businesses 
of G4S plc.

Alan Collett

Age: 66 

Board Member 
Since: 2012

Alan is currently a member of NHBC Council, a director 
of M&G’s Residential Property Fund and an Honorary 
Fellow of the College of Estate Management. He is a 
Chartered Surveyor and was President of the RICS for 
2012/13. He has worked extensively in private sector 
housing development, investment and valuation, being 
senior and managing partner of Allsop LLP until his 
retirement.

Paul Cook

Age: 58 

Board Member 
Since: 2014

Paul is Managing Director of homes2inspire Ltd and 
an independent Director of the Independent Schools 
Inspectorate. Paul is a qualified social worker who has 
worked in senior management roles in the public and 
private sector in Children’s Services for over 30 years.

Lynn Gilbert

Age: 54

Board Member 
Since: 2015

Lynn is a Director and a Member of the Investment 
Committee at M&G Investments, having previously 
worked on real estate debt funds at Renshaw Bay. 
A banker by profession, Lynn has over 30 years of 
banking and real estate experience, which included 
leading commercial mortgage activity at Barclays 
Capital and at Morgan Stanley.

BOARD MEMBER’S EXPERIENCE NUMBER OF MEETINGS ATTENDED











CHAIR
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Paula Hay-Plumb

Age: 58 

Board Member 
Since: 2012

Paula is currently a Non-executive Director at the Crown 
Estate where she also chairs its Audit Committee. She 
is also a Non-Executive Board Member of the Oxford 
University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust, a Trustee 
and Audit Committee Chair of Calthorpe Estates and 
a Director of the Aberforth Smaller Companies Trust 
plc. Paula is an accountant by profession having held 
a number of senior finance positions in a range of 
organisations.

Alastair Imrie

Age: 70

Board Member 
Since: 2012

Alastair worked for BAE Systems PLC as Group Human 
Resources Director and as Group Managing Director for 
Shared Services. He was a member of BAE Systems 
Executive Committee. He is Vice Chair and Chair of the 
Governance Committee of David Lewis, an independent 
healthcare provider.

Duncan Ingram

Age: 62

Board Member 
Since: 2012

Duncan is currently Chair of the Children’s Trust, a 
Vice Chair of YMCA England & Wales, Chair of Faster 
Payment Scheme (and Chair of its Risk Committee), 
Paym and Laurence King Publishing. He is a Governor 
of the Kings College School in Wimbledon. He was 
Managing Director of the broadband and the customer 
service divisions at BT and group director responsible 
for London.

Piers White

Age: 56

Board Member 
Since: 2012

Piers is a Non-Executive director and Chair of 
Ploughshare Innovations and Courier Facilities Ltd. He 
is also a Board Member of Croydon College Further 
Education Corporation. He is a banker by profession 
and was UK Chief Executive of Bank Insinger de 
Beaufort NV, until the sale to BNP Paribas in 2008. Prior 
to that, he was Chairman of Flemings Offshore Private 
Banking, a Director of the Save and Prosper Group Ltd 
and spent 15 years at Barclays, where his last role was 
Service Director running all the UK branch staff.

BOARD MEMBERS EXPERIENCE NUMBER OF MEETINGS ATTENDED

GAC
R&A

GTC
GIC

GHSB
BOARD

9 6 2

10 5 2

8

8

5

5 5 6 1

2

10 5 5 6 1 2









CHAIR

CHAIR

CHAIR

CHAIR

Full biographies of Board members are available on the Hyde website, at www.hyde-housing.co.uk/corporate/about-us/our-people/group-board/

Viability statement
The Group Board has assessed the viability of the 
Group over five years to March 2023. This assessment 
has been made by reference to the current position 
of the Group, the approved budget for 2018-19, the 
approved five year financial plan and the principal risks 
set out previously in this strategic report, on pages 50 
to 53.

The Board has assessed the prospects of the Group 
over a period of five years in line with our typical 
business planning and risk management review period. 
Our operational, planning, development and external 
influences are all typically subject to a five year period.

The five year financial plan informs this assessment.  
It is considered to provide the most appropriate data, 
risk analysis and time frame for viability, given it is  
also used as the basis for our long term financial plan 
and the financial forecast return to the Regulator of 
Social Housing.

In approving the financial plan and making the 
assessment of viability, the Board have considered 
detailed information regarding:

 • Covenant compliance
 • Ongoing development programme, including 

contracted and planned major developments  
(page 34)

 • Treasury liquidity and capacity (page 44)
 • Stress testing (page 45)

The stress testing within the financial plan is based 
on the Bank of England (BoE) severe stress test and 
Standard & Poor’s’ moderate stress scenario. The 
overall change to our business planning, the refinancing 
and restructuring completed in the financial year, 
has resulted in Hyde passing these stresses, with an 
improved position to the prior year plan.

The Board has concluded, based on the extent of the 
financial planning process and strong financial position, 
that there is a reasonable expectation that the Group 
has adequate resources and will continue to operate 
and meet its liabilities as they fall due over the period  
of assessment.
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Statement of the Group Board’s 
responsibilities

Internal controls assurance 

The Group Board is responsible for preparing the 
Financial Statements and Annual Report in accordance 
with applicable law and regulations.

The Co-operative and Community Benefit Societies Act 
2014 and registered social housing legislation require 
the Board to prepare financial statements for each 
financial year which give a true and fair view of the state 
of affairs of the Private Registered Provider (PRP) and 
of the surplus or deficit for that period. In preparing 
these financial statements, the board is required to:

 • Select suitable accounting policies and then apply 
them consistently

 • Make judgements and estimates that are reasonable 
and prudent

 • State whether applicable accounting standards have 
been followed, subject to any material departures 
disclosed and explained in the financial statements

 • Prepare the financial statements on a going concern 
basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the 
PRP will continue in business.

The Group Board is responsible for keeping adequate 
accounting records that are sufficient to show 
and explain the transactions and which disclose, 
with reasonable accuracy at any time, the financial 
position of the PRP and to enable it to ensure that the 
financial statements comply with the Co-operative and 
Community Benefit Societies Act 2014, the Housing and 
Regeneration Act 2008 and the Accounting Direction 
for Social Housing in England from April 2015. It has 
general responsibility for taking reasonable steps to 
safeguard the assets of the PRP and to prevent and 
detect fraud and other irregularities.

 
 

The Group Board is responsible for ensuring that 
the Strategic Report includes a fair review of the 
development and performance of the business and the 
position of the Group and its subsidiaries included in 
the consolidation, together with the disclosure of the 
principal risks and uncertainties they face. Legislation 
in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and 
dissemination of financial statements may differ from 
legislation in other jurisdictions.

The Group Board is responsible for the maintenance 
and integrity of the Group’s website. 

The Group Board’s responsibility for establishing and 
maintaining the whole system of internal control and 
for reviewing its effectiveness is set out in the internal 
controls assurance statement below.

The Group Board is ultimately responsible for ensuring 
the Group establishes and maintains a system of 
internal control appropriate to the various business 
environments in which it operates. Such a system is 
designed to manage, rather than eliminate, the risk of 
failure to achieve business objectives and can only 
provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against 
material misstatement or loss.

The key elements in exercising control include:

1. Group Board approved terms of reference and 
delegated authorities for audit, operation and 
investment committees

2. Clearly defined management responsibilities 
for the identification, evaluation and control of 
significant risks

3. Robust strategies and business planning 
processes, with detailed financial budgets  
and forecasts

4. Formal recruitment, retention, training and 
development policies for all staff

5. Established authorisation and appraisal procedures 
for significant new initiatives and commitments

6. Robust treasury management, which is subject to 
external review each year

7. Regular reporting to the appropriate committee on 
key business objectives, targets and outcomes

8. Group Board approved whistle-blowing and anti-
theft and corruption procedures

9. Group Board approved fraud procedures, covering 
prevention, detection and reporting together with 
recoverability of assets

10. Regular monitoring of loan covenants and 
requirements for new loan facilities

11. Annual review of Regulator of Social Housing 
‘Economic and Consumer Standards’.

 

The Board confirms that it has a strategy and procedure 
for anti-fraud and corruption.

The system of internal controls is ongoing, and has 
been in place for the year to 31 March 2018 and up  
to the date of approval of the annual report and  
financial statements.

The Board recognises its responsibility for the system 
of internal control and for reviewing its effectiveness. 
The Group produces an annual review of internal 
controls. This provides assurances around external 
audit, internal control, internal audit, whistle blowing, 
risk management and performance monitoring.

The Board reviews annually the effectiveness of the 
system of internal controls in existence in the Group. 
This review includes a review of the fraud register. The 
Board confirms that all necessary actions are taken to 
remedy any significant failings or weaknesses which 
may have been identified during the review.

The Board cannot delegate ultimate responsibility 
for the system of internal control but has delegated 
authority to the Group Audit Committee to regularly 
review the effectiveness of the system of internal 
control. The Board receives Group Audit Committee 
quarterly reports and meeting minutes. The Group Audit 
Committee has received the Chief Executive’s ‘Annual 
review of the effectiveness of the system of internal 
control’ for the Group, and the annual report of the 
internal auditor, and has reported its findings to  
the Board.

The Board confirms no weaknesses were found in the 
internal controls for the year ended 31 March 2018 
which might otherwise have resulted in material losses, 
contingencies or uncertainties which require disclosure 
in the financial statements.
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Statements of compliance, Regulator of 
Social Housing Governance and Financial 
Viability Standard 2017-18
The Group Board confirms that the Annual Report has 
been prepared in accordance with the principles set 
out in paragraphs 4.6 and 4.7 of the 2014 SORP for 
registered social landlords. 

The Group has undertaken an assessment of 
compliance with the Regulator of Social Housing’s 
Governance and Financial Viability Standard for the 
period April 2017 to March 2018, as required by the 
Accounting Direction for Private Providers of Registered 
Social Housing from April 2015. The Group Board can 
confirm that during the year in question, the Group has 
complied with the Governance and Financial Viability 
Standard. 

Post balance sheet event
Following the reporting period, additional housing 
property transfers to other registered providers of social 
housing have occurred, with 803 Group (803 HHA) 
properties sold for £54.0m from deals agreed prior to 
the 31 March 2018 but completing before the date of 
signing the accounts. Additionally in July 2018, Hyde 
PRS Company Limited completed on the sale of 54 PRS 
units sold for £19.2m. In June 2018, we terminated two 
RPI swaps. These derivative financial liabilities have 
been de-recognised from the balance sheet in June 
2018; resulting in a fair value gain of £4m. 

Principal activities of the Group
The Hyde Group is one of the largest property 
management and development groups in London and 
the south east. We build, rent, sell and manage homes, 
provide employment and training opportunities to over 
100,000 residents.

Going concern
The Group Board has a reasonable expectation that the 
Association and the Group has adequate resources to 
continue in operational existence for the foreseeable 
future. These financial statements are prepared on a 
going concern basis. 

Independent auditors
A resolution to re-appoint PricewaterhouseCoopers 
LLP (PwC) as external auditors was passed at the 
2017 Annual General Meeting (AGM). The tender of the 
statutory audit is planned and a resolution to appoint 
the successful applicant will be proposed in due course. 

Mark Sebba 
Chair 
19 July 2018

A Hyde Property Manager on an estate inspection
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Independent auditors’ report 
to the members of Hyde 
Housing Association Limited
Report on the audit of the financial 
statements

Opinion
In our opinion, Hyde Housing Association Limited’s 
group financial statements and parent financial 
statements (the “financial statements”):

 • Give a true and fair view of the state of the Group’s 
and parent’s affairs as at 31 March 2018 and of the 
Group’s and the parent’s surplus and the Group’s cash 
flows for the year then ended

 • Have been properly prepared in accordance with 
United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting 
Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards, 
comprising FRS 102 “The Financial Reporting 
Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of 
Ireland”, and applicable law)

 • Have been properly prepared in accordance with 
the Co-operative and Community Benefit Societies 
Act 2014, the Co-operative and Community Benefit 
Societies (Group Accounts) Regulations 1969, 
the Housing and Regeneration Act 2008 and the 
Accounting Direction for Private Registered Providers 
of Social Housing from April 2015.

We have audited the financial statements, included 
within the Financial Statements and Annual Report (the 
“Annual Report”), which comprise: the Group and parent 
statements of financial position as at 31 March 2018, 
the Group and parent statements of comprehensive 
income, the Group and parent statements of changes 
in reserves, and the Group statement of cash flows 
for the year then ended; and the notes to the financial 
statements, which include a description of the 
significant accounting policies.

Our opinion is consistent with our reporting to the Group 
Audit Committee.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with 
International Standards on Auditing (UK) (“ISAs (UK)”) 
and applicable law. Our responsibilities under ISAs (UK) 
are further described in the Auditors’ responsibilities 
for the audit of the financial statements section of 
our report. We believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion. 

Independence

We remained independent of the Group in accordance 
with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our 
audit of the financial statements in the UK, which 
includes the FRC’s Ethical Standard, as applicable to 
listed public interest entities, and we have fulfilled our 
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these 
requirements.

To the best of our knowledge and belief, we declare 
that non-audit services prohibited by the FRC’s Ethical 
Standard were not provided to the Group or the parent.

Other than those disclosed in note 6 to the financial 
statements, we have provided no non-audit services to 
the Group or the parent in the period from 1 April 2017 
to 31 March 2018.

 
 
 
 
 

Our audit approach
Overview 

 
 

Materiality

Audit scope

Key audit 
matters

 • Overall Group materiality: £4.5 million, based on 5% of 
surplus before tax (adjusted to exclude other finance 
costs – refinancing costs and the impact of derivatives).

 • Overall parent materiality: £2.4 million, based on 1% of 
total revenues.

 • We conducted a full scope audit of the parent and eight 
trading entities and one joint venture. The remaining 
entities within the Group were not significant from the 
perspective of the Group.

 • Risk of fraud in revenue recognition (Group and parent).

 • Impairment of land and property assets (Group and parent).

 • Accounting for fire safety costs (Group and parent).

 • Accounting for defined benefit pension schemes  
(Group and parent).

 • Accounting for financial instruments (Group and parent).
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The scope of our audit
As part of designing our audit, we determined 
materiality and assessed the risks of material 
misstatement in the financial statements. In 
particular, we looked at where the directors made 
subjective judgements, for example in respect of 
significant accounting estimates that involved making 
assumptions and considering future events that are 
inherently uncertain. 

We gained an understanding of the legal and regulatory 
framework applicable to the Group and the industry 
in which it operates, and considered the risk of acts 
by the Group which were contrary to applicable laws 
and regulations, including fraud. We designed audit 
procedures at group and significant component level 
to respond to the risk, recognising that the risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement due to fraud is higher 
than the risk of not detecting one resulting from error, 
as fraud may involve deliberate concealment by, for 
example, forgery or intentional misrepresentations, or 
through collusion. We focused on laws and regulations 
that could give rise to a material misstatement in the 
Group and parent financial statements, including, but 
not limited to, the Co-operative and Community Benefit 
Societies Act 2014, the Co-operative and Community 
Benefit Societies (Group Accounts) Regulations 1969, 
the Housing and Regeneration Act 2008 and the 
Accounting Direction for Private Registered Providers 
of Social Housing from April 2015. Our tests included, 
but were not limited to, review of the financial statement 
disclosures to underlying supporting documentation, 
review of correspondence with the Regulator of Social 
Housing, review of correspondence with legal advisors, 
enquiries of management, and review of internal 
audit reports in so far as they related to the financial 
statements. There are inherent limitations in the audit 
procedures described above and the further removed 
non-compliance with laws and regulations is from 
the events and transactions reflected in the financial 
statements, the less likely we would become aware of it.

We did not identify any key audit matters relating to 
irregularities, including fraud. As in all of our audits 
we also addressed the risk of management override 
of internal controls, including testing journals and 
evaluating whether there was evidence of bias by 
the directors that represented a risk of material 
misstatement due to fraud. 

Key audit matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in the auditors’ 
professional judgement, were of most significance 
in the audit of the financial statements of the current 
period and include the most significant assessed 
risks of material misstatement (whether or not due to 
fraud) identified by the auditors, including those which 
had the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy; 
the allocation of resources in the audit; and directing 
the efforts of the engagement team. These matters, 
and any comments we make on the results of our 
procedures thereon, were addressed in the context of 
our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and 
in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide 
a separate opinion on these matters. This is not a 
complete list of all risks identified by our audit.

 
 
 
 

Key audit matter
How our audit addressed the 
key audit matter

Risk of fraud in revenue recognition

Group and parent

See note 1 to the financial statements for the Group’s 
and parent’s disclosures of significant accounting 
policies relating to the recognition of revenue, and notes 
3 and 4 for further information.

The three main sources of revenue for the Group are 
rental and service charge income, income from property 
sales and other income.

We focused on these areas because there is a 
heightened risk as follows:

 • Social lettings rental and service charge income – 
the Group recognised £217.8m for the year ended 
31 March 2018. The housing management system 
is used by the Group to record and track properties 
and tenancies, which are then recorded through 
journal entries on the general ledger. There is risk 
of a fictitious property or tenancy being set up on, 
amended or removed from the housing management 
system incorrectly resulting in a transaction recorded 
on the general ledger not being valid. There is also 
a risk of the application of inaccurate rent or rent 
weeks during the financial year. This consideration 
applies to social, market and commercial rental 
income as well as service charge income

 • Income from property sales – the Group recognised 
£75.3m for the year ended 31 March 2018. There 
is a risk of the recognition of property sales being 
recorded in the incorrect period around year-end in 
order to meet certain property sales targets

 • Other income – the Group recognised £46.5m 
for the year ended 31 March 2018. This includes 
management fees, grant amortisation, agency, 
management contracts, rent to buy, other 
management costs, charges for support services, 
leaseholder income and other income. The 
recognition of other income presents a higher risk 
as revenue may be deferred into the next year once 
the likely year-end position is known to be in line with 
expectation for the Group.

We evaluated and tested the accounting policies 
for revenue recognition against the requirements 
of FRS 102 and the Statement of Recommended 
Practice “Accounting by Registered Social 
Landlords” updated in 2014 (SORP).

We traced a sample of properties on the housing 
management system to the new property template, 
void form or property close form to check properties 
were set up, amended or removed appropriately.

We traced a sample of tenancies on the housing 
management system to the tenancy agreement, 
mutual exchange document, board minutes, solicitor 
letter, or notice to quit form to check tenancies were 
set up, amended or removed appropriately.

We performed data analytics over rental income to 
test the completeness and accuracy of the rents 
charged per the housing management system. We 
tested the reconciliation between the general ledger 
and the housing management system. We then 
sampled properties with unusual characteristics 
from the data analytics to check these were 
appropriate and not indicative of any misstatement.

We tested service charge income in the year and 
agreed these to amounts charged according to 
service charge budgets on a sample basis.

Income from the sale of properties was tested by 
tracing sampled transaction to invoices, contracts 
or completion statements and cash received to 
determine that the sale was recognised in the 
correct period.

Other income was tested by tracing sampled 
transactions to underlying records, which 
comprised invoices and other third party supporting 
documentation, to determine whether the revenue 
was recognised in the correct period.

No material exceptions were noted from our testing.
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Key audit matter Key audit matter
How our audit addressed the 
key audit matter

How our audit addressed the 
key audit matter

Impairment of land and property assets

Group and parent

See note 1 to the financial statements for the Group’s 
and parent’s disclosures of the related accounting 
policies, judgements and estimates relating to the 
impairment review undertaken, and notes 17 and 23 for 
further information including the determination of the 
Cash Generating Unit and calculation of Recoverable 
Amount for social housing properties.

Land and property assets are made up of the following 
balances:

 • Housing properties - the Group has £2,865.0m of 
completed housing properties as at 31 March 2018, 
which are held to rent and are measured at cost less 
depreciation

 • Housing properties and stock under construction- 
there are also properties under construction of 
£332.2m

 • Completed stock - there is £7.3m of stock which is 
held for sale and is measured at cost. 

All land and property assets are subject to an 
impairment review if an impairment trigger event 
occurs. This includes where a contractor or 
development issues are experienced, or land is held 
without planning permission or approved scheme 
development appraisals, or where completed property 
assets held for sale remain unsold at the year end, or 
where completed housing properties held to rent have 
long-term voids or other indicators such as physical 
damage.

Careful monitoring of impairment exposure is necessary 
to ensure property values are fairly stated. The Group’s 
development plans also carry financial risks.

The Group considered there to be one impairment 
indicator for 2017/18 in relation to fire safety costs.

Accounting for fire safety costs

Group and parent

See note 1 to the financial statements for the Group’s 
and parent’s disclosures of the accounting policies, 
judgements and estimates, relating to the capitalisation 
of expenditure, and notes 2, and 31 for further 
information.

The Group has undertaken a fire safety programme 
across its land and property assets during the year.

At the year-end, this has included the removal and 
planned replacement of cladding from several buildings. 
As a result, the Group has incurred fire safety costs 
during the year.

Consideration was needed as to whether a legal or 
constructive obligation arose from the Group’s actions, 
for example through communications to residents 
regarding the replacement of cladding on certain 
buildings. Provisions raised totalled £10.8m. £5.7m of 
these costs were capital in nature with a corresponding 
asset recognised, with the remaining non-capital costs 
recognised as an expense. £2.0m of existing costs were 
written-off from the balance sheet.

Where costs were capitalised, then component 
accounting needed to be applied. 

We obtained the Group’s impairment assessment 
for housing properties that were affected by 
fire safety costs, focusing particularly on the 
methodology applied. We performed sample testing 
to check the calculations were appropriate. 

For stock and properties in the course of 
development, we obtained a sample of scheme 
appraisals to understand that these developments 
remained on forecast.

For stock, we assessed those properties that were 
unsold at year end in order to check that their 
carrying values were recoverable. This was done by 
tracing a sample of individual properties sold after 
the year end or prices for similar properties if the 
properties remained unsold.

No material exceptions were noted from our testing.

We examined the nature of fire safety costs incurred 
during financial year. We tested a sample of the 
costs to examine and challenge whether they were 
expensed or capitalised, including the write-off of 
any existing costs replaced as a result of the works. 

In order to assess the completeness of such costs, 
we examined the communications with residents 
and cost estimates for works where cladding is to 
be removed from buildings. We also considered 
if this evidence met the criteria to recognise a 
provision. As part of this procedure, we also 
considered the appropriateness of the costs to be 
capitalised.

We also read the disclosures of the Group to check 
the disclosure of such costs and that they were 
compliant with FRS 102.

No material exceptions were noted from our testing.
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Key audit matter Key audit matter
How our audit addressed the 
key audit matter

How our audit addressed the 
key audit matter

Accounting for defined benefit pension schemes

Group and parent

See note 1 and note 37 to the financial statements for 
the Group’s and parent’s disclosures of the accounting 
policies and assumptions used for its defined benefit 
pension schemes.

The Group participates in four defined benefit pension 
schemes:

 • The Hyde Housing Association Limited Defined 
Benefits Scheme

 • The London Borough of Lambeth Pension Fund 
Scheme

 • The Kent County Council Pension Fund Scheme

 • The West Sussex County Council Pension Fund 
Scheme.

The Group’s share of assets and liabilities from the 
schemes are recognised in the financial statements to 
show the net pension position of each scheme. There 
are net pension liabilities of £11.2m, £0.9m, £1.4m 
and net pension assets of £0.1m respectively for these 
schemes.

The valuation of the defined benefit pension schemes 
requires the use of several actuarial assumptions.  
There is a risk that an incorrect actuarial assumption 
may be used. 

The key actuarial assumptions are the discount rate, 
demographics, inflation, salary increases, pension 
increases and asset returns.

Accounting for financial instruments 

Group and parent

See note 1 to the financial statements for the Group’s 
and parent’s disclosures of the accounting policies, 
judgements and estimates, relating to the fair value of 
financial instruments, and notes 20 and 28 for further 
information.

The Group has £1.2m of financial assets and £176.0m 
of financial liabilities recognised as at 31 March 2018. 
The Group uses external valuations to determine the fair 
value of its financial derivatives.

The Group applies the recognition and measurement 
methodology of IAS 39 – Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and measurement, as is permitted by FRS 
102. The key assumption in the measurement and 
valuation of financial derivatives is with reference to 
market inputs. This is an area material estimates and 
judgements. 

There is also an ongoing risk in applying hedge 
accounting for transactions relating to financial assets 
and liabilities.

We considered the key areas of focus to be the 
assumptions used to estimate the valuation of 
derivatives.

Lastly, any future changes to the portfolio of financial 
instruments (such as restructures to existing 
arrangements) may result in complex accounting 
requirements that need to be carefully considered. 
During the year, the Group restructured its portfolio, 
resulting in £88.9m break costs being incurred. 

We used pension experts to assess the key actuarial 
assumptions. The actuarial assumptions used fall 
within our expected ranges.

We read the disclosures of the Group to check the 
disclosure of the Group’s defined benefit pension 
schemes and that they were compliant with  
FRS 102.

No material exceptions were noted from our testing.

We evaluated and tested the accounting policy for 
the valuation of financial instruments to check that 
it is consistent with the requirements of FRS 102.

We evaluated and tested the accounting and hedge 
effectiveness for financial instruments, as well as 
the recognition of break costs incurred, against the 
requirements of IAS 39.

We also used treasury valuation experts to assess 
the reasonableness of the key assumptions and 
valuations of the Group’s financial derivatives.  
The key assumptions used fall within the  
expected ranges. 

We tested a sample of valuations based on the 
assumptions available from the valuers and  
market data. 

We read the disclosures of the Group to check the 
disclosure of the key financial instruments and that 
they were compliant with FRS 102.

No material exceptions were noted from our testing.
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How we tailored the audit scope
We tailored the scope of our audit to ensure that we 
performed enough work to be able to give an opinion 
on the financial statements as a whole, taking into 
account the structure of the Group and the parent, the 
accounting processes and controls, and the industry in 
which they operate.

The Group comprises the parent and eight trading 
entities, nine joint venture entities and one dormant 
entity.

We scoped all trading entities and one joint venture to 
audit for group reporting purposes because they all 
required individual statutory audits.

For all the remaining entities, we performed Group level 
analytical and specified procedures over the out of 
scope components to re-examine our assessment that 
there were no significant risks of material misstatement 
within these.

The full scope audits by the Group and component team 
covered 100% of Group revenue and 100% of Group  
total assets. 
 

 

Materiality
The scope of our audit was influenced by our 
application of materiality. We set certain quantitative 
thresholds for materiality. These, together with 
qualitative considerations, helped us to determine the 
scope of our audit and the nature, timing and extent 
of our audit procedures on the individual financial 
statement line items and disclosures and in evaluating 
the effect of misstatements, both individually and in 
aggregate on the financial statements as a whole. 

Based on our professional judgement, we determined 
materiality for the financial statements as a whole 
below.

For each component in the scope of our Group audit, we 
allocated a materiality that is less than our overall Group 
materiality. The range of materiality allocated across 
components was between £163,940 and £3,075,400. 
Certain components were audited to a local statutory 
audit materiality that was less than our overall group 
materiality.

We agreed with the Group Audit Committee that we 
would report to them misstatements identified during 
our audit above £227,000 (Group audit) and £121,200 
(parent audit) as well as misstatements below those 
amounts that, in our view, warranted reporting for 
qualitative reasons.

Conclusions relating to going concern
We have nothing to report in respect of the following 
matters in relation to which ISAs (UK) require us to 
report to you when: 

 • The directors’ use of the going concern basis 
of accounting in the preparation of the financial 
statements is not appropriate

 • The directors have not disclosed in the financial 
statements any identified material uncertainties that 
may cast significant doubt about the Group’s and 
parent’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern 
basis of accounting for a period of at least twelve 
months from the date when the financial statements 
are authorised for issue.

However, because not all future events or conditions 
can be predicted, this statement is not a guarantee  
as to the Group’s and parent’s ability to continue as a 
going concern. 

Reporting on other information 
The other information comprises all of the information 
in the Annual Report other than the financial statements 
and our auditors’ report thereon. The directors are 
responsible for the other information. Our opinion 
on the financial statements does not cover the other 
information and, accordingly, we do not express an 
audit opinion or, except to the extent otherwise explicitly 
stated in this report, any form of assurance thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, 
our responsibility is to read the other information and, 
in doing so, consider whether the other information is 
materially inconsistent with the financial statements 
or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise 
appears to be materially misstated. If we identify 
an apparent material inconsistency or material 
misstatement, we are required to perform procedures 
to conclude whether there is a material misstatement 
of the financial statements or a material misstatement 
of the other information. If, based on the work we 
have performed, we conclude that there is a material 
misstatement of this other information, we are required 
to report that fact. We have nothing to report based on 
these responsibilities.

Based on the responsibilities described above and our 
work undertaken in the course of the audit, ISAs (UK) 
require us also to report certain opinions and matters 
as described below.

Annual Report
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the 
course of the audit, the information given in the Annual 
Report for the year ended 31 March 2018 is consistent 
with the financial statements and has been prepared in 
accordance with applicable legal requirements. 

In light of the knowledge and understanding of the 
Group and parent and their environment obtained in 
the course of the audit, we did not identify any material 
misstatements in the Annual Report.  
 
Responsibilities for the financial statements 
and the audit
Responsibilities of the directors for the financial 
statements

As explained more fully in the Statement of the Group 
Board’s Responsibilities set out on page 70, the 
directors are responsible for the preparation of the 
financial statements in accordance with the applicable 
framework and for being satisfied that they give a true 
and fair view. The directors are also responsible for 
such internal control as they determine is necessary to 
enable the preparation of financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are 
responsible for assessing the Group’s and the parent’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing 
as applicable, matters related to going concern and 
using the going concern basis of accounting unless 
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or 
the parent or to cease operations, or have no realistic 
alternative but to do so.

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial 
statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a 
high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that 
an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will 
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, 
they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of 
these financial statements. 

Group financial statements Parent financial statements

Overall 
materiality

£4.5 million. £2.4 million.

How we 
determined it

5% of surplus before tax (adjusted to exclude 
other finance costs – refinancing costs and the 
impact of derivatives).

1% of total revenues.

Rationale for 
benchmark 
applied

Based on the benchmarks used in the Annual 
Report, surplus before tax (adjusted to exclude 
other finance costs - refinancing costs and the 
impact of derivatives) is the primary measure 
used by the directors in assessing the underlying 
performance of the Group, and is a generally 
accepted auditing benchmark for surplus 
orientated entities. 

We believe that total revenues is the 
primary measure used by the directors in 
assessing the performance of the parent, 
and is a generally accepted auditing 
benchmark for entities with social 
objectives. 
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A further description of our responsibilities for the audit 
of the financial statements is located on the FRC’s 
website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. 
This description forms part of our auditors’ report.

 
Use of this report

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared 
for and only for the parent’s members as a body in 
accordance with Section 87 (2) and Section 98 (7) of 
the Co-operative and Community Benefit Societies Act 
2014 and Section 128 of the Housing and Regeneration 
Act 2008 and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving 
these opinions, accept or assume responsibility for 
any other purpose or to any other person to whom this 
report is shown or into whose hands it may come save 
where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.

 
Other required reporting
Co-operative and Community Benefit Societies Act 
2014 exception reporting

Under the Co-operative and Community Benefit 
Societies Act 2014 we are required to report to you if, in 
our opinion:

 • a satisfactory system of control over transactions 
has not been maintained; or

 • we have not received all the information and 
explanations we require for our audit; or

 • proper accounting records have not been kept by the 
parent; or

 • the parent financial statements are not in agreement 
with the accounting records.

We have no exceptions to report arising from this 
responsibility.  

Appointment

Following the recommendation of the Group Audit 
Committee, we were first appointed by the directors 
to audit the financial statements for the year ended 
31 March 2005 and subsequent financial periods. The 
period of total uninterrupted engagement is 14 years, 
covering the years ended 31 March 2005 to 31 March 
2018.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this 
independent auditors’ report is Pauline Campbell.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
London
Date: 24 July 2018

A family of Hyde residents, Maidstone
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GROUP

NOTE Pre- 
derivatives 

2018
£’000

Impact of 
derivatives

2018
£’000

Post- 
derivatives

2018
£’000

Pre- 
derivatives

2017
£’000

Impact of 
derivatives

2017
£’000

Post- 
derivatives

2017
£’000

Turnover 3, 4 339,560 - 339,560 315,658 - 315,658

Operating expenditure 3, 4 (244,731) - (244,731) (223,723) - (223,723)

Surplus on disposal of other housing 
assets

7 66,198 - 66,198 64,029 - 64,029

Operating surplus 6 161,027 - 161,027 155,964 - 155,964

(Loss)/Surplus on sale of other assets 8 (37) - (37) 20 - 20

(Loss)/Surplus on sale of investments 9 (4) - (4) 8 - 8

Share of operating surplus in Joint 
Ventures

10 - - - 5,266 - 5,266

Interest receivable 11 2,016 30,597 32,613 2,042 1,204 3,246

Interest payable 12 (72,174) (4,349) (76,523) (70,450) (37,994) (108,444)

Other finance costs - refinancing costs 12 (88,918) - (88,918) - - -

Other finance costs - pension 37 (592) - (592) (233) - (233)

Movement in fair value of investment 
property

21 1,434 - 1,434 4,587 - 4,587

Movement in fair value of other 
investments

21, 27 (918) - (918) 1,239 - 1,239

Surplus/(deficit) before tax 1,834 26,248 28,082 98,443 (36,790) 61,653

Taxation 13 (11) - (11) (30) - (30)

Distribution of reserves 14 - - - - - -

Surplus/(deficit) for the year 1,823 26,248 28,071 98,413 (36,790) 61,623

Other comprehensive income

Actuarial gain/(loss) in respect of 
pension schemes

37 11,659 - 11,659 (14,296) - (14,296)

Minority interests (22) - (22) (131) - (131)

Other revenue reserve movements 100 - 100 (121) - (121)

Total other  
comprehensive income

11,737 - 11,737 (14,548) - (14,548)

Total comprehensive income for the 
year

13,560 26,248 39,808 83,865 (36,790) 47,075

Revenue reserve brought forward 377,893 330,818

Revenue reserve carried forward 417,701 377,893

Total comprehensive income 
attributable to:

- owners of the parent 13,538 26,248 39,786 83,734 (36,790) 46,944

- non-controlling interests 22 - 22 131 - 131

ASSOCIATION

NOTE Pre- 
derivatives 

2018
£’000

Impact of 
derivatives

2018
£’000

Post- 
derivatives

2018
£’000

Pre- 
derivatives 

2017
£’000

Impact of 
derivatives

2017
£’000

Post- 
derivatives

2017
£’000

Turnover 3, 4 242,404 - 242,404 219,236 - 219,236

Operating expenditure 3, 4 (179,433) - (179,433) (162,858) - (162,858)

Surplus on disposal of other housing 
assets

7 70,167 - 70,167 53,494 - 53,494

Operating surplus 6 133,138 - 133,138 109,872 - 109,872

(Loss)/Surplus on sale of other assets 8 (37) - (37) - - -

(Loss)/Surplus on sale of investments 9 (4) - (4) 8 - 8

Share of operating surplus in joint 
ventures

10 - - - - - -

Interest receivable 11 5,365 25,798 31,163 6,669 1,182 7,851

Interest payable 12 (57,512) (3,649) (61,161) (54,140) (31,206) (85,346)

Other finance costs - refinancing costs 12 (69,411) - (69,411) - - -

Other finance costs - pension 37 (546) - (546) (187) - (187)

Movement in fair value of investment 
property

21 285 - 285 3,171 - 3,171

Movement in fair value of other 
investments

21, 27 (944) - (944) 145 - 145

Surplus/(deficit) before tax 10,334 22,149 32,483 65,538 (30,024) 35,514

Taxation 13 - - - - - -

Distribution of reserves 14 6,840 - 6,840 12,358 - 12,358

Surplus/(deficit) for the year 17,174 22,149 39,323 77,896 (30,024) 47,872

Other comprehensive income

Actuarial gain/(loss) in respect of 
pension schemes

37 9,980 - 9,980 (13,792) - (13,792)

Minority interests - - - - - -

Other revenue reserve movements (64) - (64) 8 - 8

Total other  
comprehensive income

9,916 - 9,916 (13,784) - (13,784)

Total comprehensive income for the 
year

27,090 22,149 49,239 64,112 (30,024) 34,088

Revenue reserve brought forward 182,148 148,060

Revenue reserve carried forward 231,387 182,148

Total comprehensive income 
attributable to:

- owners of the parent 27,090 22,149 49,239 64,112 (30,024) 34,088

- non-controlling interests - - - - - -

Statement of Comprehensive Income FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018

The turnover, surpluses and deficits for the current year and previous year relate to continuing activities. Items are not included within operating 
surplus when they are considered to be outside of the Group’s core activities. 

The Group reports the results before and after reflecting the impact of fair value changes in derivative financial instruments.
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

As at 31 March 2018

GROUP ASSOCIATION

NOTE
2018

£’000
2017

£’000
2018

£’000
2017

£’000

Fixed assets

Housing properties at cost 17 3,264,082 3,178,261 2,750,891 2,682,707

Accumulated depreciation and 
impairment

17 (309,651) (282,863) (261,613) (240,322)

Net book value of housing properties 17 2,954,431 2,895,398 2,489,278 2,442,385

Intangible fixed assets 18 341 313 341 313

Other fixed assets 19 18,677 19,590 13,846 14,679

Derivative financial instruments: 
assets

20 1,168 24,929 1,168 24,929

Investments in joint ventures 10 26,475 - - -

Investments 21 58,075 57,175 41,515 37,784

Debtors: amounts falling due after 
more than one year

22 54,830 34,488 104,097 128,738

3,113,997 3,031,893 2,650,245 2,648,828

Current assets  

Inventory 23 250,072 182,716 46,375 64,888

Debtors: amounts falling due within 
one year

24 35,814 31,313 55,600 33,145

Cash and cash equivalents 25 80,471 44,514 51,511 28,211

Less: creditors: amounts falling due 
within one year

26 (147,262) (129,267) (133,820) (117,032)

Net current assets 219,095 129,276 19,666 9,212

 

Total assets less current liabilities 3,333,092 3,161,169 2,669,911 2,658,040

 

Creditors: amounts falling due after 
more than one year

27 (2,707,514) (2,427,264) (2,277,518) (2,165,770)

Derivative financial instruments: 
liabilities

28 (175,993) (327,629) (138,182) (285,019)

Recycled capital grant fund 29 (24,982) (24,364) (24,926) (24,331)

Disposal proceeds fund 30 (492) (1,456) (213) (1,177)

Provisions for liabilities  
- other provisions

31 (15,216) (3,823) (9,495) (3,815)

- pension provisions 37 (13,320) (24,785) (12,918) (23,245)

(2,937,517) (2,809,321) (2,463,252) (2,503,357)

 

Total net assets 395,575 351,848 206,659 154,683

Reserves  

Called up share capital - - - -

Revenue reserve 417,701 377,893 231,387 182,148

Cash flow hedge reserve (26,494) (29,832) (24,980) (27,465)

Restricted reserve 2,372 1,813 252 -

Total before minority interests 393,579 349,874 206,659 154,683

Minority interests 1,996 1,974 - -

Total reserves 395,575 351,848 206,659 154,683

These financial statements on pages 88-93 were authorised to issue by the Board on 19 July 2018 and were signed on its behalf. The notes on 
pages 94-144 form part of the financial statements.

Mark Sebba 

Chair

Elaine Bailey 

Group Chief Executive

Kerry Tromanhauser

Company Secretary
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Amortisation relates to the release of balances in the cash flow hedge reserve into the Statement of Comprehensive Income within interest 
payable. These balances are as a result of recognising the value of derivatives at the inception of effective hedge relationships in the cash flow 
hedge reserve. These hedge relationships are however no longer effective and the balances are amortised over the life of the derivatives. Gilt lock 
costs are also amortised. They result from the movement in gilt rates at the time of entering a gilt lock (the strike price) to the time that the related 
transaction took place. They are amortised over the life of the transaction/bond.

Included in revenue reserves is -£235,256k (2017: -£257,406k) which relates to the impact of the fair value of derivative financial instruments.

Minority interests reflect the 13% of One Preston Park LLP which is not owned by the Group. 

The shares carry no dividend rights and are cancelled on cessation of membership of the Association. Each member has the right to vote at 
member’s meetings. All shares are fully paid up and are worth £1 each.

Revenue 
reserve

£’000

Pension 
reserve

£’000

Total 
revenue 

reserves
£’000

Cash 
flow 

hedge 
reserve

£’000

Re-
stricted 
reserve

£’000
Sub total

£’000

Minority 
interests

£’000

Total 
reserves 

£’000

Called 
up share 

capital
No.

Group

Balance as at 1 April 2017 402,872 (24,979) 377,893 (29,832) 1,813 349,874 1,974 351,848 11

Surplus from Statement of Comprehensive 
Income

28,071 - 28,071 - - 28,071 - 28,071 -

Additions - - - - - - - - 1

Minority interest (22) (22) - - (22) 22 - -

Actuarial gain - 11,659 11,659 - - 11,659 - 11,659 -

Restricted reserve addition - - - - 559 559 - 559 -

Change in value of hedged instruments - - - 1,402 - 1,402 - 1,402 -

Amortisation - - - 1,936 - 1,936 - 1,936 -

Other 100 - 100 - - 100 - 100 -

Balance at 31 March 2018 431,021 (13,320) 417,701 (26,494) 2,372 393,579 1,996 395,575 12

Association 

Balance as at 1 April 2017 205,587 (23,439) 182,148 (27,465) - 154,683 - 154,683 11

Surplus from Statement of Comprehensive 
Income

39,323 - 39,323 - - 39,323 - 39,323 -

Additions - - - - - - - - 1

Actuarial gain - 9,980 9,980 - - 9,980 - 9,980 -

Restricted reserve addition - - - - 252 252 - 252 -

Change in value of hedged instruments - - - 1,402 - 1,402 - 1,402 -

Amortisation - - - 1,083 - 1,083 - 1,083 -

Other (64) - (64) - - (64) - (64) -

Balance at 31 March 2018 244,846 (13,459) 231,387 (24,980) 252 206,659 - 206,659 12

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN RESERVES
For the Year Ended 31 March 2018

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the Year Ended 31 March 2018

GROUP

NOTE
2018

£’000
2017

£’000

Net cash generated from operating activities 44,799 104,564

Cash flow from investing activities

Acquisition and construction of housing properties (184,355) (177,135)

Grants received 30,348 7,575

Sale of housing properties 132,882 56,571

Purchase of other fixed assets (2,621) (4,627)

Proceeds of sale from other fixed assets 944 20

Interest received 2,328 1,568

Tax paid (11) (30)

Cash flow from financing activities

Interest paid (100,901) (78,543)

Other finance costs – refinancing costs (192,871) -

New secured loans 1,104,749 105,500

Investments - (1,020)

Repayments of borrowings (799,334) (57,289)

Net change in cash and cash equivalents 35,957 (42,846)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 25 44,514 87,360

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 80,471 44,514

Cash flow from operating activities

Surplus for the year (excluding housing asset sales) 94,829 91,935

Adjustments for non-cash items:

Net depreciation and amortisation 29,029 26,453

Impairment - (1,550)

Increase in stock (67,357) (47,314)

Decrease/(increase) in trade and other debtors (17,227) 5,861

Increase in trade and other creditors 784 22,537

Other movements - 4,987

Post-employment benefits less payments (939) (427)

Increase in provisions 5,680 2,082

Net cash generated from operating activities 44,799 104,564

31 MARCH 2017
£’000

CASH FLOW
£’000

31 MARCH 2018
£’000

Group reconciliation of net debt

Cash balances 44,514 35,957 80,471

Debt falling due within one year (62,238) 2,949 (59,289)

Debt falling due after one year (1,293,191) (309,782) (1,602,973)

Net debt (1,310,915) (270,876) (1,581,791)
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Notes to the financial statements

1. Group accounting policies

General information
The Group is a public benefit entity and a private 
registered provider of social housing incorporated in the 
United Kingdom. The registered office is 30 Park Street, 
London, SE1 9EQ. 

Statement of compliance
The Group and individual financial statements of 
Group’s entities have been prepared on a going concern 
basis, in compliance with United Kingdom Accounting 
Standards, including Financial Reporting Standard 102, 
The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the 
United Kingdom and the Republic of Ireland (FRS 102), 
the Housing SORP 2014: Statement of Recommended 
Practice for Registered Social Housing Providers (the 
SORP 2014), with the Accounting Direction for Private 
Registered provider of Social Housing 2015 (the 
Direction 2015) and the Co-operative and Community 
Benefit Societies Act 2014. 

Basis of preparation
The financial statements have been prepared under 
the historical cost convention, as modified by the fair 
value of certain investments and derivative financial 
instruments. The following accounting policies 
have been applied consistently in dealing with items 
which are considered to be material in relation to the 
financial statements of the Group and all constituent 
subsidiaries. Hyde Housing Association Limited has 
taken advantage of the exemption contained in FRS 
102 and has not disclosed transactions or balances 
with entities which form part of the Group who are 
wholly owned subsidiaries, except as required by the 
Accounting Direction for Private Providers of Registered 
Social Housing from April 2015. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Basis of consolidation
The Group is required by the Co-operative and 
Community Benefit Societies Act 2014 to prepare 
consolidated financial statements. The financial 
statements have been prepared using the equity 
method for subsidiaries and joint ventures entities as 
appropriate. Group entities are detailed within note 35 
to the financial statements.  

Segmental reporting
Due to the Group having listed debt on the London 
Stock Exchange, it must apply International Reporting 
Standard 8 – Operating Segments (IFRS 8). Segmental 
reporting is reporting in the Group and Association 
financial statements in respect of the Group’s business 
segments, which are the primary basis of segmental 
reporting. The business segmental reporting reflects the 
Group’s management and internal reporting structure. 
Segmental results include items directly attributable to 
the segment as well as those that can be allocated on 
a reasonable basis. Segmental reporting is presented 
in note 2 to the financial statements. As the Group has 
no activities outside of the UK, segment reporting is not 
required by geographical region.

The chief operating decision makers (CODM) have been 
identified as the Executive Management Team (EMT) 
and the Board. The CODM review the Group’s internal 
reporting in order to assess performance and allocate 
resources. Management has determined the operating 
segments as housing services, business development 
and other costs. Housing services represents housing 
for social purposes and non-social housing lettings. 
Business development includes outright sale property 
sales, construction income and other income. Other 
costs include all other central costs incurred for 
example ICT, finance and corporate services. Joint 
venture income is included below operating surplus. 
Assets and liabilities are not reported by operating 
segment or tenure, other than housing properties 
which are shown in note 17, classified between general 
housing and shared ownership. 

 

Joint ventures
A joint venture is a contractual arrangement whereby 
the Group undertakes an economic activity that is 
subject to joint control with third parties and the parties 
have rights to the net assets of the arrangement. The 
Group’s interest in joint ventures is accounted for using 
the equity method of accounting. Under this method the 
Group’s share of profits, less losses after taxation, is 
included in the Consolidated Statement of Income and 
its interest in their net assets is included in investments 
in the Statement of Financial Position. 

Turnover
Turnover is measured at the fair value of the 
consideration received or receivable and represents 
the amount receivable for goods supplied or services 
rendered net of recoverable value added taxes (VAT). 
The Group/Association recognises income when: the 
significant risks and rewards have been transferred to 
the buyer; the Group/Association retains no continuing 
involvement of or control over the goods; the amount 
of income can be measured reliably; it is probable that 
future economic benefits will flow to the entity and 
when the specific criteria relating to the income have 
been met, as described below:

a. Rent: rental income is recognised on a receivable 
basis and includes rent from social housing and non-
social housing activities

b. Service charges: service charge income is 
recognised when the expenditure is incurred, as this 
is considered to be the point at which the service has 
been performed and the revenue recognition criteria 
met

c. Management fees: management fees are recognised 
on a receivable basis as management services are 
provided

d. First tranche shared ownership sales: first 
tranche shared ownership sales are recognised on 
completion, based on the proportion of equity sold of 
the property

e. Revenue grants: other grants are receivable from 
local authorities and other organisations. Grants in 
respect of revenue expenditure are credited to the 

income statement using the performance model in 
the same period as the expenditure to which they 
relate

f. Grant amortisation: grant associated with housing 
properties is amortised to turnover over the useful 
economic life of the structure and components of the 
properties

g. Interest: interest is recognised on a receivable basis 
in the period the interest relates

h. Distribution of reserves: distribution of reserves is 
recognised on a receivable basis in the period the 
distribution relates and was declared

i. Construction contracts: within the Association, 
where one entity is building properties for another, 
income in relation to these properties is recognised 
once the total development is completed, only if 
the decision making is with the entity building the 
properties

j. PFI contracts: income is recognised through unitary 
charges from local authorities based on performance 
against the agreed contractual framework.

Intra-group income and expenditure is included in 
turnover and operating costs on an arm’s length basis 
in the financial statements of the Association but 
is eliminated in producing the Group consolidated 
financial statements.  
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Housing properties
Housing properties are measured using the cost model 
and comprise their purchase price, together with 
directly attributable costs in bringing them into working 
condition for their intended use. The directly attributable 
costs include the labour costs of Hyde employees 
arising directly from the construction or acquisition of 
the property and the incremental costs that would have 
been avoided, only if individual properties had not been 
constructed or acquired. Interest is capitalised on a fair 
proportion of the borrowings of the Group/Association 
as a whole, calculated on the net costs incurred 
during the period of development. Improvements 
are capitalised only when they result in an increase 
in the net rental income, such as a direct increase in 
rental income or a reduction in future maintenance 
costs and when there is a significant extension of 
the useful economic life of the property. All other 
improvement expenditure is charged to the Statement 
of Comprehensive Income account, when incurred.

The Group/Association operates a component 
accounting policy in relation to the capitalisation and 
depreciation of its completed housing property stock. 
Housing properties where the Group/Association 
has the responsibility for maintaining and replacing a 
component are split between their land and structure 
costs and seven major components which each have 
their own periodic replacement. Where the Group/
Association does not have responsibility for maintaining 
and replacing components, properties are split between 
land and build only. Depreciation of freehold housing 
properties is charged so as to write down their cost to 
their residual value on a straight line basis over their 
expected useful economic lives on the following basis.

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
Depreciation on shared ownership housing properties 
is charged on a straight line basis over their expected 
useful economic lives.

Where opportunities for the swapping of housing stock 
with other associations arise, the outgoing items are 
treated as a disposal with the recognition of a surplus/
deficit. The cost of incoming items are measured at fair 
value.

 
Stock transfers
Stock transfers represent the net costs of developing 
properties owned by local authorities but currently 
managed by the Group/Association. The net cost of 
developing the properties is shown as a long term 
debtor. The long term debtor is amortised over the life 
of the contract. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Social Housing Grant (SHG) and other 
government grants or financial assistance
Social Housing Grant and other capital grants are held 
in creditors using the accruals model under FRS 102. 
Grants are recognised over the useful economic life of 
the building and amortised to the income statement 
up to a period of 100 years. The amount due to be 
amortised to the Statement of Comprehensive Income 
in the next year is held within creditors due within one 
year. The remaining balance is held within creditors due 
greater than one year. Certain developments are funded 
by other capital grants. These grants are dealt with in a 
similar manner to SHG. Where grants are receivable for 
the development programme in arrears, the amounts 
not yet received are held within debtors. Where grants 
are repayable and the associated asset is sold, the 
entire grant including the portion of the grant previously 
amortised to income, is held within the recycled 
capital grant fund or the disposal proceeds fund within 
creditors until it is recycled or repaid to the issuer where 
applicable. Where grants are not repayable and the 
associated asset is sold, the un-amortised portion of 
the grant is recognised in income. 

Operating leases
The Group/Association treats operating leases as 
follows:

a. As a lessee: operating lease expenditure is charged 
on a straight line basis over the lease term to the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income

b. As a lessor: operating lease income is recognised 
in turnover on a receivable basis over the lease 
term. This includes rental income from the Group/
Association’s portfolio of social and non-social 
housing properties and income from the sublet of 
office properties, including investment properties 
(note 17)

c. Lease and management schemes: lease and 
management schemes are short term units which are 
leased by the Group from private landlords or local 
councils and let out to social tenants. Expenditure on 
these units is charged on a straight line basis over 
the lease term to the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income. The Group has not entered into any finance 
leases. 

 
 
 

Shared ownership
First tranche sales are included within turnover 
and the related proportion of the cost of the asset 
recognised as operating costs. The costs relating to 
expected future first tranche sales in respect of shared 
ownership properties are transferred from housing 
properties under construction in fixed assets to stock 
as current assets. The remaining element of shared 
ownership schemes are included in housing properties 
within fixed assets. Lessees have the right to acquire 
further tranches and any surplus or deficit on such 
subsequent tranches is recognised in the Statement 
of Comprehensive Income as a part disposal of a fixed 
asset. 

Leasehold and management schemes
Capital expenditure is incurred on other leasehold and 
management scheme properties. The proportion of 
expenditure which is not financed by SHG is amortised 
over the anticipated term of the tenancy and recognised 
as other fixed assets. Certain schemes receive 
additional grants to fund projected rent shortfalls 
against expenditure. Such grant is treated as deferred 
income which is held in creditors and released over 
the life of the lease. See section c of operating leases 
above for further details. 

Depreciation of other fixed assets
Other fixed assets are depreciated on the following 
basis: 

 
Fixed assets are depreciated each month from the 
purchase date. 

Component Useful economic 
life (years)

Land Not depreciated

Structure 100

Roof 60

Heating (excluding boiler) 30

Boiler 15

Windows and doors 30

Electrical wiring 40

Bathroom 30

Kitchen 20

Category Useful economic 
life (years)

Freehold premises 100 

Leasehold premises Life of the lease

Furniture and equipment:

Solar panel components 25

Solar panel power inverters 12

Furniture 6

Computer hardware 3-5

Motor vehicles 4
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Investment properties
Certain properties of the Groups/Associations are held 
for long-term investment. Investment properties are 
initially recognised at cost which includes purchase 
cost and any attributable expenditure. Investment 
properties are valued and subsequently measured at 
fair value with any surplus/(deficit) is recognised in 
the Statement of Comprehensive Income. Investment 
properties are those which are not held for social 
benefit and where a reliable fair value is available. This 
includes properties held for commercial rental income, 
such as offices and shops that are not community 
facilities and market rental income. Investment 
properties are valued by an independent valuer with 
relevant qualifications. 

Easybuy investments
Easybuy loans are included within investments as these 
are held for capital appreciation. Easybuy loans are 
loans the Group/Association has given to residents 
of a property that are repayable at market value. 
Easybuy loans are valued by calculating the future 
likely amount to be received based the discounted cash 
flow of predicted redemption value. Any disposals are 
recognised below operating surplus.

 
Stock
Stock includes properties developed for resale and first 
tranche shared ownership properties. Stock is stated at 
the lower of cost and estimated selling price less costs 
to sell. Costs related to sold stock are recognised as 
an expense in the period in which the related revenue 
is recognised. For repairs materials, cost is determined 
on a first in first out basis. Cost includes the purchase 
price plus expenditure directly attributable to bring the 
item to its present condition.

At the end of reporting period, if there is an indication of 
impairment, an assessment of the recoverable amount 
is made. If an item of stock is impaired, the carrying 
value of the item is reduced and an impairment charge 
is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income. Where a reversal of the impairment is required 
the impairment charge is reversed up to the original 
impairment loss and is recognised as a credit to the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income. Impairment of 
housing properties is assessed at the scheme level.

The first tranche element of the shared ownership 
property is calculated based on the average experience 
of first tranche sales proportions. Once the shared 
ownership property is available for sale the proportion 
in stock is based on the market value expectations for 
that property. 

Concessionary arrangements
The Group have a number of arrangements in place 
whereby they have performed works to properties or 
manage properties on behalf of others bodies and 
receive fees for doing so. These arrangements include:

 • Islington PFI: the Association provides management 
services for the London Borough of Islington and 
receives management fees

 • Hillside PFI: Hillside, a Group subsidiary, provides 
management services for the London Borough of 
Brent and receives management fees

 • Brent PFI: Brent Co-efficient, a Group subsidiary, 
has built units for the use of the London Borough 
of Brent over 30 years. The Association manages 
these properties and ownership will transfer to the 
Association at the end of the agreement. 

Taxation
The Group/Association has charitable status and 
therefore is not subject to Corporation Tax on the 
surplus arising from charitable activities. Provision 
is made for the tax liabilities which may arise when 
property is developed for commercial outright sale or 
private rent. Tax is chargeable on the activities of Brent 
Co-Efficient Limited, Hyde Vale Limited, Hyde New 
Build Limited and Hyde PRS Company Limited and a 
provision is made for any tax payable. This is only when 
the profits cannot be gift-aided to the charitable parent. 
Deferred tax is recognised without discounting in 
respect of all timing differences between the treatment 
of certain items for taxation and accounting purposes 
which have arisen but not reversed by the statement 
of financial position date except as otherwise required 
by FRS 102. An exception is fair value movements 
on derivative financial instruments where a deferred 
tax asset or liability is not recognised by applying the 
disregard regulations. 
 
 

VAT 
The Group’s VAT affairs are dealt with under a group 
registration in the name of Hyde Housing Association 
Limited, except Hyde New Build Limited which is 
registered separately for VAT. The Group recovers only 
a small proportion of input VAT. Expenditure is therefore 
shown inclusive of VAT, to the extent that it is not 
recoverable, with non-attributable input tax recovered 
being credited against management expenses. Hyde 
New Build Limited recovers all input VAT.

 
Service charges
The Group operates both fixed and variable service 
charges on a scheme-by-scheme basis in full 
consultation with residents. The service charges on 
all schemes are set on the basis of budgets. Where 
variable service charges are used, the budget will 
include an allowance for the surplus or deficit from 
prior years, with a surplus being returned to residents 
in the form of a reduced charge for the year and a 
deficit being recovered via a higher service charge or by 
alternative methods if the contract allows. Until these 
surpluses are returned, they are held in the Statement of 
Financial Position as a creditor and a deficit is held as a 
debtor. 
 
 
Restricted reserves
The restricted reserve relates to restricted funds held in 
relation to Hyde Housing Association, Hillside Housing 
Trust and Hyde Charitable Trust. These funds can only 
be spent on further build of social properties within 
the London Borough of Brent or on charitable activities 
within related schemes. 

Cash flow hedge reserve
The cash flow hedge reserve includes the value of 
hedged financial instruments on transition and any 
subsequent movement in hedged derivatives. 

Related party transactions
The Group/Association has taken advantage of the 
exemptions in FRS 102 and has decided not to disclose 
transactions between regulated entities or between non-
regulated entities, except as required by the Direction 
2015. Disclosure requirements for transactions between 
regulated entities and non-regulated entities are 
provided in note 35.

 
Cash flow statement
The Association has taken advantage of the exemptions 
under FRS 102 and has not prepared a cash flow 
statement. 

Cash 
Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, 
deposits held at call with banks and other short term 
liquid investments. Bank overdrafts, where applicable, 
are shown within borrowings in current liabilities. 

Pension schemes
The Group/Association operates/participates in five 
retirement schemes: the Hyde Housing Association 
Limited Defined Benefit Scheme, the Hyde Housing 
Association Limited Defined Contribution Scheme, the 
Pension Trust Social Housing Pension Defined Benefit 
Scheme (SHPS), the London Borough of Lambeth 
Pension Fund Scheme, the West Sussex Pension 
Scheme and the Kent County Council Pension Fund. 

The Hyde Housing Association Limited Defined Benefits 
Scheme, the Pension Trust Social Housing Pension 
Scheme (SHPS), the London Borough of Lambeth 
Pension Fund Scheme and the West Sussex Pension 
Scheme are Defined Benefit Schemes and are not open 
to new entrants.

Hyde Housing Association Limited Defined Benefit 
Scheme, the London Borough of Lambeth Pension 
Fund Scheme, Kent County Council Pension Fund and 
the West Sussex Pension Scheme

 • In accordance with the requirements of FRS 102, 
the costs are accounted for when committed, 
regardless of when the benefits are deliverable. The 
financial statements reflect, at fair value, the assets 
and liabilities arising from the Group’s/Association’s 
retirement obligations

 • The operating costs of providing retirement benefits 
to employees are recognised in the accounting 
period(s) in which the benefits are earned by the 
employees. The related finance costs and any other 
charges in value of the assets and liabilities are 
recognised in the accounting periods in which they 
arise.
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 • The financial statements disclose the cost of 
providing retirement benefits and related gains, 
losses, assets and liabilities. The attributable assets 
of the schemes are measured, at their fair value, 
at the statement of financial position date, and are 
shown net of attributable scheme liabilities.

Actuarial gains and losses arising from any new 
valuation, and from updating the latest actuarial 
valuation to reflect conditions at the statement of 
financial position date, are recognised in the Statement 
of Total Other Comprehensive Income for the year.

Losses arising on a settlement or curtailment not 
allowed for in the actuarial assumptions are measured 
at the date on which the Group/Association becomes 
demonstrably committed to the transaction and are 
recognised in the operating costs at that date. Gains 
arising on a settlement or curtailment not allowed 
for in the actuarial assumptions are measured at the 
date on which all parties whose consent is required 
are irrevocably committed to the transaction and are 
recognised in the operating costs at that date.

Pension Trust Social Housing Pensions Scheme 
(SHPS)

The SHPS scheme is a multi-employer defined benefit 
pension scheme, however, sufficient information is 
not available from the scheme administrator to use 
defined benefit accounting. The Group/Association has 
entered into an agreement with the administrators that 
determines how the entity will fund a deficit and has 
recognised a liability based on discounted future cash 
flows using an actuarial valuation tool. This liability is 
included within creditors.

Hyde Housing Association Limited Defined 
Contribution Scheme

Employees have the option to join the Hyde defined 
contribution scheme, to which the Association makes 
a contribution of up to 10%. The contributions are 
recognised as they fall due.

For all pension schemes current service costs are 
included within the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income within operating costs. 

Financial instruments
The Group/Association has made an accounting policy 
choice to continue to measure and recognise financial 
instruments in accordance with IAS 39 - Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, as is 

permitted by FRS 102 and to follow the disclosure 
requirements of FRS 102.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised 
on the Group’s/Association’s statement of financial 
position when the Group/Association becomes a party 
to the contractual provisions of the instrument.  

Treasury management/derivatives
To manage interest rate risk, the Group/Association 
manages its proportion of fixed to variable rate 
borrowings within approved limits and where 
appropriate utilises interest rate swap agreements. 
Amounts payable or receivable in respect of these 
agreements are recognised as adjustments to interest 
expense over the period of the agreement. 

Financial assets
The Group/Association measures financial assets 
on initial recognition at fair value and determines the 
classification of such assets at initial recognition 
and on any subsequent reclassification event. 
Financial assets are classified into one of four primary 
categories:

Financial assets at fair value through the Statement 
of Comprehensive Income: these are all derivative 
assets, other than those that are designated as hedging 
instruments and assets acquired principally for the 
purpose of selling in the near term. They are initially 
measured at fair value, excluding transaction costs. 
At each statement of financial position date, they 
are re-measured at fair value. Any change in value is 
recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income 
within interest payable or receivable, unless hedge 
accounting is effective, in which case movements are 
treated as described in the hedge accounting section 
(page 102). If the hedge relationship is deemed to 
not be effective or if there is partial ineffectiveness, 
changes in fair value ineffectiveness would be 
recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 
Investments owned by Hyde Charitable Trust, one of the 
Group subsidiaries, are stated at fair value.

Loans and receivables: this includes non-derivative 
financial assets with fixed or determinable payments 
that are not quoted in an active market and have 
not been designated as either fair value through the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income or available for 
sale. Such assets are measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method. They are measured 

on this basis, whether they are intended to be held-to-
maturity or not. Gains and losses are recognised in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income when loans and 
receivables are derecognised or impaired as well as 
through amortisation. 
 
Held to maturity investments: non-derivative financial 
assets with fixed or determinable payments and 
fixed maturity are classified here, when the Group/
Association has the positive intention and ability to 
hold to maturity. These are measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method. Gains and losses 
are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income, when held to maturity investments are 
derecognised or impaired as well as 
through amortisation.

Available for sale financial assets: available for sale 
financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that 
are designated as such or that are not classified in any 
of the other categories. These are held at fair value, 
with gains or losses being recognised as a separate 
component of equity until the asset is derecognised 
or is determined to be impaired, at which time the 
previously reported cumulative gain or loss is included 
in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. If there 
is no active market for a financial asset and it is not 
appropriate to determine fair value using valuation 
techniques, financial assets are carried at 
amortised cost. 

Impairment of financial assets
All financial assets are reviewed for indicators of 
impairment at each reporting date. Such indicators 
include default in contractual payments, significant 
financial difficulties of the issuer or debtor, probability 
of bankruptcy, or prolonged or significant decline in 
quoted market price. An impairment loss is recognised 
in the income statement when there is objective 
evidence that an asset is impaired.

The impairment loss on loans and receivables, which 
are measured at amortised cost, is the difference 
between the carrying amount of the asset and 
the present value of estimated future cash flows, 
discounted at the financial asset’s original effective 
interest rate. Impairment provisions for bad and 
doubtful debts are calculated based on average 
collection rates, with 100% of former tenant arrears 
provided for.

When an impairment loss is identified on an available-
for-sale financial asset, the cumulative losses 

previously recognised directly in equity are recorded 
in the income statement. The loss recognised in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income is the difference 
between the acquisition cost (net of principal 
repayment and amortisation) and the fair value at the 
time of impairment, less any impairment loss previously 
recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

The impairment loss on investments in companies that 
are not quoted in an active market and are measured at 
cost is the difference between the carrying amount of 
the investment and the present value of its estimated 
future cash flows, discounted at the current market 
interest rate for similar financial assets. Impairment 
losses in respect of loans are recognised under 
financial expenses in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income. Impairment losses in respect of trade 
receivables are recognised under operating expenses in 
the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Impairment losses on investments in companies that 
are not quoted in an active market and are measured at 
cost, and on equity instruments classified as available-
for-sale financial assets, cannot be reversed through the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income.

 
Financial liabilities
The Group/Association determines the classification 
of financial liabilities at initial recognition and on any 
subsequent reclassification event. Financial liabilities 
are classified into one of two primary categories:

Financial liabilities at fair value through the Statement 
of Comprehensive Income: these are derivative 
liabilities other than those that are designated within 
cash flow hedge relationships. These are initially 
measured at fair value, not including transaction costs. 
At each statement of financial position date, they 
are re-measured at fair value. Any change in value is 
recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income 
within interest payable or receivable. Where hedge 
relationships are effective, movements are treated as 
described in the hedge accounting section 
(page 102). If the hedge relationship is deemed to 
not be effective, or if there is partial ineffectiveness, 
changes in fair value/ineffectiveness would be 
recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Discounted bonds are shown at their redemption value 
plus or minus the issue premium or discount, which is 
written off through the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income on an annuity basis over the life of the bond.
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Other financial liabilities are held at amortised cost 
using the effective interest rate. This includes loans, 
short term borrowings, overdrafts and trade payables. 
Borrowings will include accrued un-amortised issue 
costs. 

Embedded derivatives
Embedded derivatives are identified at inception of a 
new loan by reference to the host contract. Derivatives 
embedded in host contracts are held at amortised cost, 
provided their economic characteristics and risks are 
closely related to those of the host contract and the 
host contract itself is not carried at fair value through 
the Statement of Comprehensive Income. Derivatives 
embedded in host contracts are treated as separate 
derivatives when their economic characteristics are 
not closely related to those of the host contract and 
the host contract is not carried at fair value through 
the Statement of Comprehensive Income. These 
embedded derivatives are measured at fair value with 
changes in fair value recognised in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income.

 
Hedge accounting
In instances where the Group/Association has 
established an effective hedge relationship between 
a derivative and an underlying asset/liability, the 
derivative is accounted for consistent with that 
underlying asset/liability. Any ineffectiveness present 
within the hedge relationship is recognised in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income in interest payable 
or receivable.

Derivatives are initially accounted and measured at 
fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered 
into and subsequently measured at fair value. The 
gain or loss on re-measurement is taken to the income 
statement except where the derivative is designated  
as a hedge and the hedge meets the criteria for  
hedge accounting. The Group designates certain 
derivatives as:

 • A hedge of the fair value of an asset or liability (‘fair 
value hedge’)

 • A hedge of the income/cost of a highly probable 
forecasted transaction or commitment (‘cash flow 
hedge’). 

 
 
 
 
 

In order to qualify for hedge accounting, the Group/
Association is required to document in advance the 
relationship between the item being hedged and the 
hedging instrument. The Group/Association is also 
required to document and demonstrate an assessment 
of the relationship between the hedged item and the 
hedging instrument, which shows that the hedge is 
expected to be highly effective on an on-going basis. 
This effectiveness testing is re-performed at each 
period end, to ensure that the hedge remains highly 
effective. Gains or losses on fair value hedges that are 
regarded as highly effective are recorded in the income 
statement with the gain or loss on the hedged item 
attributable to the hedged risk. Gains or losses on cash 
flow hedges that are regarded as highly effective are 
recognised in equity. Where the forecast transaction 
results in a financial asset, financial liability, income 
or expenditure, amounts accumulated in equity are 
reclassified to the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income in the period where the hedged item affects 
the Statement of Comprehensive Income. Where the 
forecasted transaction or commitment result in a non-
financial asset or a non-financial liability, then any gains 
or losses previously deferred in equity are included in 
the cost of the related asset or liability.

When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, any 
cumulative gains or loss existing in reserves at that 
time remain in reserve and are recognised in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income when the forecast 
transaction is ultimately recognised in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income. When a hedge no longer meets 
the criteria for hedge accounting and the risk is not still 
in existence, any cumulative gain or loss existing in 
reserves at that time will be recognised in the Statement 
of Comprehensive Income immediately. When a hedge 
no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting and 
the risk is not still in existence, any cumulative gain or 
loss existing in reserves at that time will be recognised 
in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. While the 
criteria remain unmet, any future change in fair value 
gains or losses will be recognised in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income within interest 
receivable or payable. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Critical accounting judgements and 
estimation uncertainty
Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated 
and are based on historical experience and other 
factors, including expectations of future events that are 
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. The 
areas with estimation uncertainty are as follows:

 • Housing property impairment: Housing properties 
are reviewed for impairment, if there is an indication 
that impairment may have occurred. Where there 
is evidence of impairment, fixed assets are written 
down to their recoverable amount. Any such write 
down is charged to the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income. Impairment is assessed by comparing 
carrying value to the higher of value in use and fair 
value less costs to sell. If the carrying value is greater 
than the higher of value in use and fair value less 
costs to sell, an impairment provision is made. Value 
in use requires management estimates of timing 
of cash flows, discount rate and life of the asset. 
Management use estimates to determine fair value 
less costs to sell based on information available 
regarding sales of similar properties and depreciated 
replacement cost (see note 17)

 • Depreciation of housing properties: components of 
housing properties are depreciated over their useful 
economic lives which are determined by the length of 
time the individual component will be used before it 
is replaced. Components are determined by selecting 
the largest elements of the properties by cost (see 
note 17)

 • Housing property allocation: where schemes under 
construction are mixed tenure, costs are split using 
a suitable method such as area or rental yield. The 
allocation of the cost of shared ownership schemes 
under construction between stock and housing 
properties is determined by looking at the predicted 
amount to be sold as a first tranche sale based on 
the scheme and the likely demand (see note 17)

 • Other fixed assets: other fixed assets are 
depreciated over their useful economic lives which 
are determined by the length of time the asset is 
expected to be in use (see note 19)

 • Investment properties: investment properties are 
valued annually by third party valuers. Management 
rely on estimates to determine the value such as 
discount factors, timing of cash flows, predicted 
future rents and life of the asset (see note 21)

 • Provision for bad and doubtful debts: provisions 
for bad and doubtful debts are calculated based 
on average collection rate by amount overdue. 
Groupings of amounts overdue require managements 
judgement (see note 24)

 • Provisions: provisions are made for lease 
dilapidations, onerous leases and legal claims where 
an obligation is likely. These provisions require 
managements best estimate of the costs that will 
be incurred based on legislative and contractual 
requirements. In addition, the timing of cash flows 
and discount rates used to establish net present 
value of the obligations require management’s 
judgement (see note 31)

 • The Group has obligations to pay pension benefits 
to certain employees: The cost of these benefits 
and the present value of the obligation depend on a 
number of factors, including: life expectancy, salary 
increases, asset valuations and the discount rate 
on corporate bonds. Management estimates these 
factors in determining the net pension obligation in 
the balance sheet. The assumptions reflect historical 
experience and current trends. The Group’s share 
of the SHPS pension scheme’s assets and liabilities 
cannot be done on a reasonable and consistent 
basis and therefore discounted future cash flows of 
future payments, with respect to the deficit funding 
agreements recognised within creditors. Judgements 
are made around the discount rate used which is 
based on current interest rates (see note 37).
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Housing 
services

2018
£’000

Business 
develop-

ment
2018

£’000

Other    
costs
2018

£’000

Total
2018

£’000

Housing 
services

2017
£’000

Business 
develop-

ment
2017

£’000

Other       
costs
2017

£’000

Total
2017

£’000

Rents 207,137 949 1,228 209,314 204,802 922 - 205,724

Service charges 22,067 - 3 22,070 23,551 - - 23,551

Other charges receivable 4,306 508 389 5,203 4,795 438 31 5,264

Total voids (526) - (88) (614) (2,403) - - (2,403)

Management fees 8,677 7,516 (772) 15,421 15,440 - - 15,440

Revenue grants 389 320 - 709 560 - - 560

Amortised SHG 11,491 - 41 11,532 11,638 - - 11,638

Sales income - 74,028 - 74,028 - 78,784 - 78,784

Turnover 253,541 83,321 801 337,663 258,383 80,144 31 338,558

Service charge costs (25,884) (23) (84) (25,991) (29,227) (23) - (29,250)

Bad debts (1,126) - 6 (1,120) (1,581) - - (1,581)

Management costs (12,273) (4,278) (611) (17,162) (9,744) (3,208) - (12,952)

Reactive maintenance (18,727) - (10) (18,737) (20,871) (37) - (20,908)

Planned maintenance (14,269) (1) (23) (14,293) (17,445) (5) - (17,450)

Major repairs (28,487) - (76) (28,563) (28,061) - - (28,061)

Major repairs (capitalised) 23,659 - 68 23,727 24,393 - - 24,393

Property depreciation (36,011) - (53) (36,064) (33,486) - (597) (34,083)

Impairment of housing properties - - - - (1,532) - - (1,532)

Component write offs (2,549) - - (2,549) (1,776) - - (1,776)

Cost of outright sale - (51,457) - (51,457) - (58,518) - (58,518)

Staff costs (22,431) (3,527) (2,631) (28,589) (25,088) (563) (1,892) (27,543)

Accommodation (2,885) (690) (12) (3,587) (3,762) (728) - (4,490)

Core operations recharges 7,459 - (7,459) - - - - -

Central external goods and services (41) (1,319) (1) (1,361) (10) (231) - (241)

Operating costs (133,565) (61,295) (10,886) (205,746) (148,190) (63,313) (2,489) (213,992)

Gross operating surplus 119,976 22,026 (10,085) 131,917 110,193 16,831 (2,458) 124,566

Central overheads - - (29,679) (29,679) - - (26,699) (26,699)

Net operating surplus 119,976 22,026 (39,764) 102,238 110,193 16,831 (29,157) 97,867

Shared ownership staircasing - - 11,145 11,145 - - 11,905 11,905

Planned disposals - - 52,360 52,360 - - 51,685 51,685

Disposals Investment properties - - 2,424 2,424 - - 206 206

Investment revaluations - - 3,318 3,318 - - 4,587 4,587

Investment property revaluations - - (811) (811) - - 1,230 1,230

Pension adjustments - - (592) (592) - - (266) (266)

Interest payable - - (85,310) (85,310) - - (78,837) (78,837)

Other finance costs - refinancing 
costs

- - (88,918) (88,918) - - - -

Interest receivable - - 2,016 2,016 - - 2,042 2,042

Capitalised interest - - 13,171 13,171 - - 8,444 8,444

Total surplus 119,976 22,026 (130,961) 11,041 110,193 16,831 (28,161) 98,863

2. Group segmental reporting
Housing 
services

2018
£’000

Business 
develop-

ment
2018

£’000

Other    
costs
2018

£’000

Total
2018

£’000

Housing 
services

2017
£’000

Business 
develop-

ment
2017

£’000

Other       
costs
2017

£’000

Total
2017

£’000

Total surplus before tax as at 31 
March 2018 119,976 22,026 (130,961) 11,041 110,193 16,831 (28,161) 98,863

Adjustments since CODM Review 
and other audit adjustments:

Pensions - - 334 334 - - 810 810

Operational accruals (142) - - (142) (108) - - (108)

Impairment - - - - 3,082 - - 3,082

Creditor adjustment - - 227 227 - - 669 669

Marlborough House accrual - - - - (1,284) - - (1,284)

Service charges - - - - (4,012) - - (4,012)

Fire safety provisions (7,036) - - (7,036) - - - -

Other provisions (600) - - (600) 412 - - 412

Central costs - - - - - - (691) (691)

Property maintenance adjustment - - - - 693 - - 693

Fair value adjustments - - (1,990) (1,990) - - 9 9

Total surplus before tax as 
reported on the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income 

112,198 22,026 (132,390) 1,834 108,976 16,831 (27,364) 98,443

3. Group particulars of turnover, operating costs & operating surplus

Turnover
2018

£’000

Operating 
costs
2018

£’000

Operating 
surplus

2018
£’000

Turnover
2017

£’000

Operating 
costs
2017

£’000

Operating 
surplus

2017
£’000

Social housing lettings (note 4): 233,669 (145,522) 88,147 231,912 (152,745) 79,167

   

Other social housing activities:    

Shared ownership first tranche sales 49,396 (35,657) 13,739 34,201 (24,639) 9,562

Agency 4,767 (3,714) 1,053 4,153 (3,639) 514

Management contracts 9,780 (3,781) 5,999 9,192 (3,368) 5,824

Housing plus 1,309 (2,990) (1,681) 1,236 (3,537) (2,301)

Rent to buy 1,461 (899) 562 2,081 (1,979) 102

Leaseholders 4,491 (8,779) (4,288) 3,847 (7,379) (3,532)

Fire safety costs - (11,808) (11,808) - - -

Other management costs 5,428 (4,485) 943 5,723 (6,940) (1,217)

   

Non-social housing activities:    

Outright property sales 25,893 (24,914) 979 21,105 (18,395) 2,710

Other 3,366 (2,182) 1,184 2,208 (1,102) 1,106

339,560 (244,731) 94,829 315,658 (223,723) 91,935

Surplus on sale of housing assets (note 7) 66,198   64,029

Operating Surplus 161,027   155,964

Following a review of activity splits between social housing lettings (note 4) and other activities (note 3), the prior year comparative figures have 
been represented to be consistent with 2018. 



106   |   Financial Statements and Annual Report | 31 March 2018 Financial Statements and Annual Report | 31 March 2018   |   107 

3. Association particulars of turnover, 
operating costs and operating surplus

Turnover
2018

£’000

Operating 
costs
2018

£’000

Operating 
surplus

2018
£’000

Turnover
2017

£’000

Operating 
costs
2017

£’000

Operating 
surplus

2017
£’000

Social housing lettings (note 4): 167,751 (109,881) 57,870 164,326 (111,746) 52,580 

Other social housing activities:

Shared ownership first tranche sales 47,914 (32,541) 15,373 29,756 (20,716) 9,040 

Agency 4,732 (3,666) 1,066 4,091 (3,415) 676 

Management contracts 8,455 (3,712) 4,743 7,735 (3,258) 4,477 

Housing plus 360 (2,342) (1,982) 444 (3,152) (2,708) 

Rent to Buy 1,454 (898) 556 2,074 (1,538) 536

Leaseholders 3,084 (5,084) (2,000) 3,673 (5,802) (2,129)

Fire safety costs - (7,525) (7,525) - - -

Other management costs 5,002 (8,552) (3,550) 4,768 (10,906) (6,138) 

Non-social housing activities:

Leaseholder income 1,227 (3,496) (2,269) 1,220 (1,350) (130) 

Other 2,425 (1,736) 689 1,149 (975) 174 

242,404 (179,433) 62,971 219,236 (162,858) 56,378 

Surplus on the sales of housing assets (note 7) 70,167   53,494 

Operating Surplus 133,138   109,872 

4. Group particulars of comprehensive income  
from social housing lettings

General 
needs 
£’000

Afforda-
ble rental 

tenure
£’000

Sup-
ported 

housing 
£’000

Older 
people 

schemes 
£’000

Shared 
own-

ership 
£’000

Leasing 
and man-
agement 
services 

£’000

Health 
and ed-
ucation 
accom-

modation
 £’000

Inter-
mediate 
Market 

Rent 
£’000

2018
£’000

Rent receivable net of service charges 154,433 18,220 4,859 5,072 12,555 8 21 4,792 199,960

Service charges receivable 10,407 37 2,528 1,764 3,122 2 3 8 17,871

Net rental income 164,840 18,257 7,387 6,836 15,677 10 24 4,800 217,831

Management fee income 4,782 - - 25 2 - - - 4,809

Revenue grants 139 - - 7 - - - - 146

Amortisation of grant 8,543 522 529 241 955 - 2 91 10,883

Turnover from social housing 
lettings

178,304 18,779 7,916 7,109 16,634 10 26 4,891 233,669

Service charge costs (11,066) (1,266) (2,639) (2,002) (3,037) (14) (152) (474) (20,650)

Management (36,695) (3,162) (1,795) (1,347) (3,968) (59) (1) (692) (47,719)

Routine maintenance (18,507) (1,454) (437) (740) (27) (25) 2 (472) (21,660)

Planned maintenance (12,670) (1,087) (463) (492) (342) (1) - (257) (15,312)

Major repairs expenditure (2,070) (103) (61) (163) (478) - - (53) (2,928)

Property lease charges - - (10) - - (14) - - (24)

Bad debts (1,058) (267) 33 21 (75) 116 59 (56) (1,227)

Depreciation of housing properties (28,251) (3,164) (1,136) (763) (2,065) - (14) (609) (36,002)

Impairment of housing properties - - - - - - - - -

Operating costs on social housing 
lettings 

(110,317) (10,503) (6,508) (5,486) (9,992) 3 (106) (2,613) (145,522)

Operating surplus/(deficit) on social 
housing lettings

67,987 8,276 1,408 1,623 6,642 13 (80) 2,278 88,147

Void losses (517) (142) (63) (61) 223 (4) - 65 (499) 
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General 
needs 
£’000

Afforda-
ble rental 

tenure
£’000

Sup-
ported 

housing 
£’000

Older 
people 

schemes 
£’000

Shared 
own-

ership 
£’000

Leasing 
and man-
agement 
services 

£’000

Health 
and ed-
ucation 
accom-

modation
 £’000

Inter-
mediate 
Market 

Rent 
£’000

2017
£’000

Rent receivable net of service charges 155,565 14,991 5,085 4,965 11,119 8 196 4,246 196,175 

Service charges receivable 11,146 75 2,381 1,774 4,619 2 31 41 20,069 

Net rental income 166,711 15,066 7,466 6,739 15,738 10 227 4,287 216,244 

Management fee income 4,744 7 - 24 5 - - - 4,780 

Revenue grants 54 - 32 8 - 41 - - 135 

Amortisation of grant 8,528 378 544 242 966 - 2 93 10,753 

Turnover from social housing 
lettings

180,037 15,451 8,042 7,013 16,709 51 229 4,380 231,912 

Service charge costs (16,397) (863) (2,755) (1,829) (5,024) (12) (101) (426) (27,407) 

Management (36,749) (2,543) (1,924) (1,152) (2,467) (130) (327) (837) (46,129) 

Routine maintenance (18,203) (923) (4,770) (722) (60) (70) (6) (399) (25,153) 

Planned maintenance (16,394) (483) (429) (465) (395) (1) (10) (230) (18,407) 

Major repairs expenditure (1,286) (36) (67) (112) (488) - - (21) (2,010) 

Property lease charges (57) - (34) - - (45) - - (136) 

Bad debts (900) (95) (24) (67) 14 63 3 (46) (1,052) 

Depreciation of housing properties (27,327) (2,102) (1,109) (747) (1,918) - (13) (629) (33,845) 

Impairment of housing properties 1,473 946 547 - 173 - - (1,745) 1,394 

Operating costs on social housing 
lettings 

(115,840) (6,099) (10,565) (5,094) (10,165) (195) (454) (4,333) (152,745) 

Operating surplus/(deficit) on social 
housing lettings

64,197 9,352 (2,523) 1,919 6,544 (144) (225) 47 79,167

Void losses (1,066) (178) (168) (124) 57 - - (268) (1,747)

4. Group particulars of comprehensive income  
from social housing lettings (continued)

Following a review of activity splits between social housing lettings (note 4) and other activities (note 3), the prior year comparative figures have 
been represented to be consistent with 2018.

4. Association particulars of comprehensive income from 
social housing lettings

General 
needs 
£’000

Afforda-
ble rental 

tenure
£’000

Sup-
ported 

housing 
£’000

Older 
people 

schemes 
£’000

Shared 
own-

ership 
£’000

Leasing 
and man-
agement 
services 

£’000

Health 
and ed-
ucation 
accom-

modation
 £’000

Inter-
mediate 
Market 

Rent 
£’000

2018
£’000

Rent receivable net of service charges 103,573 16,047 4,778 3,105 11,831 8 21 4,439 143,802

Service charges receivable 7,065 37 2,504 1,164 2,980 2 3 8 13,763

Net rental income 110,638 16,084 7,282 4,269 14,811 10 24 4,447 157,565

Management fee income - - - 25 2 - - - 27

Revenue grants (5) - - - - - - - (5)

Amortisation of grant 8,025 410 530 195 923 - 2 79 10,164

Turnover from social housing 
lettings

118,658 16,494 7,812 4,489 15,736 10 26 4,526 167,751

Service charge costs (7,877) (1,158) (2,603) (1,346) (3,189) (14) (152) (440) (16,779)

Management (23,864) (2,916) (1,781) (922) (3,603) (59) (4) (680) (33,829)

Routine maintenance (12,590) (1,373) (410) (485) (27) (25) 2 (400) (15,308)

Planned maintenance (8,189) (1,024) (430) (268) (334) (1) - (241) (10,487)

Major repairs expenditure (1,498) (91) (57) (115) (472) - - (52) (2,285)

Property lease charges - - (10) - - (14) - - (24)

Bad debts (804) (261) 33 11 (75) 116 59 (55) (976)

Depreciation of housing properties (23,389) (2,646) (1,145) (476) (1,977) - (14) (546) (30,193)

Impairment of housing properties - - - - - - - - -

Operating costs on social housing 
lettings 

(78,211) (9,469) (6,403) (3,601) (9,677) 3 (109) (2,414) (109,881)

Operating surplus/(deficit) on social 
housing lettings

40,447 7,025 1,409 888 6,059 13 (83) 2,112 57,870

Void losses (287) (130) (61) (35) 219 (4) - 51 (247)
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4. Association particulars of comprehensive income 
from social housing lettings

General 
needs 
£’000

Afforda-
ble rental 

tenure
£’000

Sup-
ported 

housing 
£’000

Older 
people 

schemes 
£’000

Shared 
own-

ership 
£’000

Leasing 
and man-
agement 
services 

£’000

Health 
and ed-
ucation 
accom-

modation
 £’000

Inter-
mediate 
Market 

Rent 
£’000

2017
£’000

Rent receivable net of service charges 104,369 12,939 5,037 3,004 10,462 8 196 3,917 139,932 

Service charges receivable 7,492 75 2,351 1,135 3,091 2 31 37 14,214 

Net rental income 111,861 13,014 7,388 4,139 13,553 10 227 3,954 154,146 

Management fee income 37 7 - 24 5 - - - 73 

Revenue grants 2 - 32 - - 41 - - 75 

Amortisation of grant 8,016 258 544 195 932 - 2 85 10,032 

Turnover from social housing 
lettings

119,916 13,279 7,964 4,358 14,490 51 229 4,039 164,326 

Service charge costs (11,152) (717) (2,636) (1,128) (3,772) (14) (97) (384) (19,900) 

Management (24,893) (2,123) (1,749) (969) (2,394) (161) (264) (592) (33,145) 

Routine maintenance (12,409) (882) (4,099) (486) (137) (69) (5) (352) (18,439) 

Planned maintenance (9,098) (458) (423) (326) (755) (1) (8) (213) (11,282) 

Major repairs expenditure (1,107) (27) (66) (103) (261) - - (21) (1,585) 

Property lease charges - - (34) - - (45) - - (79) 

Bad debts (621) (92) (28) (43) 14 63 3 (46) (750) 

Depreciation of housing properties (22,150) (1,566) (1,109) (476) (1,807) - (13) (562) (27,683) 

Impairment of housing properties 1,342 885 547 - 88 - - (1,745) 1,117 

Operating costs on social housing 
lettings 

(80,088) (4,980) (9,597) (3,531) (9,024) (227) (384) (3,915) (111,746) 

Operating surplus/(deficit) on social 
housing lettings

39,828 8,299 (1,633) 827 5,466 (176) (155) 124 52,580 

Void losses (700) (175) (165) (78) 60 - - (245) (1,303)

5. Housing units 

General 
needs

Af-
fordable 

Rental 
Tenure

Sup-
ported 

housing

Older 
people 

schemes

Shared 
owner-

ship

Leasing 
and 

man-
age-

ment

Health 
and ed-
ucation 
accom-
moda-

tion

Inter-
mediate 
market 

rent

Agen-
cy

Other 
rented

Lease-
holders

Contract 
man-
age-

ment

Total

GROUP

Units:

In ownership 25,621 2,495 1,057 993 3,851 25 3 509 231 349 5,795 - 40,929

In  
management - - - - - - - - - - - 7,036 7,036

Owned, 
managed by 
others

38 - 18 30 - - - - 1,044 76 2 - 1,208

Total units 
as at 31 
March 2018

25,659 2,495 1,075 1,023 3,851 25 3 509 1,275 425 5,797 7,036 49,173

In ownership 26,146 2,033 1,095 1,066 3,514 389 311 476 133 485 5,636 - 41,284

In 
management - - - - - - - - - - - 6,677 6,677

Owned, 
managed by 
others

37 - 16 23 - - - - 1,119 - 4 - 1,199

Total units 
as at 31 
March 2017

26,183 2,033 1,111 1,089 3,514 389 311 476 1,252 485 5,640 6,677 49,160

ASSOCIATION

Units:

In ownership 17,440 2,200 1,045 554 3,612 25 3 465 230 348 4,054 - 29,976

In  
management 8,181 295 16 439 239 - - 44 5 1 1,741 6,690 17,651

Owned, 
managed by 
others

38 - 14 30 - - - - 1,040 76 2 - 1,200

Total units 
as at 31 
March 2018

25,659 2,495 1,075 1,023 3,851 25 3 509 1,275 425 5,797 6,690 48,827

In ownership 17,927 1,773 1,079 627 3,281 389 311 432 139 484 3,913 - 30,355

In  
management - - - - - - - - - - - 6,331 6,331

Owned, 
managed by 
others

37 - 16 23 - - - - 1,107 - 4 - 1,187

Total units 
as at 31 
March 2017

17,964 1,773 1,095 650 3,281 389 311 432 1,246 484 3,917 6,331 37,873

Following our Look Again project detailed in the strategic report, all units in the Group are now in management by the Association.
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6. Operating surplus

GROUP ASSOCIATION

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

Operating surplus (all relating to continuing activities – included 
within operating costs) is stated after charging/(crediting):

Housing property depreciation 35,442 33,403 31,542 27,490

Impairment of housing properties - (1,550) - 1,238

Other fixed assets depreciation 2,833 3,563 2,359 3,465

Amortisation of leasehold properties - (41) - (41)

Amortisation of grant funding (11,533) (11,638) (10,860) (10,743)

Amortisation of intangible fixed assets (136) (97) (136) (97)

Operating lease charges 2,945 2,980 2,916 2,846

Auditors’ remuneration (excluding VAT and including expenses):

  As auditors of the financial statements 195 181 88 88

  Other services provided 130 60 130 60

7. Surplus on disposal of other housing assets

GROUP ASSOCIATION

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

Right to buy and acquire

Proceeds 6,029 3,192 2,581 1,606

Cost of sales (2,617) (1,609) (1,046) (680)

Total surplus 3,412 1,583 1,535 926

Staircasing

Proceeds 23,160 23,236 22,252 22,332

Cost of sales (12,015) (11,331) (11,663) (10,797)

Total surplus 11,145 11,905 10,589 11,535

Investment property

Proceeds 2,700 510 2,700 510

Cost of sales (276) (304) (270) (304)

Total surplus 2,424 206 2,430 206

Other disposals

Proceeds 114,386 111,604 127,007 93,202

Cost of sales (65,169) (61,269) (71,394) (52,375)

Total surplus 49,217 50,335 55,613 40,827

66,198 64,029 70,167 53,494

8. Surplus on sale of other assets

9. Surplus on sale of investments

GROUP ASSOCIATION

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

Proceeds - 20 - -

Cost of sales (37) - (37) -

Total (loss)/surplus on other asset sales (37) 20 (37) -

GROUP ASSOCIATION

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

Proceeds 54 158 54 158

Cost of sales (58) (150) (58) (150)

Total (loss)/surplus on investment sales (4) 8 (4) 8
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10. Share of operating surplus in joint ventures

Packington 
Square LLP

2018
£’000

Harrow 
View
LLP

2018
£’000

51 College 
Road  

Harrow
2018

£’000

Total
2018

£’000

Packington 
Square LLP

2017
£’000

Harrow 
View
LLP

2017
£’000

51 College 
Road  

Harrow 
LLP

2017
£’000

Total
2017

£’000

Share of the turnover - - - - 24,835 - - 24,835

Share of the cost of sales - - - - (19,569) - - (19,569)

Share of the operating  
surplus for the year

- - - - 5,266 - - 5,266

Share of:

Current assets 9,077 45,383 24,345 78,805 3,811 - 11,517 15,328

Liabilities due within one year (3,350) (18,908) (7,885) (30,143) (173) - (4,350) (4,523)

Liabilities due in more than 
one year

(5,727) - (16,460) (22,187) (3,638) - (7,167) (10,805)

Net assets - 26,475 - 26,475 - - - -

Investments in joint ventures: Joint ventures are accounted for in accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 
102, Chapter 15 – Investments in joint ventures, in the consolidated financial statements, using the equity 
accounting method. Within the subsidiary undertakings individual financial statements in which the joint venture 
investment is held, the joint venture is accounted for as a fixed asset investment and shown at cost, less any 
impairment or any amounts written off. The joint ventures that traded or were trading during the year are as 
follows:

Joint venture entities

Packington Square LLP

Harrow LLP

51 College Road LLP

Partner

Rydon

Barratts

Barratts

Group interest

50% through Hyde Vale Limited 

50% through Hyde Vale Limited

50% through Hyde Vale Limited 

Group voting rights

50% through Hyde Vale Limited

50% through Hyde Vale Limited

50% through Hyde Vale Limited

11. Interest receivable

12. Interest and financing costs

Interest and financing costs (continued)

GROUP ASSOCIATION

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

From cash deposits 206 62 16 30

From other sources 1,810 1,980 1,444 1,658

From group undertakings - - 3,905 4,981

Total interest receivable on financial liabilities not measured at fair 
value through the Statement of Comprehensive Income

2,016 2,042 5,365 6,669

On financial liabilities/assets at fair value through the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income:

Fair value gains in respect of derivative financial instruments 30,597 1,204 25,798 1,182

Total interest receivable and similar income 32,613 3,246 31,163 7,851

GROUP ASSOCIATION

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

On bank loans and overdrafts 83,218 77,579 60,925 59,665

Other finance costs 2,126 1,315 3,295 1,053

85,344 78,894 64,220 60,718

Less interest capitalised (13,170) (8,444) (6,708) (6,578)

Total interest payable on financial assets not measured at fair value 
through the Statement of Comprehensive Income

72,174 70,450 57,512 54,140

On financial liabilities/assets at fair value through the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income:

Fair value losses in respect of derivative financial instruments 4,349 37,994 3,649 31,206

Total interest payable and similar charges 76,523 108,444 61,161 85,346

Interest is capitalised at a weighted average rate of 4.65% (2017: 5.52%) which is the weighted average cost of capital.

Loan break costs 88,918 - 69,411 -

Pension costs 592 233 546 187
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13. Tax on surplus/(deficit) on ordinary activities

Hyde Housing Association Limited and its subsidiaries (except for Hyde Vale Limited, Hyde New Build Limited, Brent Co-Efficient Limited and Hyde 
PRS Company Limited), are exempt from corporation tax on the charitable activities they perform. Hyde Vale Limited’s principal activity is the 
development of property for outright sale on a commercial basis in support of the mixed tenure activities of the Group. Provisions for corporation 
tax liabilities have been made, to the extent that these liabilities are not mitigated by the distribution of profits back to Hyde Housing Association 
Limited to fund additional social housing units. Hyde New Build Limited’s principal activity is the design and build of property on behalf of the 
Group and its subsidiaries. Provisions for corporation tax liabilities have been made, to the extent that these liabilities are not mitigated by the 
distribution of profits back to Hyde Housing Association Limited to fund additional social housing units. Brent Co-Efficient Limited’s principal 
activity is the delivery of a PFI project. Deferred tax assets are recognised at a rate of 19% (2017: 20%) and relate to trading losses and accelerated 
capital allowances. Deferred tax assets/liabilities are not recognised on gains/losses on derivative financial instruments.

GROUP ASSOCIATION

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

Tax charge for the year - - - -

Deferred tax - - - -

Adjustment for the prior period 11 30 - -

11 30 - -

GROUP ASSOCIATION

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

Reconciliation of total tax charge

Result for the year before taxation 28,082 61,653 32,483 35,514

Tax at 19% thereon: (2017: 20%) 5,336 12,331 6,172 7,103

Effects of:

Charitable income not chargeable to tax (5,336) (12,331) (6,172) (7,103)

Deferred tax - - - -

Adjustment for the prior period 11 30 - -

Utilised tax loss - - - -

Total tax charge 11 30 - -

14. Distribution of reserves

Following the publication of Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales (ICAEW) Technical Alert 16/14 BL, gift-aid payments are 
treated as distributions of reserves. Distributions of reserves are shown in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

GROUP ASSOCIATION

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

Distribution of reserves - - 6,840 12,358

15. Employee information and costs

GROUP ASSOCIATION

2018
No.

2017
No.

2018
No.

2017
No.

FTEs 1,112 1,204 878        888

GROUP ASSOCIATION

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

Staff costs:

Wages and salaries 45,515 45,058 38,003 35,521

Social security costs 4,708 4,547 3,952 3,647

Pension costs (note 37) 5,405 5,559 4,577 4,298

55,628 55,164 46,532 43,466

GROUP

2018
FTE Nos.

2017
FTE Nos.

The number of full time employees paid a basic salary (and any redundancy) in excess of £60,000 
during the year, including pension costs:

£60,000 - £69,999 63 43

£70,000 - £79,999 20 30

£80,000 - £89,999 24 16

£90,000 - £99,999 13 10

£100,000 - £109,999 8 8

£110,000 - £119,999 5 7

£120,000 - £129,999 8 3

£130,000 - £139,999 2 1

£140,000 - £149,999 - 1

£150,000 - £159,999 1 2

£160,000 - £169,999 3 1

£170,000 - £179,999 1 1

£180,000 - £189,999 - 3

£190,000 - £199,999 2 -

£200,000 - £209,999 - 1

£230,000 - £239,999 1 -

£270,000 - £279,999 - 1

£280,000 - £289,999 1 -

152 128

The average number of persons employed (including Executive Directors but excluding non-executive Board 
members) expressed as Full Time Equivalent (FTEs), based on a 35 hour working week, during the year was:
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16. Directors’ emoluments

GROUP

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

Gross salary excluding national insurance contributions for:

Members of the Board and the Non-Executive Management Team

Mark Sebba 29 28

David Banks (appointed 9 October 2017) 7 -

Alan Collett 20 19

Paul Cook 14 13

Lynn Gilbert 14 13

Paula Hay-Plumb 20 19

Alastair Imrie 20 19

Duncan Ingram 20 19

Piers White 15 13

159 143

Members of the Board and the Executive Management Team

Elaine Bailey 289 278

Peter Denton (appointed 16 February 2017) 233 35

522 313

Members of the Executive Management Team

Tracy Allison 179 171

Stephen Aleppo (resigned 31 January 2018) 157 148

Chyrel Brown (interim 1 April 2017 – 30 September 2017) 79 -

Carol Carter (resigned 31 March 2017) - 173

Neville Hounsome (resigned 20 November 2016) - 128

David Gannicott 180 173

David Matthewman (appointed 1 February 2018) 26 -

Susan Stockwell (appointed 18 September 2017) 86 -

707 793

1,388 1,249

Pension contributions:

Elaine Bailey - -

Peter Denton - -

Stephen Aleppo 26 11

Tracy Allison 30 14

Chyrel Brown 10 -

Carol Carter - 15

Neville Hounsome - 8

David Gannicott 30 15

David Matthewman 5 -

Susan Stockwell 16 -

117 63

The highest paid Director, Elaine Bailey, was the Chief 
Executive Officer of the Association during the financial 
year, and acts on behalf of the entities within the 
Hyde Group. She was a member of the Hyde Housing 
Association Limited Defined Contribution scheme and 
the terms and conditions of her membership were 

consistent with all other members of this scheme. The 
scheme was funded by Hyde contributing within the 
scheme guidelines and contributions during the year 
were £nil (2017: £nil). Compensation for loss of office 
payments in the year were £nil (2017: £106k).

Additions to Group housing properties during the year include 
capitalised interest of £13,170,100 (2017: £8,444,000) (note 12) and 
capitalised administration costs of £3,496,000 (2017: £3,398,000). 
Total expenditure on works to existing properties during the year 
amounted to £28,161,000 (2017: £28,061,000) of which £23,255,000 
(2017: £24,793,000) was capitalised. No assets were held under 
finance leases at 31 March 2018 and 2017. There are fixed charges on 
35,224 housing properties (2017: 33,131).

Additions to Association housing properties during the year include 
capitalised interest of £6,708,600 (2017: £6,578,000) (note 12) and 
capitalised administration costs of £3,496,000 (2017: £3,398,000). 
Total expenditure on works to existing properties during the year 
amounted to £19,656,000 (2017: £20,181,000) of which £16,364,400 
(2017: £17,419,000) was capitalised. There are fixed charges on 22,544 
housing properties (2017: 21,660). 

17. Housing properties

GROUP ASSOCIATION

Housing 
properties 

held for 
letting
£’000

Housing 
properties 

under 
construc-

tion
£’000

Complet-
ed shared 
ownership 
properties

£’000

Shared 
own-

ership 
under 

construc-
tion

£’000

Total
£’000

Housing 
properties 

held for 
letting
£’000

Housing 
prop-
erties 
under 

construc-
tion

£’000

Complet-
ed shared 
ownership 
properties

 £’000

Shared 
ownership 

under 
construc-

tion
£’000

Total
£’000

Cost 

As at 1 April 2017 2,768,729 107,370 264,367 37,795 3,178,261 2,286,989 107,288 250,830 37,600 2,682,707

Additions 27,352 72,314 128 87,365 187,159 16,894 64,742 - 84,274 165,910

Intragroup transfers (3,924) - 3,924 - - (3,924) - 3,924 - -

Disposals (39,272) (30,396) (12,261) (19,409) (101,338) (35,936) (30,396) (11,984) (19,410) (97,726)

Completions 92,003 (92,003) 73,640 (73,640) - 87,224 (87,224) 72,126 (72,126) -

As at 31 March 2018 2,844,888 57,285 329,798 32,111 3,264,082 2,351,247 54,410 314,896 30,338 2,750,891

Accumulated depreciation 
and impairment 

As at 1 April 2017 (265,931) - (16,932) - (282,863) (223,850) - (16,472) - (240,322)

Charge for the year (35,587) - (2,396) - (37,983) (29,278) - (2,264) - (31,542)

Intragroup transfers (254) - 254 - - (254) - 254 - -

Impairment - - - - - - - - - -

Disposals 10,471 - 724 - 11,195 9,538 - 713 - 10,251

As at 31 March 2018 (291,301) - (18,350) - (309,651) (243,844) - (17,769) - (261,613)

Net book value

As at 31 March 2018 2,553,587 57,285 311,448 32,111 2,954,431 2,107,403 54,410 297,127 30,338 2,489,278

As at 31 March 2017 2,502,798 107,370 247,435 37,795 2,895,398 2,063,139 107,288 234,358 37,600 2,442,385
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Impairment
Housing properties are reviewed for impairment if there is an indication 
that impairment may have occurred. Where there is evidence of 
impairment, fixed assets are written down to their recoverable amount. 
Any such write down is charged to operating profit.

Impairment is performed by cash generating unit. The Group/
Association defines a cash generating unit as a scheme within housing 
properties. A scheme is defined as all units of the same tenure within 
one area or estate. Impairment is assessed scheme by scheme.

Impairment is assessed by comparing the carrying value of the scheme 
to the depreciated replacement cost, as the assets are held for the 
purpose of providing social housing rather than the estimated use 
value.

Depreciated replacement cost is assessed based on data available. 
Data available includes depreciated replacement cost based on 
the costs to build similar schemes and insurance rebuild costs. No 
impairment charge was incurred during the year (2017 £nil).

For the year ended 31 March 2018, an impairment charge of £nil (2017: 
£1,550k) was incurred for the Group including £nil (2017: £1,142k) for 
the Association. Accumulated impairment for the Group is £2,288k 
(2017: £2,288k) and £2,154k (2017: £2,154k) for the Association.

Shared ownership
Housing properties include completed shared ownership properties 
where the first tranche has been sold or where the first tranche element 
is due to be sold. Where the first tranche element is due to be sold, 
the housing property element is calculated by looking at the average 
percentage unsold. Rental income is collected on the unsold element 
of shared ownership properties. When shared ownership properties 
within housing properties are sold, either in entirety or a proportion, this 
is called staircasing. Staircasing sales are recognised above operating 
surplus, within surplus on sale of other housing properties. During 
2017-18, the Group had 215 staircasing transactions (2017: 213) with 
a surplus of £11,145k (2017: £11,905k) and the Association had 205 
staircasing transactions (2017: 201) with a surplus of £10,589k (2017: 
£11,535k). Also included in housing properties are incomplete shared 
ownership properties which are under construction. The element 
included in housing properties is the amount that is not expected to be 
sold.

The first tranche element of shared ownership properties is held within 
stock. This is calculated by looking at the expected percentage to be 
sold. Sales of first tranche shared ownership properties are recognised 
in operating surplus. During 2017-18 the Group had 394 first tranche 
shared ownership sales (2017: 298) with a surplus of £15,708k (2017: 
£10,698k) and the Association had 394 first tranche shared ownership 
sales (2017: 298) with a surplus of £15,373k (2017: £9,040k).

18. Intangible fixed assets

GROUP ASSOCIATION

 2018
£’000

Perpetual software 
license

2018
£’000

Perpetual software 
license

Cost

As at 1 April 2017 410 410

Additions 164 164

As at March 2018 574 574

Accumulated amortisation

As at 1 April 2017 (97) (97)

Charges for the year (136) (136)

As at 31 March 2018 (233) (233)

Net book value as at 31 March 2018 341 341

Net book value as at 31 March 2017 313 313

17. Housing properties (continued)
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19. Other fixed assets

20. Derivative financial instruments:  
assets due after more than one year

GROUP ASSOCIATION

Scheme Freehold 
office
£’000

Furniture 
equip-

ment and 
vehicles

£’000

Lease and 
man-

agement 
schemes

£’000

Project 
costs
£’000

Total 
other fixed 

assets
£’000

Freehold 
office
£’000

Furniture 
equip-

ment and 
vehicles

£’000

Lease and 
man-

agement 
schemes

£’000

Project 
costs
£’000

Total  
other 
fixed 

assets
£’000

Cost 

As at 1 April 2017 7,484 31,884 3,183 5,623 48,174 3,317 30,421 3,058 5,624 42,420

Additions - 2,119 - 338 2,457 - 2,116 - 338 2,454

Transfers - - - - - - - - - -

Disposals (1,067) - (715) - (1,782) (1,069) - (715) - (1,784)

As at 31 March 2018 6,417 34,003 2,468 5,961 48,849 2,248 32,537 2,343 5,962 43,090

     

Accumulated depreciation      

As at 1 April 2017 (872) (26,171) (1,541) - (28,584) (693) (25,506) (1,541) - (27,740)

Charge for the year (55) (2,283) (105) - (2,443) (29) (2,225) (105) - (2,359)

Disposals 332 - 523 - 855 332 - 523 - 855

As at 31 March 2018 (595) (28,454) (1,123) - (30,172) (390) (27,731) (1,123) - (29,244)

     

Net book value      

As at 31 March 2018 5,822 5,549 1,345 5,961 18,677 1,858 4,806 1,220 5,962 13,846

As at 31 March 2017 6,612 5,713 1,642 5,623 19,590 2,623 4,915 1,517 5,624 14,679

Lease and management schemes are short term units which are leased by the Group from private landlords or local councils and let out to social 
tenants. Any grant received in relation to short-term leasehold premises is included in creditors. Living over the shop units are properties leased 
from private landlords which are let out to social tenants.

GROUP ASSOCIATION

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

Derivative financial instruments expiring greater than one year 1,168 24,929 1,168 24,929

21. Investments

GROUP ASSOCIATION

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

Investments:

Investment properties 45,939 45,116 29,300 29,624

Easybuy financial assets 874 931 874 931

Other investments 11,262 11,128 11,341 7,229

58,075 57,175 41,515 37,784

Investment properties including market rent and commercial are as follows:

As at 1 April 45,116 33,970 29,624 19,894

Additions - 6,860 - 6,860

Revaluation 1,434 4,587 285 3,171

Disposals (611) (301) (609) (301)

As at 31 March 45,939 45,116 29,300 29,624

Easybuy financial assets are as follows:

As at 1 April 931 1,092 931 1,092

Revaluation (4) (10) (4) (10)

Disposals (53) (151) (53) (151)

As at 31 March 874 931 874 931

Other investments:

Balance at 1 April 11,128 9,146 7,229 23,045

Additions 119 - 4,110 -

Disposals (4) - (4) (15,801)

Realised gain/(loss) during the year - 888 - (15)

Unrealised gain during the year 19 1,094 6 -

11,262 11,128 11,341 7,229

The Easybuy financial asset receivables largely have repayment dates that vary and variable repayment amounts, provided as part of the sales 
transactions and are secured by a second legal charge on the relate property. The assets are recorded at fair value, being the estimated future 
receivable by the Group, discounted back to present values. The fair value of the future anticipated receipts takes into account management’s view 
of future house price movements, the expected timing of receipts and credit risk. These assumptions are reviewed at the end of each financial 
reporting period. The difference between the anticipated future receipt and the initial fair value is credited to income with the financial asset 
increasing to its full expected cash settlement value on the anticipated receipt date. Credit risk is accounted for in determining fair values and 
appropriate discount rates are applied. Management review the financial assets for impairment at each balance sheet date.

At 31 March 2018, all of the other investments were held with the Charities Official Investment Fund (COIF), JM Finn investment fund, the Islington 
Private Finance Initiative (PFI) and the Harrow View East LLP joint venture. The Islington PFI is the Group’s investment in the provision of social 
housing in conjunction with the London Borough of Islington. Investments in COIF are measured at fair value and return rate is 0.4%. Investments 
in JM Finn investment fund are measured at fair value and the return rate is 4.2%.
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22. Debtors: amounts falling due after more than one year

23. Inventory

GROUP ASSOCIATION

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

Service charge debtors 6,124 6,389 4,926 5,380

Stock transfers 27,269 21,681 28,676 16,261

Loans to subsidiaries - - 59,474 103,785

Other 21,437 6,418 11,021 3,312

54,830 34,488 104,097 128,738

GROUP ASSOCIATION

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

Repairs materials - 42 - -

Shared ownership first tranche under construction 20,484 33,397 19,152 32,528

Shared ownership first tranche held for resale 7,308 2,910 6,927 2,488

Outright sale under construction 222,280 145,838 20,296 29,872

Outright sale held for resale - 529 - -

250,072 182,716 46,375 64,888

The stock transfers represent stock improvement undertaken for leaseholders under the Large Scale Voluntary Stock Transfers. This is amortised 
over 30 years, in line with the benefits received from the stock improvements. This stock transfer represents the works performed on the 
properties at Stonebridge, for which there are 18 years remaining.

Included within loans to subsidiaries is the amount due from BCE for the PFI scheme. This represents the residual value of the properties 
constructed under the agreement with the London Borough of Brent.

Amounts due from subsidiaries include unsecured loans at rates of interest varying from LIBOR + 2.25% to 11% and are due for repayment 
between now and 11 years.

Stock consists of first tranche shared ownership and outright sale assets under construction or completed which are intended for sale. The Group 
amount includes schemes which have been transferred from the Association into Hyde Vale Limited, a member of the Group, which is developing 
these assets for outright sale. The values stated in the Group financial statements do not include any profit recognised by HHA on the transfers, 
which occurred during the year on an arm’s length basis. This figure includes nil impairment in properties held for resale in the year (2017:£nil).

24. Debtors: amounts falling due within one year

25. Cash and cash equivalents

GROUP ASSOCIATION

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

Rental debtors 16,080 17,443 10,521 8,257

Provision for doubtful debts (3,586) (4,000) (2,855) (3,268)

12,494 13,443 7,666 4,989

Social housing grant receivable 2,625 305 1,826 136

Prepayments and accrued income 3,040 3,354 3,023 3,313

Amounts due from group undertakings - - 29,641 19,307

Other debtors 17,655 14,211 13,444 5,400

35,814 31,313 55,600 33,145

GROUP ASSOCIATION

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

Cash at bank 80,471 44,514 51,511 28,211

Of the cash held, £19.7m is restricted (2017: £26.4m), of which £6.2m (2017: £6.6m) relates to Brent Co-Efficient Limited where the restricted 
funds are ringfenced for expenditure on the Brent PFI contract. The funds are used to settle the Group/Association’s liabilities. All payments and 
transfers from these bank accounts have to be approved by the syndicate agent, Barclays. Restricted cash of £12.7m, £0.2m and £0.5m (2017: 
£12.1m, £0.2m and £0.3m) is held in Hyde Housing Association Limited and Martlet Homes Limited as leaseholder sinking funds and Hyde 
Charitable Trust Limited for specific charitable purposes respectively.



126   |   Financial Statements and Annual Report | 31 March 2018 Financial Statements and Annual Report | 31 March 2018   |   127 

26. Creditors: amounts falling due within one year

27. Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year 

GROUP ASSOCIATION

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

Loans (note 27) 59,289 62,238 58,101 49,549

Rent in advance 10,067 11,757 7,105 8,708

Development retentions 7,574 4,225 302 449

Trade creditors 5,205 5,798 3,781 3,701

Social housing grant in advance 25 92 25 92

Amounts due to Group undertakings - - 27,691 28,408

Taxation and social security costs 1,178 1,200 1,178 1,200

Pension contributions due 441 30 441 30

SHPS 343 331 343 331

Other creditors and accruals 63,140 43,596 34,853 24,564

147,262 129,267 133,820 117,032

GROUP ASSOCIATION

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

Social housing and other grants 1,083,051 1,085,321 1,023,135 1,027,488

Bonds* 718,964 328,690 323,544 328,690

Loans** 871,216 978,679 679,747 650,744

Amounts due to Group undertakings - - 219,375 127,592

SHPS 2,069 2,415 2,069 2,415

Other long-term creditors 32,214 32,159 29,648 28,841

2,707,514 2,427,264 2,277,518 2,165,770

*Included in Bonds is a debt reserve set off against the Haven bond. This reserve is classified as an asset available for sale and held at fair value. 
See note on next page.

** Included in Loans are loan cost balances set off against the loans and amortised over the lives of the loans.

Amounts due to Group undertakings include unsecured loans at rates of interest varying from 2.8% to 11%.

27. Creditors: amounts falling due after more 
than one year (continued)

GROUP ASSOCIATION

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

Social housing and other grants

At 1 April 1,085,321 1,114,006 1,027,488 1,055,147

Received 39,606 13,861 36,685 11,577

Disposals (30,343) (30,908) (30,178) (28,493)

Amortisation (11,533) (11,638) (10,860) (10,743)

1,083,051 1,085,321 1,023,135 1,027,488

Debt reserve

Balance at 1 April 9,765 9,632 9,765 9,632

Unrealised (loss)/gain during the year (933) 133 (933) 133

8,832 9,765 8,832 9,765

Loans and bonds

Between one and two years 24,303 101,843 23,067 63,832

Between two and five years 272,891 113,328 268,884 71,655

More than five years 1,305,779 1,104,513 720,563 854,235

1,602,973 1,319,684 1,012,514 989,722

Loan costs (12,793) (12,315) (9,223)  (10,288)

1,590,180 1,307,369 1,003,291 979,434

Less than one year 59,289 62,238 58,101 49,549

1,649,469 1,369,607 1,061,392 1,028,983

Contingent grants relate to contingent liability grant balances that were transferred to the Group as part of some stock swaps. A liability will be 
realised in Recycled Capital Grant Fund if units from these stock swaps are sold in the future. Contingent grant is disclosed in note 17.

Group loans totalling £1,649.5m (2017: £1,369.6m) at the statement of financial position date are generally secured by fixed charges on 35,224 
housing properties (2017: 33,131). In addition, the Group held 7,814 (2017: 8,135) unencumbered properties available for use as security for new 
loans. These properties were estimated to provide potential security for a further £620.7m (2017: £679.0m) of new loans.

Loans are at rates of interest varying from 0.79% to 15.98%. The average interest rate on borrowings held at year end was 4.65% (2017: 5.52%). 
The Group’s interest rate risk management policy is designed to reduce volatility in cash flows and earnings. The size and maturity of debt is 
matched and hedged using a combination of various interest rate hedge instruments, primarily vanilla interest rate swaps, cancellable swaps, RPI 
swaps and interest rate caps. Group policy is to maintain minimum and maximum thresholds of fixed to floating rate debt (after allowing for the 
impact of its interest rate swaps) of 70%-95%. Of the loans due greater than five years, £325m (2017: £594.6m) relates to instalment debts and 
£968m (2017: £497.6m) relates to non-instalment debt.

The debt reserve is held against the Haven bond, which is held within bonds above. There is a legally enforceable right to set off the amount 
against the loan.
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28. Derivative financial instruments: liabilities

29. Recycled capital grant fund

GROUP ASSOCIATION

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

Liabilities on derivative financial instruments expiring in more than 
one year

175,993 327,629 138,182 285,019

GROUP ASSOCIATION

GLA
2018

£’000

HCA
2018

£’000

Total 
2018

£’000

GLA
2018

£’000

HCA
2018

£’000

Total 
2018

£’000

At start of the year 12,396 11,968 24,364 12,370 11,961 24,331

Inputs to fund:

Funds recycled 4,506 3,991 8,497 4,493 3,900 8,393

Recredits 258 - 258 - - -

Other - - - 258 - 258

Interest accrued 46 41 87 46 42 88

Recycling of grant:

New build (3,279) (4,944) (8,223) (3,279) (4,863) (8,142)

Other (1) - (1) (1) (1) (2)

Repayment of grant to HCA/GLA - - - - - -

13,926 11,056 24,982 13,887 11,039 24,926

GROUP ASSOCIATION

GLA
2017

£’000

HCA
2017

£’000

Total 
2017

£’000

GLA
2017

£’000

HCA
2017

£’000

Total 
2017

£’000

At start of the year 12,101 11,114 23,215 12,056 10,192 22,248

Inputs to fund:

Funds recycled 4,528 3,427 7,955 4,528 3,192 7,720

Recredits - 17 17 - - -

Other (43) 43 - (43) 43 -

Interest accrued 41 35 76 41 35 76

Recycling of grant:

New build (4,195) (1,999) (6,194) (4,176) (947) (5,123)

Other

Repayment of grant to HCA/GLA (36) (669) (705) (36) (554) (590)

12,396 11,968 24,364 12,370 11,961 24,331

Amounts due for repayment to the Greater London Authority (GLA) and Homes and Community Agency (HCA) were £nil (2017: £nil). The Recycled 
Capital Grant Fund (RCGF) arises from grant recovery on all other sales of properties originally funded by Social Housing Grant. Other than this, it 
works in the same way as the Disposal Proceeds Fund (DPF) (note 30). No amounts are due greater than three years.

29. Recycled capital grant fund (continued)
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30. Disposal proceeds fund

GROUP ASSOCIATION

GLA
2018

£’000

HCA
2018

£’000

Total 
2018

£’000

GLA
2018

£’000

HCA
2018

£’000

Total 
2018

£’000

At start of the year 1,265 191 1,456 987 190 1,177

Inputs to fund:

Funds recycled - - - - - -

Interest accrued 4 2 6 3 1 4

Recycling of grant: - - -

New build (828) (145) (973) (828) (143) (971)

Other - 3 3 - 3 3

441 51 492 162 51 213

GROUP ASSOCIATION

GLA
2017

£’000

HCA
2017

£’000

Total 
2017

£’000

GLA
2017

£’000

HCA
2017

£’000

Total 
2017

£’000

At start of the year 1,229 387 1,616 1,229 189 1,418

Inputs to fund:

Funds recycled 425 - 425 148 - 148

Interest accrued 5 1 6 4 1 5

Recycling of grant:

New build (394) (197) (591) (394) - (394)

Other - - - - - -

1,265 191 1,456 987 190 1,177

Amounts due for repayment to the GLA and HCA were £nil (2017: £nil). The Disposals Proceeds Fund arises from the net proceeds of sales funded 
by Voluntary Purchase Grant. In accordance with the GLA and HCA requirements, such proceeds are credited to the fund and, together with 
accrued interest, must be used to provide replacement properties. There is a time limit of three years, within which the Group/Association must 
use the proceeds. No amounts are due greater than three years.

31. Provisions for liabilities and charges

GROUP ASSOCIATION

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

At start of the year 3,823 1,740 3,815 1,732

Additions 11,529 2,524 5,805 2,524

Release of provision (136) (441) (125) (441)

At end of the year 15,216 3,823 9,495 3,815

Provisions for liabilities and charges are split between dilapidations, legal claims, onerous lease and fire safety works as follows:

Dilapidations

At start of the year 719 595 711 587

Additions 99 124 99 124

Release of provisions (8) - - -

At end of the year 810 719 810 711

Dilapidations provisions are included for all leased properties where the contract requires us to return the property to its original condition at the 
end of the lease, and are charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Income within operating costs.

Legal claims

At start of the year 2,478 471 2,478 471

Additions 600 2,400 600 2,400

Release of provision (68) (393) (65) (393)

At end of the year 3,010 2,478 3,013 2,478

Legal claim provisions are included for claims brought against the Group, and are charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Income within 
operating costs. The legal claims are expected to be released between 2018 and 2019.

Onerous lease

At start of the year 626 674 626 674

Additions 36 - 36 -

Release of provision (60) (48) (60) (48)

At end of the year 602 626 602 626

The onerous lease relates to the sub-letting of an office building where the rental income received is less than that payable under the lease. The 
onerous lease will be released over the life of the lease which is from 2016 to 2028.

Fire Safety Works

At start of the year - - - -

Additions 10,794 - 5,070 -

At end of the year 10,794 - 5,070 -

The provision relates to costs for fire safety works identified across our portfolio.
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32. Capital commitments

33. Operating leases

GROUP ASSOCIATION

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

Capital expenditure contracted for but not provided for in the 
financial statements

302,427 270,437 148,676 166,580

Capital expenditure authorised by the Board but not contracted for 349,277 606,646 168,987 486,613

Capital expenditure contracted for by joint venture entities 111,706 223,970 - -

Capital expenditure contracted for by joint venture entities 
committed to by Hyde

- 42,380 - -

763,410 1,143,433 317,663 653,193

GROUP ASSOCIATION

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

Not later than one year 3,657 3,299 3,187 2,766

Later than one year but not later than five years 12,048 10,853 11,832 10,085

Later than five years 15,622 15,412 15,622 15,412

31,327 29,564 30,641 28,263

For the Group, the commitments relate to the build of housing properties from the period 1 April 2018 to 31 March 2027. There are no 
performance-related conditions attached to the commitments. These commitments will be funded by property sales of £662,583k, an agreed loan 
of £91,025k and grants of £16,202k. For the Association, the commitments relate to the build of housing properties from the period 1 April 2018 to 
31 March 2025. There are no performance-related conditions attached to the commitments. These commitments will be funded by property sales 
(including via distributions from subsidiaries and joint ventures) of £217,190k, an agreed loan of £91,025k and grants of £9,447k.

The Group’s social housing properties are held under operating leases and are tenanted under cancellable operating lease conditions. Typical 
tenant break clauses exist requiring a notice period of a month. Rents fluctuate in accordance with the Rent Standard and are affected by the 
Welfare Reform and Work Act 2016. Shared ownership properties may be purchased (staircased) by its leaseholder at any time, at the pro-rata 
market rate. Ongoing lease payments will be adjusted according to the share of ownership retained by the Group. Certain properties are available 
to purchase via right to buy by the existing tenant.

Total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases for the Group/Association 
as a lessee:

34. Contingent liabilities

GROUP ASSOCIATION

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

Government funding received 1,232,304 1,261,607 1,162,829 1,192,348

Grants amortised to date (contingent liabilities) (149,253) (176,286) (139,694) (164,860)

Net grant (note 27) 1,083,051 1,085,321 1,023,135 1,027,488

From time-to-time, legal claims are raised against the 
Group. The Directors have considered outstanding 
claims and believe the provisions made in Note 31 are 
appropriate. There are claims which have not been 
included in the provisions balance, as the Directors 
consider that the likelihood of an outflow of cash as 
a result of these claims is low and that no provision 
is required. For these claims, it is impracticable to 
estimate the possible outflow. 

The entity receives financial assistance from the HCA 
and GLA. These government grants are accounted 
for as deferred income in the statement of financial 
position and are amortised annually to the Statement 
of Comprehensive Income based on the life of the build 
structure which is 100 years. The amount amortised 
represent a contingent liability to the entity and will be 
recognised as a liability when the properties funded 
by the relevant government grant are disposed of or 
when the property ceases to be used for social housing 
purposes. Below is the analysis of the assistance from 
government sources in the form of government grants.
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35. Subsidiaries and related undertakings

The related undertakings whose results or financial performance principally affect the figures shown in the 
consolidated financial statements are as follows:
The related undertakings whose results or financial performance principally affect the figures shown in the 
consolidated financial statements are as follows:

Name of subsidiary 
undertaking Principal activity Interest Legal status

Martlet Homes Limited (PRP) A registered provider of social housing based in 
Chichester operating predominantly in Surrey, Sussex 
and Hampshire

Wholly owned subsidiary 
of the Association

Incorporated in the UK 
as a Community Benefit 
Society

Hyde Southbank Homes 
Limited (PRP)

A registered provider of social housing via a Large 
Scale Voluntary Transfer (LSVT) based in Lambeth

Wholly owned subsidiary 
of the Association

Incorporated in the UK 
as a Community Benefit 
Society

Hillside Housing Trust 
Limited (PRP)

A registered provider of social housing responsible 
for managing the Stonebridge Estate in the London 
Borough of Brent

Wholly owned subsidiary 
of the Association

Incorporated in the UK 
as a Community Benefit 
Society

Hyde Vale Limited A company with non-charitable status undertaking 
market rent and outright sales activities in London 
and the south east of England

Wholly owned subsidiary 
of the Association

Incorporated in the UK 
under the Companies Act

Brent Co-Efficient Limited A company limited by guarantee, acting as a special 
purpose vehicle to deliver a PFI project in the London 
Borough of Brent

Wholly owned subsidiary 
of the Association

Incorporated in the UK 
under the Companies Act

Hyde New Build Limited A company with non-charitable status undertaking 
design and build on behalf of the Hyde Group and its 
subsidiaries

Wholly owned subsidiary 
of the Association

Incorporated in the UK 
under the Companies Act

Hyde Charitable Trust A charity that funds regeneration activities that 
support disadvantaged people in London and the 
south east of England

Wholly owned subsidiary 
of the Association

Incorporated in the UK 
under the charities act

Hyde PRS Company Limited A company that provides private rented 
accommodation

Wholly owned subsidiary 
of the Association

Incorporated in the UK 
under the Companies Act

New England Square 
Management Limited

To manage the public square that forms part of the
Site J Development in Brighton..

51% owned subsidiary of 
Hyde Vale Limited

Incorporated in the UK 
under the Companies Act

Packington Square LLP A partnership building social and outright sale 
housing on the Packington Estate

Joint Venture 50% 
interest by Hyde Vale 
Limited

Incorporated in the UK 
under the LLP legislative 
requirements

One Preston Park LLP A partnership building social and outright sale 
housing in Brighton

87% owned by Hyde Vale 
Limited and 13% First 
Base Limited

Incorporated in the UK 
under the LLP legislative 
requirements

51 College Road Harrow LLP A partnership building social and outright sale 
housing in Harrow

Joint Venture 50% 
interest by Hyde Vale 
Limited

Incorporated in the UK 
under the LLP legislative 
requirements

The Kent Homebuilding 
Partnership LLP

A partnership building social and outright sale 
housing in Kent

99.9% owned by Hyde 
Vale Limited and 0.1% 
owned by Hyde New 
Build Limited

Incorporated in the UK 
under the LLP legislative 
requirements

All the above entities are included within the consolidation. Where the entity is a joint venture, this is included in the consolidation using the equity 
method at the Group level.

London Homebuilding 
Partnership LLP

A partnership building social and outright sale 
housing in London

99.9% owned by Hyde 
Vale Limited and 0.1% 
owned by Hyde New 
Build Limited

Incorporated in the UK 
under the LLP legislative 
requirements.

Harrow View LLP A partnership building social and outright sale 
housing in Harrow

Joint Venture 50% 
interest by Hyde Vale 
Limited.

Incorporated in the UK 
under the LLP legislative 
requirements.

Homes for the city of 
Brighton and Hove LLP

A partnership building social and outright sale 
housing in Brighton and Hove

50% owned subsidiary of 
Hyde Vale Limited.

Incorporated in the UK 
under the LLP legislative 
requirements.

Homes for the city of 
Brighton and Hove Design 
and Build Company Limited

A partnership building social and outright sale 
housing in Brighton and Hove, undertaking design 
and build activities on behalf of its LLP.

50% owned subsidiary of 
Hyde Vale Limited.

Incorporated in the UK 
under the Companies Act.

PLJ Camberwell Limited A company purchased by the Group to obtain land. 
This is dormant.

Wholly owned subsidiary 
of the Association.

Incorporated in the UK 
under the Companies Act.

Name of subsidiary 
undertaking Principal activity Interest Legal status

Intra-group transactions between Hyde Housing 
Association Limited and its non-regulated subsidiaries 
are summarised as follows:

 • Income from Hyde Vale Limited and Brent Co-
Efficient Limited relating to interest on intercompany 
loans, sales agent and housing management fees 
and land sales. The total of these transactions was 
£2.9m (2017: £4.6m)

 • Assets include long term and short term 
intercompany loans and accrued interest receivable, 
totalling £54.9m (2017: £108.1m)

 • Liabilities include long term intercompany loans and 
accrued interest payable, totalling £93.5m (2017: 
£nil)

 • Expenditure to Hyde New Build Limited relating to 
land sales and construction services. The total of 
these transactions are £90.5m (2017: £110.5m)

 • Hyde Housing Association paid the Hyde Housing 
Association Defined Benefit Pension Scheme 
contributions of £2m (2017: £1.5m)

 • Recharges from the Association to subsidiaries and 
related undertakings totalled £5.5m (2017: £5.4m) 
during the year. 

Certain Board and Committee members, acting in their 
capacity as tenant representatives, may be tenants of 
the Group/Association. Such tenancies are granted on 
the same terms and conditions and managed on the 
same basis as other tenants of the Group/Association. 
Jan Durbridge and Jacqui Puddifoot are Hyde tenants 
and they sit on the Martlet Homes Limited, Hyde 
Southbank Homes Limited and Hillside Housing Trust 
Limited Boards. The rents they paid for 2017/18 were 
£6,254 (2017: £5,040) and £5,645 (2017: £5,831) 
respectively. Their terms and conditions are no different 
to any other tenant. Michelle Walcott is a Hillside tenant 
and sits on the Hyde Charitable Trust Board. The rent 
she paid for was £6,819 (2017: £7,089). Her terms and 
conditions are no different to any other tenant.
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36. Payments to creditors

The Group/Association has a policy of paying suppliers within agreed payment terms. Subject to resolution of any 
queries or discrepancies on specific invoices, the usual policy is to pay creditors within 30 days.

37. Pension schemes

The pensions of employees of the Hyde Group are administered through four schemes, which provide defined 
benefits relating to pay and service and a fifth scheme which is a defined contribution scheme.

GROUP ASSOCIATION

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

Current service costs:

Defined benefit schemes:

Hyde Housing Association Limited Defined Benefit Pension Scheme 2,050 1,484 2,050 1,484

London Borough of Lambeth Pension Fund 72 145 72 145

West Sussex County Council Pension Fund 533 1,261 - -

Kent County Council Pension Fund 109 104 109 104

The Pensions Trust Social Housing Pension Scheme 472 353 472 353

Defined contribution schemes:

Hyde Housing Association Limited Defined Contribution Scheme 2,169 2,212 1,874 2,212

5,405 5,559 4,577 4,298

Net interest expense:

Defined benefit schemes:

Hyde Housing Association Limited Defined Benefit Pension Scheme 490 222 490 222

London Borough of Lambeth Pension Fund 25 30 25 30

Kent County Council Pension Fund 31 44 31 44

West Sussex County Council Pension Fund 46 46 - -

592 342 546 296

Defined benefit schemes

Hyde Housing Association Limited Defined 
Benefit Pension Scheme (HHADBPS)
Hyde Housing Association Limited operates a funded 
defined benefit scheme that closed to new members 
on 1 July 2004. All new employees after that date were 
given the option to join a defined contribution scheme. 
From 1 April 2007, the scheme introduced benefit 
changes for future service (for all sections apart from 

the Passport 2000 section). Members’ benefits under the 
new arrangements are based on Career Average Related 
Earnings (CARE), rather than Final Pensionable Salary. 
The pension contribution rate, which includes liability for 
pension increases, has been determined in accordance 
with the advice of professionally qualified consulting 
actuaries based on an actuarial valuation made as at 31 
March 2012 using the attained age method.

London Borough of Lambeth Pension 
Fund (LBLPF)
Some employees of the Group are members of 
the London Borough of Lambeth Pension Fund. 
Contributions are made to the London Borough of 
Lambeth Pension Fund which is administered by the 
London Borough of Lambeth. It is a defined benefits 
pension scheme providing benefits held separately 
from the assets of the Group. The pension contribution 
cost, which includes liability for pension increases, 
has been determined in accordance with the advice 
of professionally qualified consulting actuaries, based 
on an actuarial valuation made as at 31 March 2013, 
using approximate valuation methods. As the scheme 
is closed to new members, under the projected unit 
method current service costs will increase as the 
members of the scheme approach retirement. 

Kent County Council Pension Fund (KCCPF)
Some ex-employees of the Group are members of 
the Kent County Council Pension Fund. It is a defined 
benefits pension scheme providing benefits held 
separately from the assets of the Group. The pension 
contribution cost, which includes liability for pension 
increases, has been determined in accordance with the 
advice of professionally qualified consulting actuaries, 
based on an actuarial valuation made as at 31 March 
2013, using approximate valuation methods. There are 
no current members in this scheme. 

West Sussex County Council Pension 
Fund (WSCCPF)
Martlet Homes Limited, a subsidiary of the Group, is 
an admitted member of the Local Government Pension 
Scheme. Contributions are made to the West Sussex 
County Council Pension Fund, which is administered 
by West Sussex County Council. It is a defined benefit 
pension scheme providing benefits held separately from 
the assets of the Group. Contributions to the scheme 
are charged to the Group Statement of Comprehensive 
Income. The pension contribution cost, which includes 
liability for pension increases, has been determined in 
accordance with the advice of professionally qualified 
consulting actuaries, based on an actuarial valuation 
made as at 31 March 2018, using approximate 
valuation methods. The majority of the employees who 
participate in the scheme are employees of Martlet 
Homes Limited. However, there are some members 
who are employed by the other Group companies. 
The Association is unable to identify its share of the 
underlying assets and liabilities for those employees 

of the scheme and therefore accounts for the pension 
scheme for those employees within the Association, 
as if it were a defined contribution scheme. The 
scheme is accounted for fully within the Group financial 
statements. Contributions paid by the Association to 
Martlet are based on contributions due to Association 
employees. There is no policy for Martlet charging the 
costs of the defined benefit pension scheme to the 
Association. 

The Pensions Trust Social Housing Pension 
Scheme (SHPS)
Hyde participates in SHPS (the Scheme). The Scheme 
is funded and is contracted-out of the State Pension 
scheme. SHPS is a multi-employer defined benefits 
scheme. Employer participation in the Scheme is 
subject to adherence with the employer responsibilities 
and obligations as set out in the ‘SHPS House Policies 
and Rules Employer Guide’. The Scheme operated 
a single benefit structure, final salary with a 1/60th 
accrual rate until 31 March 2007. Hyde has operated the 
final salary with a 1/60th accrual rate benefit structure 
for active members as at 31 March 2018. This does not 
reflect any benefit structure changes made from April 
2011. The last formal valuation of the Scheme was 
performed as at 30 September 2014, by a professionally 
qualified actuary, using the projected unit method. The 
market value of the Scheme’s assets at the valuation 
date was £780.3m. The valuation revealed a shortfall 
of assets compared with the value of liabilities of 
£147.6m, equivalent to a past service funding level of 
84.1%. The estimated amount of withdrawal liability for 
Hyde Housing Association Limited is £12.2m. The SHPS 
deficit payments from the 2008 and 2011 Triennial 
Actuarial Valuations respectively are £0.1m (increasing 
at a rate of 4.7% pa) and (£0.1m increasing at a rate 
of 3% pa) for 15 years from the date of valuation. The 
Group/Association has entered into an agreement with 
the multi-employer plan that determines how the entity 
will fund a deficit. Therefore, the Group/Association has 
recognised a SHPS liability based on discounted future 
cash flows in relation to that liability using an actuarial 
valuation tool. This is included within creditors.
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A summary of the movement in pension assets and liabilities for the Group’s defined benefit pension funds is 
shown below:

HHADBPS
£’000

LBLPF
£’000

KCCPF
£’000

WSCCPF
£’000

Total
£’000

As at 31 March 2018

Present value of defined benefit obligations (98,577) (5,688) (3,063) (45,601) (152,929)

Fair value of fund assets 87,397 4,788 1,684 45,740 139,609

Net liability in the statement of financial position at 31 March 2018 (11,180) (900) (1,379) 139 (13,320)

Movements in present value of defined benefit obligation

Opening defined benefit obligation as at 1 April 2017 108,898 5,751 3,276 45,066 162,991

Current service cost 924 9 - 928 1,861

Past service costs 785 - (9) 32 808

Interest cost 2,678 142 64 1,176 4,060

Contributions by members 175 1 - 168 344

Actuarial (gains)/losses (11,582) (87) (76) (895) (12,640)

Benefits paid (3,301) (128) (192) (874) (4,495)

Closing defined benefit obligation as at 31 March 2018 98,577 5,688 3,063 45,601 152,929

Movements in fair value of fund assets

Opening fair value of employer assets as at 1 April 2017 88,060 4,707 1,719 43,526 138,012

Expected return on assets 2,188 117 33 1,130 3,468

Contributions by members 175 1 - 168 344

Contributions by employer 2,050 72 - 533 2,655

Contributions in respect of unfunded benefits - - 108 - 108

Actuarial gains (actual return on assets less expected return on 
assets)

(1,775) 19 25 1,257 (474)

Benefits paid (3,301) (128) (201) (874) (4,504)

Closing fair value of scheme assets as at 31 March 2018 87,397 4,788 1,684 45,740 139,609

37. Pension schemes (continued)

The fair value of assets and the present value of liabilities in the schemes at each statement of financial position 
date, along with the principal actuarial assumptions used were:

HHADBPS
£’000

LBLPF
£’000

KCCPF
£’000

WSCCPF
£’000

Total
£’000

As at 31 March 2018

The fair value of the assets:

Equities 22,723 2,010 1,123 23,399 49,255

LDI 11,362 - - - 11,362

Corporate Bonds 4,370 2,251 13 16,976 23,610

Bonds - - 161 - 161

Property 9,614 479 212 3,670 13,975

Diversified growth 15,731 - - - 15,731

Insurance policy 23,597 - - - 23,597

Cash - 48 56 1,835 1,939

Target return - - 119 - 119

Total market value of assets 87,397 4,788 1,684 45,880 139,749

Actuarial value of liabilities (98,577) (5,688) (3,063) (45,741) (153,069)

(Deficit)/Surplus (11,180) (900) (1,379) 139 (13,320)

As at 31 March 2017

The fair value of the assets:

Equities 22,017 2,589 1,214 32,202 58,022

LDI 10,569 - - - 10,569

Corporate Bonds 4,404 1,600 13 5,964 11,981

Bonds - - 167 807 974

Property 8,807 424 214 3,433 12,878

Diversified growth 14,972 - - - 14,972

Insurance policy 26,542 - - - 26,542

Cash 749 94 44 1,120 2,007

Target return - - 67 - 67

Total market value of assets 88,060 4,707 1,719 43,526 138,012

Actuarial value of liabilities (108,898) (5,751) (3,276) (45,066) (162,991)

Deficit (20,838) (1,044) (1,557) (1,540) (24,979)



140   |   Financial Statements and Annual Report | 31 March 2018 Financial Statements and Annual Report | 31 March 2018   |   141 

Principal actuarial assumptions: HHADBPS LBLPF KCCPF WSCCPF

As at 31 March 2017

Salary increases 3.2% 2.8% 3.7% 3.1%

Pension increases in payment 1.8% 2.4% 2.2% 2.4%

Discount rate 2.5% 2.5% 2.0% 2.6%

Inflation (CPI) 2.2% N/A 2.2% 2.4%

Return on assets N/A 18.4% N/A 25.3%

Hyde Housing Association Limited Defined 
Contribution Pension Scheme (HHADCPS)
Since 1 July 2004, all new employees are able to join the 
HHADCPS. The employer contribution rate payable is 
dependent on the contribution by the employee.

Life expectancy is based on the Fund’s Vita Curves 
with improvements in line with the CMI 2010 model 
assuming long term improvements of 1.25% p.a. with 
allowance for short term rates of improvement and 
declining mortality for the over 90s. Based on these 
assumptions, the average future life expectancies at 
age 65 are summarised on the following page.

Principal actuarial assumptions: HHADBPS LBLPF KCCPF WSCCPF

As at 31 March 2018

Salary increases 2.2% 2.8% 3.9% 3.1%

Pension increases in payment 1.8% 2.4% 2.4% 2.4%

Discount rate 2.7% 2.6% 2.4% 2.7%

Inflation (CPI) 2.2% N/A 2.35% 2.4%

Return on assets N/A 2.9% N/A 5.5%

37. Pension schemes (continued)

Mortality assumptions HHADBPS LBLPF KCCPF WSCCPF

As at 31 March 2018

Current pensions - males 87 yrs 21.6 yrs at 65 23.1 yrs at 65 23.6 yrs at 65

Current pensions - females 87 yrs 23.9 yrs at 65 25.2 yrs at 65 25.0 yrs at 65

Future pensions - males 89 yrs 23.8 yrs at 65 25.3 yrs at 65 26.0 yrs at 65

Future pensions - females 89 yrs 26.0 yrs at 65 27.5 yrs at 65 27.8 yrs at 65

As at 31 March 2017

Current pensions - males 87 yrs 21.6 yrs at 65 23.0 yrs at 65 23.6 yrs at 65

Current pensions - females 87 yrs 23.9 yrs at 65 25.0 yrs at 65 25.0 yrs at 65

Future pensions - males 89 yrs 23.8 yrs at 65 25.1 yrs at 65 26.0 yrs at 65

Future pensions - females 89 yrs 26.0 yrs at 65 27.4 yrs at 65 27.8 yrs at 65

Reconciliation of opening and closing SHPS pension liability 2018
£’000

2017
£’000

Pension liability as at 1 April 2,747 2,928

Unwinding of the discount factor (interest expense) 34 57

Deficit contributions paid (333) (322)

Remeasurements – impact of any change in assumptions (36) 84

Remeasurements – amendments to the contribution schedule - -

Pension liability as at 31 March 2,412 2,747
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GROUP ASSOCIATION

Valuation method 2018
£’000

2017
£’000

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

Financial assets at fair value through Statement of 
Comprehensive Income

Derivative financial instruments - (a) Fair value 1,168 24,929 1,168 24,929

Financial assets that are debt instruments measured at 
amortised cost

Investments (unlisted) - (b) Amortised cost 71,616 28,241 41,973 21,921

Service charge debtors - (b) Amortised cost 6,124 7,417 4,926 6,722

Rental debtors - (b) Amortised cost 12,493 13,031 7,666 4,647

Social housing grant receivable - (b) Amortised cost 2,625 305 1,826 136

Other debtors - (b) Amortised cost 25,660 16,332 103,030 144,192

Cash at bank and in hand - (b) Amortised cost 80,065 44,481 51,511 28,211

198,583 109,807 210,932 205,829

Financial assets that are equity instruments measured at 
cost less impairment

Investments - (c) Fair value 9,071 8,802 125 -

Sinking fund investment offset loan - (c) Fair value 8,832 9,765 8,832 9,765

17,903 18,567 8,957 9,765

Financial liabilities that are measured at amortised cost

Rent in advance - (d) Amortised cost 9,605 10,877 6,748 7,988

Amounts due to contractors - (d) Amortised cost 7,574 4,225 302 707

Trade creditors - (d) Amortised cost 5,205 5,798 3,781 3,701

Other creditors and accruals - (d) Amortised cost 65,150 - 44,741 27,242

Bonds - (d) Amortised cost 727,796 328,690 332,376 328,690

Loans - (d) Amortised cost 930,505 1,040,915 737,847 700,293

Intercompany loans - (d) Amortised cost - - 219,375 127,592

Other long term creditors - (d) Amortised cost 11,265 35,601 8,432 31,307

1,757,100 1,426,106 1,353,602 1,227,520

Financial liabilities at fair value through Statement of 
Comprehensive Income

Derivative financial instruments - (a) Fair value 175,993 327,629 138,182 285,019

175,993 327,629 138,182 285,019

38. Financial instruments and risk management

a. Derivative financial instruments are measured at fair value. The fair value of the derivative financial instruments is determined using the 
discounted future cash flows methodology. The swap rate data used for discounting the flows is provided to the Group by external advisors. 
Valuations for derivative financial instruments are checked against third party valuations

b. Financial assets that are debt instruments are measured at amortised cost

c. Listed investments are measured at fair value. The fair value equates to the market value of these listed investments at the Statement of 
Financial Position date

d. Financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost.

Cash Flow Hedge Reserve 
£’000

Statement of  
Comprehensive Income

 £’000
Maturity date(s)

Derivative financial instruments:

Subject to cash flow hedge accounting 1,402 - 2034

Subject to fair value hedge accounting - 529 2017

Not subject to hedge accounting - 26,491 2021- 2058

Other movements:

Amortisation of de-designated cash flow hedges 1,427 (1,427)

Amortisation of gilt lock cash flow hedges 509 -

Unwinding of de-designated fair value hedges - 654

Total Group 3,338 26,247

Fair value hedges

In a fair value hedge relationship, the change in the 
fair value of the hedging instrument is recognised 
in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. A fair 
value adjustment is recorded against the hedged item 
to reflect the impact of changes in the hedged risk. 
Movements on the fair value adjustment are recognised 
in the Statement of Comprehensive Income and offset 
against movements in the hedging instrument.

The derivatives subject to fair value hedge accounting 
were terminated this year, as part of our swap 
restructuring exercise.

Cash flow hedges

In a cash flow hedge relationship, the proportion of 
the gain or loss on the hedging instrument that is 
determined to be an effective hedge is recognised 
directly in the cash flow hedge reserve. The balance 
in the cash flow hedge reserve is then recycled to 
the Statement of Comprehensive Income to offset 
the impact of the hedged item when this occurs. Any 
ineffective portion of the gain or loss on the hedging 
instrument is taken directly to the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income. 

Where hedge accounting has been discontinued and 
the hedged risk still exists, any related balances in 
the cash flow hedge reserve are amortised to the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income over the original 
period of the hedged risk.  

We have applied cash flow hedge accounting to 
address interest rate risk, which results in changes in 
the cash flows associated with the hedged financial 
liability, in line with our treasury management policy. 
The derivative used as a hedging instrument in the cash 
flow hedge relationship is a fixed interest rate swap. 
The relevant cash flows are expected to occur, and to 
impact the Statement of Comprehensive Income, until 
the maturity of the hedged financial liability in 2034. 
There was no recorded ineffectiveness related to the 
cash flow hedge in the period.

Bonds and senior loans

The Group’s financing facility includes bonds and 
senior loans totalling £1,367m. These accrue interest 
at an average of 4.65%, with an average maturity of 
16.6 years. They are secured by fixed charges over the 
Group’s properties.

Revolver loans

The Group’s financing facility also includes revolving 
credit facilities totalling £730m; these have undrawn 
balances of £435m as at 31 March 2018. Commitment 
fees of between 0.25% and 0.5% are charged on these 
undrawn facilities.

38. Financial instruments and risk management (continued)
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39. Events after the end of the reporting period

Following the reporting period, additional housing 
property transfers to other registered providers of social 
housing have occurred, with 803 Group (803 HHA) 
properties sold for £54.0m from deals agreed prior 
to 31 March 2018 but completing before the date of 
signing the accounts. Additionally, in July 2018, Hyde 
PRS Company Limited completed on the sale of 54 PRS 
units sold for £19.2m. In June 2018, we terminated two 
RPI swaps. These derivative financial liabilities have 
been de-recognised from the balance sheet in June 
2018, resulting in a fair value gain of about £4m.

Hyde homes in Stonebridge
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Hyde staff at an event at St Mauritius House
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If you would like this document in one of  
Hyde’s community languages or another format  
please contact us.

The Hyde Group, 30 Park Street, London SE1 9EQ

0800 3 282 282 

www.hyde-housing.co.uk

HydeGroup

HydeHousing


